Cardioprotective Mechanisms of PPAR y in Diabetic Heart

by

Gayani Kanchana Nanayakkara

A dissertation submitted to the Graduate Faculty of Auburn University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> Auburn, Alabama May 3, 2014

Diabetes Mellitus, Diabetic heart, PPARy, HIF-1a, Frataxin

Copyright 2014 by Gayani Kanchana Nanayakkara

Approved by

Rajesh Amin, Chair, Assistant Professor of Dept of Drug Discovery and Development Vishnu Suppiramaniam, Associate Professor of Dept of Drug Discovery and Development Muralidharan Dhanasekaran, Associate Professor of Dept of Drug Discovery and Development Jianzhong Shen, Assistant Professor of Dept of Drug Discovery and Development John Quindry, Associate Professor of Dept of Kinesiology Juming Zhong, Associate Professor of Dept of Anatomy, Physiology and Pharmacology

Abstract

Patients with diabetes exhibit significantly altered renin-angiotensin system (RAS). Recently it has been determined that hyperglycemic conditions induce an increase in angiotensin II (AT II) expression; specifically in cardiomyocytes. Altered RAS has been shown to be associated with an increase in oxidative stress and cardiac dysfunction leading to the development of cardiac hypertrophy. The transient outward potassium current (I_{to}) in cardiac myocytes is mainly mediated by members of the Kv subfamily of voltage gated potassium channels and has been shown to be altered in cellular localization and expression during the development of cardiac hypertrophy. However it is not clear as to how AT II affects the pore forming complex at the cell membrane and thus directly affects the I_{to} current. In the current study, we explored the protective effect of PPAR γ ligands on cardiomyocyte I_{to} by preventing NADPH Oxidase activation and the ensuing ROS formation. Furthermore, short term PPARy activation in diabetic leptin deficient db/db mice displayed improvements in the membrane association of the molecular components of I_{to} as well as prolonged QT interval. These findings demonstrate that PPAR γ agonist have the potential to attenuate cardiomyocyte dysfunction associated with diabetes.

Even though we and others have demonstrated that the use of PPAR γ agonists exerts a profound protection against diabetes mediated cardiovascular pathologies, the use of these drugs in a clinical setting is restricted because of its detrimental side effects with long term use.

Therefore, development of new therapeutic agents which can modulate the PPAR γ activity without the adverse effects can be beneficial to mitigate diabetes induced cardiovascular diseases.

The objective of the second study reported in this dissertation is to develop novel dual PPAR γ/δ agonists without the deleterious side effects associated with full PPAR γ agonists. Docking simulations of 23 novel compounds within the ligand binding domain of PPAR γ/δ were performed using AutoDock Vina which consistently reproduced experimental binding poses from known PPAR agonists. Comparisons were made and described with other docking programs AutoDock and Surflex-Dock (from SYBYL-X). Biological evaluation of compounds was accomplished by transcriptional promoter activity assays, quantitative PCR gene analysis for known PPAR γ/δ targets as well as *in vitro* assays for lipid accumulation and mitochondrial biogenesis verses known PPAR agonists. We found one (compound 9) out of the 23 compounds evaluated, to be the most potent and selective dual PPAR γ/δ agonist which did not display the deleterious side effects associated with full PPAR γ agonists.

Additionally, we have observed that PPAR γ agonist treatment can offer a protection against I/R injury in the diabetic heart/ The major form of fatality due to diabetes is development of congestive heart failure triggered by myocardial infarction (MI). The impaired insulin signaling in the diabetic heart leads to myocardial energy dysregulation that compromises the cardioprotective mechanism against ischemic injury. We observed that db/db mice (leptin deficient, type 2 diabetic mice) have increased infarction size compared to wild type mice after ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) injury by TTC stain. We also found that activity of Hypoxia inducible factor-1 (HIF-1 α), a master transcription factor involved in the cardioprotective response to ischemia, is impaired in db/db hearts. HIF-1 α is known to transcriptionally regulate genes involved in myocardial energetics. We recently found that HIF-1 α transcriptionally regulates the mitochondrial protein frataxin in cardiomyocytes as determined by luciferase assays. In vitro studies indicate that hypoxic conditions increase frataxin protein expression in cardiomyocytes as determined by western analysis. Frataxin plays an important role in the Fe-S cluster biogenesis required to maintain the activity of aconitase, succinate dehydrogenase and complexes in the mitochondria. Interestingly, we observed decreased expression of frataxin in the ischemic diabetic heart. Therefore, we postulate that attenuated HIF-1 α -frataxin signaling in ischemic db/db hearts leads to abnormally enlarged infarction size in response to I/R. The decline in HIF-1 α activity in response to hypoxia was further validated in cardiomyocytes cultured in high glucose media. The significance of frataxin against hypoxic injury was confirmed by utilizing over-expressed frataxin cardiomyocytes via MTT, ATP and aconitase activity assays. Currently we are attempting to identify the hypoxia response element (HRE) in frataxin promoter to further validate the transcriptional activity of HIF-1 α . In addition, we are completing the I/R surgeries on HIF-1a KO mice to address the cardioprotective nature of HIF- 1α -frataxin signaling against MI.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my mentor Dr Rajesh Amin for his support and guidance in my professional development throughout my doctoral program. Dr Amin spent most of his time in the lab teaching me basic research techniques during my first year as a graduate student. His constant supervision and guidance helped me to master the basic research skills within a short period of time. I take this opportunity to thank Dr Amin for encouraging me to come up with new ideas and learn new techniques and apply these concepts in to my research. Further I would like to thank Dr Vishnu Suppiramaniam, Dr Murali Dhanasekaran, Dr Jianzhong Shen of Harrison school of Pharmacy for serving in my graduate committee. Also, I would like to thank Dr Juming Zhong from the Department of Anatomy, Physiology and Pharmacology, for helping me with adult cardiomyocytes isolation technique, electrophysiological recordings and contraction studies. I would like to thank Dr Quindry from the Department of Kinesiology for assisting us with the ischemia reperfusion surgeries in mice. Further, I would like to extend my thanks to Dr Robert Judd for agreeing to be the external reader for my dissertation. I would also like to express my sincerest appreciation to my lab colleagues Shravanthi Mouli, Abdhulla AlAsmari, Rain Fu, Haitham Eldoumani for their constant encouragement and for the help they extended towards my research work. I take this opportunity to thank Dr Nilmini Vishwaprakash for her constant guidance and for the help she had extended to conduct adult cardiomyocytes isolation and electrophysiological studies in Dr Zhong's laboratory. I take this opportunity to thank Dr Kodeeshwaran Parameshwaran and Gnanachelvi Parameshwaran for the support they

gave me to get adjusted to the life in Auburn during my initial days of the first year. I am grateful for the friendship they extended towards me throughout my stay in Auburn. I would like to extend my thanks to our Department of Drug Discovery and Development, staff and fellow graduate students and the Harrison School of Pharmacy for financial support. Also I would like to thank my colleague Graham McGinnis from Dr Quindry's lab for the help he gave during the ischemia reperfusion injuries. Finally, and most importantly, I would like to thank my father; Gamini Nanayakkara for teaching me the value of education, for opening a whole new world to me by encouraging me to read, and setting me an example by being an exemplary character, and my mother; Ranjani Pinto, for being next to me and supporting me in my all endeavors. I cannot offer enough thanks for their guidance, patience, love and support.

Table of Contents

Abstractii
Acknowledgementv
List of Tablesxi
List of Figuresxii
List of Abbreviationsxvi
Chapter 1 Introduction
Chapter 2 Review of Literature
2.1 Diabetes Mellitus6
2.1.1 Prevalence and pathophysiology of diabetes mellitus
2.1.2 Complications associated with diabetes
2.1.3 Diabetic cardiomyopathy 10
2.1.4 Diabetes associated changes in the cardiac architecture
2.1.5 Functional changes in the diabetic heart
2.1.6 Cellular mechanisms that predispose the heart to diabetic cardiomyopathy
2.2 Diabetic cardiomyopathy and arrhythmias
2.2.1 Cardiac arrhythmias
2.2.2 Increased risk of development of arrhythmias with diabetes
2.2.3 Electrocardiogram (ECG) of diabetics

2.2.4 ECG, action potential and ion currents
2.2.5 The ion channels and their properties
2.2.6 Sodium channels
2.2.7 Calcium channels
2.2.8 Potassium channels
2.2.9 Transient outward potassium currents (I_{to})
2.2.10 Molecular components of <i>I</i> _{to} 40
2.2.11 Regulation of <i>I</i> _{to} 42
2.2.12 Diabetes and <i>I</i> _{to} 44
2.3 Peroxisome proliferator activated receptors and the heart
2.3.1 PPARs (Peroxisome proliferator activated receptors)
2.3.2 Co-activators of PPAR isomers
2.3.3 PPAR α and heart
2.3.4 PPAR β/δ and heart
2.3.5 PPAR γ and heart
2.3.6 Thiazolidinediones
2.3.7 Selective PPAR γ modulators
2.3.8 The role of PPAR γ agonists in the I/R injury
2.3.9 HIF-1 α and the ischemia response in the heart
2.3.10 Alternative mechanisms of stabilizing HIF-1 α under normoxic conditions 69

2.3.11 Hyperglycemia and HIF-1 α signaling pathway	70
2.3.12 Genes regulated by HIF-1 α	73
2.3.13 Adiponectin	75
2.3.14 Cardiac derived adiponectin	76
2.3.15 Adiponectin and the diabetic heart	77
2.3.16 Frataxin	79
2.3.17 Frataxin, heme synthesis and Fe-S cluster biogenesis	80
2.3.18 Frataxin and hypoxia	
Chapter 3 PPAR g activation improves the molecular and functional remodeling of I_{to} by Angiotensin II	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Results	94
Figures and Figure legends	
Discussion	
Chapter 4 Design and development of novel PPAR δ/γ agonists	111
Abstract	111
Introduction	112
Materials and Methods	114
Results	118

Figures and figure legends	
Discussion	
Chapter 5 Regulation of frataxin by HIF-1 α in the diabetic heart	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and methods	
Results	
Figures and figure legends	
Discussion	
Future directions	
References	

List of Tables

Table 4.1Predicted binding affinities for the proposed compounds for LBD of PPAR γ/δ 123

List of Figures

Figure 2.1 Major areas which contribute to diabetic complications
Figure 2.2 NADPH oxidase enzymatic complex16
Figure 2.3 Role of increased free FA in ROS production in the diabetic myocardium
Figure 2.4 Role of Ca ²⁺ in cardiac contractility
Figure 2.5 Renin Angiotensin System (RAS)
Figure 2.6 Electrical conduction system in the heart
Figure 2.7 Schematic representation of a normal ECG
Figure 2.8 Conductive tissues and their normal firing rates
Figure 2.9 The cardiac action potential and the ion channels involved
Figure 2.10 I_{to} current corresponding to cardiac action potential
Figure 2.11 Schematic representation of Kv 4.3 channel
Figure 2.12 The assembly of Kv α subunits
Figure 2.13 I_{to} recordings in healthy and diabetic rat cardiomyocyte
Figure 2.14 The effects of AT II blockers on I_{to} in the diabetic heart
Figure 2.15 The attenuation of gene expression of Kv 4.2 & 4.3 under diabetes
Figure 2.16 AT II mediated down regulation of Kv 4.3 gene in cardiomyocytes
Figure 2.17 PPAR subtypes, their distribution and functions

Figure 2.18 Crystal structure of PPARγ LBD
Figure 2.19 Mechanisms of transcriptional activation of PPAR isoforms
Figure 2.20 The role of PPAR γ in the adipose tissue
Figure 2.21 Chemical structures of TZDs
Figure 2.22 CA-PPARy protects cardiomyocytes against TG accumulation
Figure 2.23 CA-PPARy protects against hypertrophy induced by adrenergic stimulation 59
Figure 2.24 Differential binding of regulators produces distinct gene expression patterns 60
Figure 2.25 Dose response curves for agonists
Figure 2.26 LAD ligation in a mouse
Figure 2.27 Mechanisms of HIF-1 α stabilization
Figure 2.28 Different HIF-1α domains
Figure 2.29 Hyperglycemia and HIF-1α signaling pathway72
Figure 2.30 The cellular processes regulated by HIF-1 α
Figure 2.31 Maturation of frataxin
Figure 2.32 The role of frataxin in heme formation and Fe-S cluster synthesis
Figure 2.32 Frataxin expression is increased in response to hypoxia in tumor cell lines
Figure 3.1 PPAR γ activation protects cardiomyocytes from AT II mediated I _{to} dysfunction99
Figure 3.2 PPARγ activation improves attenuated levels of membrane associated 101 densities of potassium channel members related with I _{to} by AT II
Figure 3.3 PPARy prevents AT II induced reactive oxygen species formation 102
Figure 3.4 PPARγ activation attenuates AT II induced NADPH Oxidase activation

Figure 3.5	Activation of PPAR γ improves the expression of AT II	4
Figure 3.6	Activation of PPAR γ improves the QT-Interval in the diabetic heart	5
Figure 3.7	PPAR γ activation improves membrane association of the	6
Figure 4.1	Synthesize scheme of Compound 912	0
Figure 4.2	Synthesize scheme of Compound 3-121 12	1
Figure 4.3	Schematic representation of Compound 9 bound to the active site	1
Figure 4.4	Schematic representation of Compound 3-121 bound to the active	2
Figure 4.5	The ligand binding domain	4
Figure 4.6	Compound 3-121 induces activation of AP2 promoter	5
Figure 4.7	Compound 9 activates PDK4 promoter as measured by luciferase activity	6
Figure 4.8	MRNA analysis of PPAR-γ targets	7
Figure 4.9	Virtual representation of binding of rosiglitazone and compound 9 in the AF-2 12 domain	8
Figure 5.1	HIF -1 α mitigates ischemia reperfusion injury in c57bl6 and diabetic hearts 150	0
Figure 5.2	Alteration of HIF-1 α localization in the diabetic heart	1
Figure 5.3	High glucose and hypoxia induce formation of methylglyoxal	3
Figure 5.4	Diabetes down regulates the active version of frataxin	5
Figure 5.5	HIF-1 α increases the expression of frataxin	6
Figure 5.6	Over-expression of frataxin increases the cell viability	8

Figure 5.7 PPAR γ activation significantly rescue the infarction in the db/db hearts	159
Figure 5.8 Confirmation of the cardiac specific HIF-1 α knockout mouse	164

List of Abbreviations

- ACE Angiotensin converting enzyme
- ADA American Diabetes Association
- AF Activation function
- AGE Advanced glycation end products
- AV Atrio-ventricular
- AT II Angiotensin II
- CAD Coronary Artery Disease
- CPT I Carnitine palmitoyltransferase I
- DBD DNA binding domain
- DFO Desferrioxamine
- DMOG Dimethyloxalylglycine
- ECG Electrocardiogram
- FABP Fatty acid binding protein
- FATP Fatty acid transport protein
- FDA Food and Drug Administration
- FFA Free fatty acids
- FIH Factor inhibiting HIF
- FRDA Friedreich's ataxia
- G6PD Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase

GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde -	3 - phos	phate deh	ydrogenase
-------	------------------	----------	-----------	------------

Glyoxalase I GLO I Glucose Transporter GLUT HIF-1α Hypoxia inducible factor – 1α HRE Hypoxia response element Hsc Heat shock cognate protein Hear shock protein Hsp Insulin receptor substrate -2IRS-2 Left anterior descending coronary artery LAD Ligand binding domain LBD LV Left Ventricle Ischemia/ reperfusion I/R MG Methylglyoxal MHC Myosine Heavy Chain MI Myocardia infarction MPP Mitochondrial processing peptidase NAC N-acetyl-cystein NO Nitric oxide ODD Oxygen degradation domain PPAR Peroxisome Proliferator Activated Receptor PHD Prolyl hydroxylase

PPRE	Peroxisome Proliferator Response Element
pVHL	Von Hippel – Lindau tumor suppressor protein
RAS	Renin Angiotensin System
RLU	Relative light units
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
RXR	Retinoid X Receptor
SA	Sino-atrial
SERCA	Sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca ²⁺ pump
SPPARM	Selective peroxisome proliferator activated receptor modulator
TAD	Transactivation domain
TG	Triglyceride
TZD	Thiozolidinedione
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

1. Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is at epidemic proportions in United States and is identified as the most common endocrine disorder found in modern society. It occurs due to deficits in insulin secretion or function, or both. This insulin deficiency induces many alterations in the overall metabolism in the body leading to dysfunction and failure of various organs.

DM is categorized in to various types. The most prevalent type of DM are Type 1 DM and Type 2 DM. Type 1 DM results from cell mediated autoimmune destruction of pancreatic β cells. This leads to absolute deficiency of insulin in the body and the patient have to essentially rely on exogenous insulin for survival. Type 2 DM, which is the most prevalent form of diabetes, is due to insulin resistance and circulating hyperinsulinemic condition. The incidences of type 2 DM is rapidly increasing due to the lifestyle modifications, including dietary habits and lack of exercise.

According to the statistics published by American Diabetes Association, heart diseases are the most common complication associated with diabetes and accounts for highest morbidity and mortality rates. Many of the cardiovascular complications in diabetics have been attributed to coronary heart diseases. However, diabetics suffer from additional cardiac insult referred to as diabetic cardiomyopathy. This was identified as a distinct clinical entity and was defined as diabetes mediated structural and functional changes of the heart, that are manifested independent of other risk factors such as hypertension and coronary artery disease. The most common diabetes mediated structural modifications in the heart are interstitial and perivascular fibrosis and left ventricular hypertrophy. In regards to the functional changes, diabetic cardiomyopathy is known to develop diastolic dysfunction. Often, this would be followed by development of systolic dysfunction as well.

Many cellular mechanisms are identified that predispose the heart to develop diabetic cardiomyopathy. One such mechanism is alterations of the substrate preference to produce ATP in the heart. Generally, the healthy heart produces approximately 70% of its ATP through oxidation of fatty acids. The rest of the 30% of the energy is provided by glucose oxidation. However, in diabetes, the energy produced by fatty acid oxidation is elevated to more than 90%. This results in an increase delivery of free fatty acids to the myocardium at a rate that exceeds the rate of fatty acid oxidation. This leads to accumulation of ectopic lipid storage in the myocardium and leads to development of lipotoxicity. Also increased fatty acid utilization suppresses the glucose oxidation via Randle cycle. Other mechanisms attributed to the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy are increased oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, impaired Ca²⁺ homeostasis, and increased activity of the Renin Angiotensin System (RAS) in the body. It was identified that the heart has its own functional RAS. Many recent publications confirm the increased activity of RAS in diabetic condition. Furthermore, large scale clinical trials have demonstrated that pharmacological inhibition of RAS can attenuate the development of many cardiac complications.

The increased RAS can adversely impact the heart and alter the function of ion channels in the cardiomyocytes. Alterations in the functions of ion channels lead to changes in the cardiac action potential, and subsequently to the development of arrhythmias which can be fatal. The changes in the electrical conductance are evident by the altered ECG traces of diabetics. We and the others have found that in diabetic animal models, the outward potassium current (I_{to}) is significantly attenuated. I_{to} current plays a critical role in regulating the phase 1 of the cardiac action potential. Further, previously published reports confirm that altered I_{to} can lead to prolonged QT segments in the ECG traces. Our data indicates that diabetes alter the channel forming components of I_{to} which leads to attenuation of the outward K⁺ current. Also, we report the treatment of the diabetic animals with a PPAR γ agonist can significantly rescue the myocardium from these adverse effects.

PPAR (peroxisome proliferator activated receptors) are a class of nuclear receptor family. PPAR γ is a subtype of PPAR family, and its critical role in adipogenesis in the adipose tissue is well established. Further, it is well known for its insulin sensitizing effects, and agonists of PPAR γ such as rosiglitazone, pioglitazone (Thiazolidinediones – TZD) had been used clinically for years as a treatment to overcome insulin resistance associated with diabetes. The beneficial effects of using PPAR γ agonists against diabetes mediated cardiovascular pathologies are well demonstrated. Unfortunately, the off target side effects associated with the long term use of rosiglitazone and pioglitazone have raised controversy and the use of these drugs in the treatment of diabetes has been restricted by Food and Drug Administration of USA. The most common side effects that arise with TZDs are weight gain due to adipogenesis, and peripheral edema which can be detrimental for patients with pre existing cardiovascular diseases. Therefore, many research endeavors are focused on developing new PPAR γ agonists, which retain the insulin sensitizing properties without the detrimental adverse effects. This novel class of compounds is called selective PPAR γ receptor modulators (SPPARMs).

We have found that use of PPAR γ agonists can reduce the cardiac damage in db/db diabetic transgenic animals. We and the others have demonstrated that the diabetic hearts sustain extensive cardiac damage when subjected to ischemia/ reperfusion (I/R) injury compared to non diabetic controls. During our studies to understand the signaling pathways that may contribute to

the development of a larger infarction in the diabetic heart, we found that the expression and activation of the transcription factor HIF-1 α (Hypoxia Inducible Factor) is significantly attenuated in the diabetic heart. HIF-1 α gets activated during hypoxic/ ischemic insults and activate myriad of genes that confer protection. HIF-1 regulates the transcription of its target genes by binding to Hypoxia Response Elements (HRE) in the promoter regions. Our preliminary data suggests that HIF-1 α activity in the cardiomyocytes exposed to hyperglycemia is significantly suppressed due to increased methylglyoxal (MG) formation. MG is a highly reactive compound that is formed in hyperglycemic conditions and is known to induce advanced glycation end (AGE) product formation leading to dysfunction of proteins. MG can bind covalently with CPB/ p300 which are co activators required for the proper function of HIF-1 α in response to hypoxia.

Further, our preliminary data suggests that HIF-1 α can transcriptionally regulate proteins adiponectin and frataxin in response to hypoxia in the heart. Adiponectin is predominantly secreted by the adipose tissue; however the presence of cardiac derived adiponectin which exerts its effect via autocrine/ paracrine mechanisms has also been identified. We have identified potential HRE regions in the adiponectin promoter, and also we have observed increased expression of gene and protein expression with elevated HIF-1 α levels in isolated cardiomyocyte systems. The data we have accumulated in this study is currently being formulated into a manuscript.

We also observed that HIF-1 α can regulate the expression of frataxin in response to hypoxia. Frataxin is a nuclear encoded mitochondrial protein which plays an essential role in formation of Fe-S clusters in the cells. Fe-S clusters are prosthetic groups which are required for to maintain the proper function of enzymes like aconitase, succinate dehydrogenase and complex

I and III of the electron transport system. Therefore, frataxin is essential for the normal oxidative phosphorylation in the mitochondria. It also maintains the iron homeostasis in the mitochondria. To better understand the role of HIF-1 α – frataxin signaling during hypoxia, we have constructed a cardiac specific HIF-1 α knockout mouse. Further, to identify the protective effects of frataxin exerted during hypoxia, we have constructed frataxin over-expressed H9C2 cardiomyocyte cell line by utilizing a lentiviral system. Our preliminary data also suggests the presence of HRE in the promoter of frataxin gene. The functional capacity of these HRE sites will be further validated by conducting point mutations and also ChIP assays.

In summary, our data suggests that PPAR γ agonism offers protection against diabetes mediated cardio vascular pathologies. Further, we report that the PPAR γ agonists rescue the diabetic heart from attenuated I_{to} current via its antioxidant properties. Further, we have identified that PPAR γ can increase the expression of the transcription factor HIF-1 α which can exert a profound protection against hypoxic insult in the diabetic heart. We have found that adiponectin and frataxin can be transcriptionally regulated by HIF-1 α in response to hypoxia in cardiomyocytes.

2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Diabetes Mellitus and the Heart

2.1 Diabetes Mellitus

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic metabolic disease characterized by defects in insulin secretion, insulin function or both. Insulin deficiency alters the metabolism of carbohydrate, fat and proteins and eventually develops hyperglycemia (1). DM has been reported to be the most common endocrine disorder at present, and appears in epidemic proportions in United States (2). This disease has become a major public health problem because with time, it manifests damage, dysfunction and failure of various organs and consequently gives rise to life threatening complications. These severe complications include cardiovascular diseases, peripheral arterial disease, cerebrovascular diseases, neuropathy, nephropathy, retinopathy and ulceration (1).

2.1.1 Prevalence and pathophysiology of Diabetes Mellitus

According to the American Diabetes Association (ADA), 25.8 million adults and children (8.3% of population) are diagnosed with diabetes in 2011. Also ADA claims that approximately 7 million Americans are undiagnosed with diabetes and unaware of their disease. The total cost of diagnosed diabetes in 2013 was \$245 billion, indicating that DM has become a major public health burden in the country.

DM is categorized in to various types, but the two most prevalent types are Type 1 DM and Type 2 DM.

Type 1 DM, which accounts for 5-10% of diagnosed cases of diabetes, results from cell mediated autoimmune destruction of pancreatic β -cells. This leads to absolute insulin deficiency in the body, requiring the patient to depend essentially on exogenous insulin for survival. Commonly, Type1 DM appears in young population, however it can manifest in adult population as well (3). The genetic and environmental factors that lead to β -cell destruction by an autoimmune response are not fully understood. However, Type 1 DM has been shown to be polygenetic trait in mice. The major locus that is responsible for the disease manifestation encodes for major histocompatibility complex, and other 9 loci which contribute for the disease development were also identified (4). Further, it was estimated that approximate annual increase in the risk for developing Type 1 DM is in developed nations is 6%, which is postulated to be an outcome of environmental triggers. Some reports validate increasingly common presence of insulin resistance with Type 1 DM, which may be attributed to the higher incidences of obesity in developed countries. Also, administration of high doses of exogenous insulin may contribute to the development of insulin resistance in Type 1 DM as well (5).

Type 2 DM is the most prevalent type of diabetes and accounts for 90-95% cases of all those diagnosed with diabetes. Previously, this was referred to as adult onset-diabetes as majority of the population who are diagnosed with the disease were adults. One of the underlying causes for Type 2 DM is peripheral insulin resistance, which may lead to compensatory hypersecretion of insulin from pancreatic islets causing a decline in function of the cells. The tissues most prominently express insulin resistance are skeletal muscles, adipose tissues and liver due to their high dependency of insulin to uptake glucose. The incidences of Type 2 DM is rapidly increasing, especially in developing countries due to lifestyle modifications, changes in dietary habits and lack of exercise. Most of the Type 2 diabetics are obese, and obesity itself is a causative factor for the development of insulin resistance. How increased dietary calorie intake, reduced physical activity and obesity leads to development of Type 2 DM is not fully elucidated. Further, Type 2 DM is associated with a strong genetic disposition, even though the genetics are not clearly defined (1, 6, 7).

2.1.2 Complications associated with diabetes

Diabetes is a chronic disease and with time, leads to development of myriad of complications resulting in end organ dysfunction and failure. Nevertheless, diabetes can induce acute metabolic complications such as diabetic ketoacidosis as result of extreme hyperglycemia or coma due to hypoglycemia.

The chronic complications of diabetes occur due to the damage to vasculature. These complications are categorized in to microvascular (damage to small blood vessels) and macrovascular complications (damage due to arteries). These complications account for high morbidity and mortality rates in the population (Figure 2.1).

The microvascular complications include:

Retinopathy – damage to the eye. Chronic diabetes leads to development of lesions in retina, leading to blindness.

- Nephropathy damage to the kidney. This is characterized by proteinuria and decreased glomerular filtration rate which progress over a long period of time. If untreated, leads to end stage renal failure.
- Neuropathy damage to neurons. Diabetes can damage both peripheral somatic and autonomic neurons. Majority of diabetics eventually develop neuropathy, which may result in amputations in extremities.

The macrovascular complications of diabetes are:

- Coronary artery disease (CAD) results in myocardial infarctions which may lead to heart failure and death.
- Cerebral artery disease manifests strokes due to atherosclerosis in the cerebral artery
- Peripheral vascular disease results from atherosclerosis in the arteries which supply blood to extremities.

Maintaining the optimum glycemic levels during the course of disease is the most effective way to mitigate the development of vascular complications.



Physiol Rev. 2013 Jan;93(1):137-88

Figure 2.1 Major areas which contribute to diabetic complications

The chronic hyperglycemia induces hemodynamic, metabolic and genetic alterations in the body leading to disruption of homeostasis and triggers cellular damage. This leads to inflammation and subsequent cellular dysfunction and death.

2.1.3 Diabetic cardiomyopathy

According to the statistics published by ADA, heart diseases were noted on 68% of diabetes related death certificates among population aged 65 years or older. Many of these deaths due to cardiovascular complications have been attributed to CAD. However, it was found that diabetics suffer from additional cardiac insults termed as "diabetic cardiomyopathy".

Diabetic cardiomyopathy was initially described by *Rubler et al*, and since then it was identified as a distinct clinical entity by clinicians and epidemiologists. *Rubler et al* recognized diabetic cardiomyopathy as diabetes mediated structural and functional changes of the heart, manifested independent of other risk factors such as hypertension and CAD (8). This concept was further consolidated by the Framingham study, which demonstrated that increased incidences of congestive heart failure in diabetic males (2.1:1) and females (5:1),independent of age, hypertension, CAD and hyperlipidemia (9). Further, many studies also have confirmed the increased risk of development of heart failure and increased mortality from myocardial infarctions (MI) in diabetics (10, 11). Diabetic cardiomyopathy may have a long subclinical period before the patient develops symptoms.

2.1.4 Diabetes associated changes in the cardiac architecture

Structural alterations in the diabetic heart have been reported in humans and experimental diabetic animal models. One of the major histopathological determinant of diabetic cardiomyopathy is the presence of interstitial or perivascular fibrosis, or both. The extent of fibrosis correlates to the heart weight. Also it was observed as the diabetes progress, the cardiomyocyte loss is significantly increased and it is replaced with fibrosis (12, 13). The exact mechanism of myocardial fibrosis associated with diabetes is yet to be understood. However, it was observed that glycation of collagen fibers are increased in the diabetic hearts (14).

Left ventricular (LV) hypertrophy is also considered as a hallmark for diabetic cardiomyopathy. MRI scanning demonstrates that hyperglycemia and insulin resistance is

strongly associated with increased LV mass and LV end diastolic volume regardless of the gender (15). Many signaling cascades have been reported to be altered in the diabetic cardiomyopathy, which enable the manifestation of LV hypertrophy. Many reports support the fact that certain cytokines secreted by the adipose tissue in obese may confer for the LV hypertrophy development. Leptin is such cytokine which develops cardiac hypertrophy in obese and directly induced hypertrophy in cultured cardiomyocytes (16). Further, resistin which is also an adipokine was found to induce hypertrophy in cardiomyocytes via MAPK and IRS-1 signaling pathway (17). Also, insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia are associated directly correlates to LV hypertrophy (18). Increased LV mass directly contributes for the development of heart failure.

2.1.5 Functional changes in the diabetic heart

There are many reports which suggest the development of dysfunctions in the in the heart in the course of diabetes.

Diabetic cardiomyopathy is characterized by diastolic dysfunction, which precedes the systolic dysfunction in humans and transgenic diabetic animal models. LV diastolic dysfunction was observed in 47-75% of asymptomatic normotensive Type 2 – diabetics with well controlled glycemic levels (19). Diastolic dysfunction directly correlates to the extent of triglyceride accumulation in cardiomyocytes in ob/ob transgenic diabetic mice. Further, these mice demonstrated impaired Ca^{2+} uptake and associated contractile dysfunction (20). Therefore, cardiac lipotoxicity and altered Ca^{2+} homeostasis have been suggested as possible mechanisms

responsible for the development of diastolic dysfunction associated with diabetes. Interestingly, diastolic dysfunction was detected in diabetic hearts in the absence of LV hypertrophy. This observation suggests that LV hypertrophy is not a prerequisite for the development of diastolic dysfunction in the diabetic heart (21).

In the presence of diastolic dysfunction, early diastolic LV filling is also reduced leading to prolonged relaxation of the myocardium. In diabetic transgenic animal hearts, the papillary muscles demonstrate a delayed relaxation pattern and reduced relaxation velocity. Further studies implicate that diastolic dysfunction may give rise to decoupling of the contractile apparatus in the absence of concomitant chamber wall stiffness (22).

LV systolic dysfunction is also observed in diabetic subjects, which usually after occurring of the diastolic dysfunction. However, some diabetic have normal LV systolic function under resting conditions, but may show abnormalities in the systole during exercise (23). Further, it was observed that diabetics have lesser cardiac output due to reduced stroke volume during supine exercise and this was independent of the duration of diabetes (24).

2.1.6 Cellular mechanisms that predispose the heart to diabetic cardiomyopathy

Metabolic disturbances

The heart requires a large supply of ATP to maintain its continuous mechanical work load. The main source of carbon substrate that is used to supply about 70% of this massive energy demand in normal adult healthy heart is fatty acids. Generally, glucose oxidation accounts for about 30% of the total ATP produced by cardiomyocytes. Nevertheless, cardiomyocytes shows extensive metabolic flexibility by its ability to generate ATP from other substrates such as amino acids, ketones and lactate (25). This normal pattern of substrate utilization is altered in the diabetic heart, which leads to development of diabetic cardiomyopathy.

Multiple mechanisms are responsible for the disturbances in the substrate supply and utilization in the diabetic heart. The major metabolic derangement that occurs in the diabetic heart is increased utilization and supply of fatty acids in to cardiomyocytes, which is also associated with defective glycolysis and glucose oxidation.

The elevated levels of fatty acid uptake and oxidation are very well demonstrated in diabetic individuals and transgenic animal models (26, 27). Diabetes is characterized by elevated levels of circulating free fatty acid (FFA) and triglycerides (TG). Therefore, the changes that contribute to substrate utilization are due to increased delivery of FFA and TG to the myocardium. Despite the increased FA oxidation, the FA uptake exceeds the oxidation rates resulting in lipid accumulation leading to lipotoxicity in the heart (28, 29). The lipid intermediates such as ceramides that accumulate in the heart promote apoptosis of cardiomyocytes (30).

The decreased glucose utilization in the heart is observed in both diabetic animal models and humans. One of the factors that contribute to restricted glucose oxidation is the allosteric inhibition of glucose use in the presence of increased FA utilization (Randle cycle) (31). Another mechanism that suppress the glucose oxidation is slow rate of glucose uptake across the sarcolemma of the myocardium, which is attributed to the depleted levels of GLUT (glucose

14

transporter) 1 and 4 (32). Further, increased FFA uptake to cardiomyocytes exerts an inhibition on the pyruvate dehydrogenase complex, which also leads to reduced glucose oxidation (33).

It is evident that these alterations of the substrate metabolism that occur in the diabetic heart leads to contractile dysfunction. It was observed that the rate of glycolysis from exogenous glucose is at 48% in the diabetic transgenic hearts compared to control and glucose oxidation was reduced by 16%. Over-expression of the GLUT4 in these the diabetic transgenic hearts normalize the contraction and improve the cardiac metabolism (34).

Oxidative stress

It is well established that diabetic hearts have increased ROS production and undergo extensive oxidative stress in both human and animal models. Further, many published reports confirm the correlation between increased oxidative stress and the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Despite the definitive mechanism for increased ROS production in the diabetic heart is not fully understood, it is suggested that increased FA delivery to the cardiomyocytes may contribute to the oxidative stress. It is believed that increased FA levels in the myocytes may lead to decoupling of mitochondria, resulting in increased ROS production (35).

Even though mitochondria are responsible for producing majority of the total ROS produced in the cell, it is found that enzymatic systems that are present in the cells also contribute for the generation of ROS. NADPH (Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate) oxidase is one such enzymatic system which is capable of producing ROS under cellular stresses. NADPH oxidase consists of cluster of proteins and donates a single electron to molecular oxygen

 (O_2) to generate superoxide (O_2^-) . This reaction initiates an immune response against bacterial and fungal pathogens.



http://www.medimmunol.com/content/5/1/4/figure/F1

Figure 2.2: NADPH oxidase enzymatic complex

The membrane components of the enzymatic complex contain two subunits: p22phox and gp91phox which respectively produce the smaller and larger chain of the cytochrome-b₅₅₈. Two cytosolic subunits: p67phox and p47phox; a p40phox accessory protein and a Rac-GTP binding protein then translocate to the cell membrane upon cell activation to form the NADPH oxidase complex which generates a respiratory burst. Superoxide can react to form hydrogen peroxide which participates in bacterial killing.

In the inactive state, a portion of this enzymatic complex remains bound to the membrane, while other components remain in soluble form in the cytosol. The membrane bound

section consists of $gp91^{phox}$, which is a large glycosylated protein and a smaller adapter protein called $p22^{phox}$. This $p22^{phox}$ protein has SH3 binding domains which offer sites for linkage for soluble components to bind when the complex is active (Figure 2.2).

The soluble components of the complex are comprised of p47^{phox}, p67^{phox} and p40^{phox}. When the cell is stimulated p47^{phox} subunit undergoes phosphorylation on several residues via PKC pathway, resulting in translocation of the soluble components to the bound complexes on the membrane. However, it was observed that several other kinases such as Akt, MAPK and c-Src are also capable of phosphorylating p47^{phox} and promote the translocation of the soluble components to activate the enzymatic complex (36).

Despite exerting initial immune response, NADPH oxidase complex was found to be modulated in pathological conditions such as diabetes (37, 38). It was observed that factors such as angiontensin II (AT II), thrombin and TNF- α play a significant role in stimulating NADPH oxidase complex (39, 40). Further, elevated levels of G6PD (Glucose -6- phosphate dehydrogenase) found in the diabetic myocardium significantly induce NADPH oxidase mediated generation of O₂⁻ (37).

Additionally, excess ROS also can react with other molecules such as nitric oxide to produce free radicals such as nitrotryrosine species in the diabetic myocardium (41). Also, it was observed that excess ROS is capable of altering the gene expression. Increased ROS in the diabetic myocardium switches the cardiac α -MHC (Myosine Heavy Chain) expression to β -MHC, suggesting that the cardiomyocytes advent fetal metabolic reactions leading to cardiomyopathy. This transition of gene expression is mediated by ROS induced NF κ B and antioxidant treatment was able to prevent this switch (42).



Rev Endocr Metab Disord. 2010 Mar;11(1):31-9. doi: 10.1007/s11154-010-9131-7

Figure 2.3: Role of increased free FA in ROS production in the diabetic myocardium Increased FA uptake in cardiomyocytes in vivo precipitates cardiomyocyte dysfunction by multiple mechanisms including increased mitochondrial and cytosolic ROS generation and ER stress. FA-mediated ROS generation leads to uncoupling of mitochondria, which reduces mitochondrial ATP production. FFA: free fatty acids; ROS: reactive oxygen species; ER: endoplasmic reticulum; Cyt. C: cytochrome c; FAOX: Fatty acid oxidation.

Mitochondrial dysfunction

Many published reports verify the contribution of mitochondrial dysfunction to the pathogenesis of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Diabetes is known to mediate structural and functional alterations in the mitochondria (43). Further, mitochondria in the diabetic myocardium have
reduced oxidative capacities and attenuated levels of protein expression of the oxidative phosphorylation components (44). These alterations can significantly impact the cardiac contractility because of reduced availability of ATP.

In the diabetic heart, the genes which regulate FA oxidation are upregulated. However, it was found that genes that regulate the components of the oxidative phosphorylation are suppressed in the diabetic myocardium. Therefore, the rate of oxidative phosphorylation in the mitochondria is unable to meet the rate of FA delivery, which leads to increased ROS production, which in turn uncouples the electron transport chain and suppress the production of ATP (44, 45) (Figure 2.3).

Further, it was observed that glutathione, which is capable of inducing antioxidant effects is reduced in the diabetic heart. Also, it was observed that hydrogen peroxide production is elevated in these hearts, and rotenone (a mitochondrial complex III inhibitor) can significantly ameliorate this effect. This indicates that diabetes mediated oxidative stress may alter the function of mitochondrial proteins, leading to mitochondrial dysfunction (46).

➢ Impaired Ca²⁺ homeostasis

Cardiac contractility is regulated by synchronization of many ion channels located in the sarcolemma of cardiomyocytes. Ca^{2+} channels and intracellular Ca^{2+} levels play a major role in cardiac contractility. Ca^{2+} influx through voltage dependent L-type Ca^{2+} channels induce membrane depolarization which stimulate the release of Ca^{2+} stored in the sarcoplasmic reticulum via ryanodine receptors. This phenomenon is called Ca^{2+} induced Ca^{2+} release. The

released Ca^{2+} then binds with troponin C which overcomes the inhibition exerted by troponin 1 on the contractile apparatus of the cardiomyocytes. Ca^{2+} binding to troponin C triggers sliding of thin filaments made of actin over thick myosine filaments resulting in cardiomyocyte contraction. The relaxation of cardiomyocytes are induced by Ca^{2+} reuptake by SERCA2a (sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca^{2+} pump) in to the sarcoplasmic reticulum. Further, sarcolemmal Na^{+} - Ca^{2+} exchanger and sarcolemmal Ca^{2+} ATP_{ase} also play a role by promoting efflux of Ca^{2+} from the cytoplasm to extra cellular matrix (47) (Figure 2.4).



Cardiovasc Res. 2007 Mar 1;73(4):631-40. Epub 2006 Nov 10.

Figure 2.4: Role of Ca²⁺ in cardiac contractility

The Ca2+ influx through the Ca²⁺ channels located in T-tubules, lead to Ca²⁺ induced Ca²⁺ release from sarcoplasmic reticulum. The released Ca2+ will bind to the troponin and remove the inhibition on the contractile apparatus and promote contraction. The relaxation of the cardiomyocytes is induced by the Ca²⁺ uptake by SERCA.

It is well established that the diabetes mediated oxidative stress and abnormalities in the metabolism induce subcellular remodeling which exert adverse effects on Ca^{2+} homeostasis. Diabetes has been found to reduce the activity of ATP_{ases}, reduce the Ca^{2+} uptake to the sarcoplasmic reticulum and reduce the activities of Na⁺ - Ca²⁺ exchanger and sarcolemmal Ca²⁺ ATP_{ase} (48-50). However, changes in the activity of L-type Ca²⁺ channels were not observed in the diabetic myocardium. The reduced Ca²⁺ uptake to the sarcoplasmic reticulum in the diabetic myocardium is attributed to decreased SERCA2a and ryanodine receptor protein levels. Also it was observed that diabetes increases total and nonphosphorlyated phospholamban levels in the sarcoplasmic reticulum which suppress the function of SERCA2a (51). Suppression of Ca2+ uptake in to the sarcoplasmic reticulum increases free Ca²⁺ levels in the cytosol, resulting in desensitization of the myofilaments to Ca²⁺ and suppresses the activity of the contractile apparatus (52). This may significantly affect the diastolic and systolic function of the heart and induce contractile abnormalities in the heart.

Renin Angiotensin system (RAS)

The RAS in diabetic individuals and animal models is overly activated, and is found to play a significant role in manifesting diabetic cardiomyopathy (53). Traditionally RAS was identified as a part of the endocrine system, which regulates the homeostasis of the salt and water. Therefore, RAS regulates the blood volume and also vascular resistance, which determine the cardiac output and vascular resistance, and significantly impact blood pressure.

Renin is the initiator of the RAS. It is secreted as a prohormone from juxtraglomerular apparatus and is converted to active renin in response to variety of stimuli. Once active renin is released in to blood, it converts circulating angiotensinogen, which is produced from the liver to angiotensin I. Then the enzyme angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) cleaves angiotensin I to angiotensin II (AT II). ATII exerts its biological effects via two cell surface receptors named AT_1 and AT_2 , which are seven transmembrane G- protein coupled receptors. AT_1 is predominantly expressed in adult tissues while AT_2 is prominent in the fetal tissues (Figure 2.5).

In addition to haemodynamic functions, RAS has been found to exert variety of biological effects on the tissues, such as inducing protein synthesis, proliferation and cellular hypertrophy thus influencing organ structure and function. RAS has been also implicated in manifesting insulin resistance, inflammation, producing ROS and also endothelial dysfunction. Also, RAS has been found to trigger cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and fibroblast proliferation, leading to LV hypertrophy, diastolic and systolic dysfunction, arrhythmias and cardiac failure (54).

It was observed that the AT II receptor gene and protein expression is elevated in the diabetic myocardium (55). Further, it was also reported that pharmacological blockage of RAS in the diabetic animals attenuated the cardiac dysfunction (56).

Other than the systemic RAS system, it was found that there are tissue bound RAS as well. Many reports emerged supporting the presence of a functional tissue RAS (tRAS) in the heart which elicits cardiac hypertrophy (57, 58). The presence of RAS components independent

of systemic RAS is established. The tRAS in the heart is capable of exerting mitogenic and apoptotic effects in the heart.



http://commons.wikimedia.org/wiki/File:Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone_system.png

Figure 2.5: Renin Angiotensin System (RAS)

Angiotensinogen released from the liver is converted to angiotensin I and subsequently to angiotensin II via ACE. Antiotensin II is potent peptide and mediate many responses that would promote water and salt retention. This would increase the blood volume and as a result, blood pressure.

Other than the systemic RAS system, it was found that there are tissue bound RAS as well. Many reports emerged supporting the presence of a functional tissue RAS (tRAS) in the heart which elicits cardiac hypertrophy (57, 58). The presence of RAS components independent

of systemic RAS in the heart is established. The tRAS in the heart is capable of exerting mitogenic and apoptotic effects in the heart.

Many reports recently emerged confirming the overexpressed RAS system in diabetics. Some of these reports claim that the RAS over-activity may play a role in manifestation of complications associated with diabetes. Furthermore, large scale clinical trials have demonstrated that pharmacological inhibition of RAS can attenuate the development of these complications (59). Interestingly, work by *Singh et al* confirms the over activation of the tRAS system in the diabetic rat heart. Activation of tRAS in the heart has been found to increase the oxidative stress and cardiac fibrosis (60).

2.2 Diabetic cardiomyopathy and arrhythmias

2.2.1 Cardiac arrhythmias

The heart coordinates the atria and ventricles to act as a pump, and supply the blood throughout the body. Therefore, it is very crucial that the normal mechanical activity is maintained by modulating the electrical impulses in the heart. These electric impulses that regulate the heart function are generated intrinsically, however the autonomic nervous system also play a role in the regulation.

There are specialized cells in the heart, known as pacemakers which spontaneously generate the electrical impulses and coordinate the contractions between the atria and ventricles. The ability of generating a spontaneous electrical impulse by pacemakers is known as

automaticity. The regions that are capable of inducing automaticity in the heart are SA node (sinoatrial), AV (atrio ventricular) node, bundle of His and Purkinje fiber network. SA node is the dominant pacemaker and suppresses the latent pacemaker tissues in the other regions of the heart. The signals generated by the SA node stimulate the atria to contract and travel to the AV node. Once the signal reaches the AV node, there is a delay and then the stimulus is transmitted through the bundle of His to Purkinje fibers to trigger the ventricular contraction (Figure 2.6). Despite the electrical properties of the heart is regulated diligently, under certain pathological conditions and circumstances this rhythm can fail, which gives rise to development of cardiac arrhythmias.

Cardiac arrhythmias are a group of conditions in which the electrical activity of the heart becomes irregular or faster or slower than the normal. Some of cardiac arrhythmias can be life threatening and manifested from many acquired and inherited diseases in the cardiovascular system. Abnormal electrophysiological properties that occur due to alterations in the cell surface ion channels and cell – cell communication induce arrhythmogenesis.

The cardiac arrhythmias that occur due to slow heartbeat are called bradyarrhythmias or bradycardia. The major complication that arises with bradycardia is the inability to maintain sufficient blood pressure to the brain. Therefore bradycardia can induce sudden loss of consciousness. Generally, bradycardia is manifested by death or disease in the pacemakers and the other cells specialized in conducting the electrochemical signals in the heart. Bradycardias can be effectively treated by placing artificial electronic pacemakers.

The arrhythmias that are induced by faster than normal heart beat are called tachyarrhythmias or tachycardia. These types of arrhythmias also fail to maintain blood pressure effectively and may lead to syncope. Some of the tachycardia types that arise in the ventricles are the most dangerous, as it can cause sudden death. These tachycardia are known as ventricular tachycardia, tachycardia torsades de pointes ventricular fibrillation (61).



http://www.cardiacnursing.ir/conducting%20system.htm

Figure 2.6: Electrical conduction system in the heart

The cardiac pacemakers spontaneously initiate the electrical conductance and coordinate the contraction of atrial and ventricular cardiomyocytes.

2.2.2 Increased risk of development of arrhythmias with diabetes

It is evident that diabetic cardiomyopathy increases the incidences of cardiac arrhythmias, including ventricular fibrillation and sudden death (62, 63). The risk factors that can induce

arrhythmias in diabetic heart are attributed to silent ischemia, slowed conduction, imbalance in autonomic nervous system, heterogeneous repolarization of the atria and ventricles and the myocardial damage and scar formation.

Diabetic individuals are highly susceptible for development of neuropathy. Therefore, the risk of autonomic nerves that innervate the heart and the blood vessels being damaged are high in the diabetics. It was found that 20% of the asymptomatic diabetics have abnormalities in the cardiac autonomic functions (64). Further, the defects in the baroreflex response and vascular stiffness induced by diabetes may aggravate the cardiac autonomic dysfunction (65). The Hoorn study implicate that the individuals with depressed autonomic function in the heart have approximately two fold increased mortality rates (66). Further, these patients are highly susceptible for ischemia because it causes an imbalance between the myocardial supply and demand.

Many studies have confirmed the increased risk for occurrence of atrial fibrillation in diabetic patients. This is more likely due to fibrosis in the atria, which delay the intra atrial conduction. Also, it was proved that increased sympathetic innervations in the diabetic heart promote the development of atrial fibrillation as well (67, 68). Some studies report that the risk of atrial fibrillation in diabetic heart increases with the existence of other cardiovascular pathologies such as hypertension, ischemia and atherosclerosis (69, 70). Further, the same studies claim that diabetes independently does not increase the development of atrial fibrillation. Nevertheless, the exact mechanism how diabetes elevate the risk of developing atrial fibrillation is not fully elucidated.

There is a positive association between diabetes and ventricular fibrillation leading to sudden cardiac death. Metabolic changes, electrolyte abnormalities, changes in the ion channels,

acute pressure overload are identified as causative factors for development of ventricular arrhythmias. Additionally, unequal ventricular repolarization, myocardial damage and scar formation in the diabetic heart also contribute to development of ventricular arrhythmias (71). It was identified that glucose intolerance, even at pre-diabetic stage predisposes the heart to variety of electrophysiological abnormalities which may compromise survival by increasing the risk of sudden cardiac death (72).

2.2.3 Electrocardiogram (ECG) of diabetics

ECG is the most common and simplest test that is available to detect arrhythmias by measuring the heart's electrical activity over a period of time. The normal pattern of an ECG is shown below. The ECG wave illustrates the depolarization and repolarization that occurs during a cardiac cycle. The prominent peaks in ECG depict distinct stages of the cardiac cycle (Figure 2.7).

The baseline/ isoelectric line: indicates the resting membrane potential P wave: Atrial depolarization initiated by the SA node QRS complex: Ventricular depolarization which precedes ventricular contraction T wave: Ventricular repolarization

As mentioned above, the electrical impulse of a cardiac cycle is initiated by SA node. It is the predominant pacemaker in the heart because it has faster rate of spontaneous firing compared to rest of the specialized tissues. However, in circumstances where the activity of SA node is reduced, other components of the electric conductive system can gain control (Figure 2.8).



http://research.vet.upenn.edu/tabid/4930/Default.aspx

Figure 2.7: Schematic representation of a normal ECG

ECG contains prominent peaks which depicts distinct phase of the cardiac cycle. The alterations of the peaks and the duration of segments indicate cardiac arrhythmias.

The electrophysiological abnormalities that lead to these life threatening arrhythmias are evident by the electrocardiogram (ECG) of the diabetics (62). The ECG of diabetics show alterations in normal patterns, majority affecting the repolarization such as prolonged QT interval, QT dispersion and T wave lengthening (62, 73). QT interval is the measurement that is taken at the beginning of the QRS complex to the end of the T wave and illustrates ventricular depolarization and repolarization. However, clinically QT interval is recognized as an indicator of ventricular repolarization. Prolonged QT interval can induce QT dispersion, which leads to unequal repolarization within the ventricular cardiomyocytes setting up an electrical gradient which facilitates reentry circuits and develop arrhythmias. People with myocardial autonomic neuropathy also have prolonged QT interval.



Anesth Prog. 2006 Summer; 53(2): 53-63; quiz 64

Figure 2.8: Conductive tissues and their normal firing rates

The SA node is the primary pacemaker and has the fastest spontaneous firing rate compared to other cardiac

pacemakers.

Interestingly, it was found that hyperinsulinemia mediated hypoglycemia in healthy individuals is capable of prolonging the QT interval and depress the T wave in ECG (74). Further, EURODIAB study implicate that increased HbA1c values are significantly increase the risk of developing a prolonged QT interval segment in the ECG (75). Therefore, these studies suggest that the glycemic levels have a profound effect on the electrical conduction system in the heart. Prolonged QT interval and depressed ST segment can be used as a predictor for mortality rates among type 2 diabetics (76).

Also, ECGs can assist to diagnose silent ischemia in diabetic patients. Usually, myocardial ischemia does not induce pain in patients with diabetes (77). Therefore, abnormalities in the resting ECG were found to be useful in diagnosing silent ischemia in asymptomatic diabetic patients (78).

During the early stages of diabetic cardiomyopathy, metabolic alterations and the diastolic dysfunction may be present even though the structural abnormalities may are absent. Therefore, it is suggested that the subtle changes seen in the ECG at this stage can be used to diagnose early stages of diabetic cardiomyopathy (21).

2.2.4 ECG, action potential and ion currents

ECG includes the total action potentials of all the cardiomyocytes in the atria and ventricles. The role of different ion channels involved in generating the cardiac action potential was identified in the attempts to understand the molecular basis of inherited cardiac arrhythmias. During this process, the genes encoding major ion channels were identified and sequenced. Also, it was identified that these ion channels function as macromolecular complexes, which are assembled in a specific manner and specific sites in the membrane. Some arrhythmias are manifested due to gene mutations of these ion channels (79).

The cardiac action potential consists of depolarization and repolarization waves. These depolarization and repolarization waves of a single cardiomyocyte are mediated by Na^+ , K^+ and Ca^{2+} currents. Membrane currents that are responsible for generating cardiac action potential are depicted in Figure 2.9. There are 5 phases during the propagation of a cardiac action potential (79).

• Phase 4: The resting action potential:

Approximately -90mV due to differences in the ionic concentration and conductance across the membrane. This phase illustrates the action potential when the cardiomyocyte is not being stimulated.

• Phase 0: Rapid depolarization

This current is produced by the fast Na⁺ current which results in large influx of Na⁺ in to the cardiomyocyte. This phase is reflected by the QRS complex of the ECG.



Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol. 2009 Apr;2(2):185-94. Doi: 10.1161/CIRCEP.108.789081

Figure 2.9: Cardiac action potential and the ion channels involved

Distinct ion channels regulate the currents of different phases of action potential

• Phase 1: Rapid repolarization

This phase occurs with the inactivation of Na^+ currents. The small downward deflection is due to activation of transient K^+ currents which cause the K^+ ions to leak outside the cells.

• Phase 2: Plateau phase

This is the longest phase of the action potential. This marks the phase of Ca^{2+} entry in to the cardiomyocyte and corresponds to the ST segment of the ECG.

• Phase 3: Rapid repolarization

This phase is mediated by outward potassium currents which bring back the membrane potential to the resting stage. Phase 3 correlates with the T wave in the ECG.

The action potential of the pacemakers is significantly different from the normal atrial and ventricular cardiomyocytes. The total action potentials of the cardiomyocytes in the ventricle are depicted by the QT interval in an ECG.

2.2.5 The ion channels and their properties

Ion channels facilitate the movement of ions across lipophillic membranes with less activation energy. During the action potential, the permeability of the ion channels changes and the ions move across the membrane according to an electro – chemical gradient. This electro – chemical gradient regulates the direction of ion movement. When the cations move in to the cell, it creates depolarizing currents, and the movement of cations out of the cell generates Repolarizing currents. The ion transporters maintain the cellular ion homeostasis at the expense of ATP hydrolysis.

The function of an ion channel is determined by ion permeation and gating. Ion permeation indicates the movement of ion through the channel. Ion channels are specific for a particular ion (eg: Na^+ channels will allow permeation to Na^+ ions). The selectivity for the ions are determined by the size, valency and the hydration energy (80).

Gating is based on the mechanisms involved in opening and closing of the ion channels. Based on the gating properties ion channels are divided in to two classes as follows.

- Voltage dependent ion channels the most common method of channel opening. These channels change the conductance based on the membrane potential.
- Ligand dependent ion channels Binding of a ligand is required to alter the conductance of the channel.

2.2.6 Sodium channels

The cardiac sodium channels are voltage gated and comprised of α and β subunits. The α subunit of this channel is involved in generating the current while β subunit regulates the level of ion expression (81). These Na⁺ channels open less than 1ms during more than 99% of the depolarization wave. These channels play an important role during the phase 0 depolarization of

the cardiac action potential. Several inherited diseases are reported due to mutations in the cardiac Na⁺ channel gene (SCN5A) (82).

2.2.7 Calcium channels

 Ca^{2+} is the predominant ion involved in intracellular signaling. In the cardiomyocytes Ca^{2+} plays a main role in excitation contraction coupling and also regulates the function of certain enzymes. Ca^{2+} channels serves as the major gateway for the extracellular Ca^{2+} to enter in to the cells. There are mainly two types of Ca^{2+} channels in the cardiomyocytes.

- \blacktriangleright L-type (low threshold type) Ca²⁺ channels
- \succ T-type (transient) Ca²⁺ channels

L-type Ca^{2+} channels are present ubiquitously on all the types of cardiomyocytes. However, T-type Ca^{2+} channels are found in pacemaker cells and also atrial cardiomyocytes. Generally, cardiac L-type Ca^{2+} channel is comprised of α_1 , α_2 , β , γ , δ subunits. The α_{1c} subunit is made of cardiac specific Cav1.2 subunit. The β subunits are capable of increasing the channel expression and also regulate the kinetics (83).

2.2.8 Potassium channels

Voltage gated K^+ channels (Kv) play a major role in regulating the repolarization of the action potential in the mammalian myocardium. There is a large diversity in the function and

electrophysiological properties of the cardiac Kv channels. There are three main classes of the currents created by the potassium channels.

- Voltage gated channels $(I_{to}, I_{Kur}, I_{kr} \text{ and } I_{ks})$
- ▶ Inward rectifiers channels $(I_{k1}, I_{kAch}, I_{kATP})$
- Background K+ currents (TASK -1, TWIK 1/2)

The expression of these different potassium channels can vary depending on the region. Therefore it accounts for regional differences of the action potential in the atria and ventricles. K^+ currents are highly regulated in the cardiomyocytes.

As other types of voltage gated ion channels, K^+ channels are also constructed of α and β subunits. Further, ancillary proteins such as Kv-channel associated protein (KChAP) and Kv channel interacting proteins (KChiP) are required to maintain the proper function of the channel.

There are various types of α and β subfamilies involved in constructing the cardiac potassium channels. The cardiac a subunits include KvN.x (N=1 to 4), the HERG channel and KvLQT1. The KvN.x subunits assemble as hetero multimers to form the core of the ion channel. However HERG and KvLQT1 found to be assemble as homotetramers. Therefore, α subunits are involved in generating the voltage gated K⁺ currents in the cardiomyocytes. The ancillary subunits are required to increase the channel activity and also capable of regulating the channel kinetics.

 I_{Kur} , I_{kr} and I_{ks} are slow and play a main role during cardiac repolarization by facilitating outward K⁺ currents during phase 3 of action potential. I_{Kur} is highly expressed in atrial cardiomyocytes. It was found that I_{kr} is more expressed in the left atrium and ventricular

endocardium. One of the major causes for manifestation of inherited arrhythmias are the mutation in the genes that encode cardiac K^+ channels.

2.2.9 Transient outward potassium currents (I_{to})

Based on the time and voltage gated properties, the Kv currents are categorized in to two broad classifications (84).

- 1. Transient outward potassium current (I_{to})
- 2. Delayed, outwardly rectifying potassium current (I_k)

In this chapter the main focus will be on the I_{to} current. I_{to} plays a major role in regulating the rapid repolarization during phase 1 of the action potential and is known to rapidly activate and deactivate in the myocardium (85) (Figure 2.10). The I_{to} current has been reported to be prominent in ventricles of many species, including rodents and humans (86).

 I_{to} have the capability to impact the L-type Ca²⁺ channels because its involvement in regulating the early repolarization. Therefore, these K⁺ currents significantly affect the excitation – contraction coupling and repolarization in cardiomyocytes. Further, it was identified that the changes in I_{to} can alter the delayed rectifier currents. Therefore, changes in the I_{to} can alter the delayed rectifier currents. Therefore, changes in the I_{to} can alter the duration of action potential and also increase the risk for development of arrhythmias.

Attenuation of I_{to} in the hypertrophied heart has reported to induce prolonged action potential and generate arrhythmias (87). This was further consolidated by another study which demonstrates that the attenuation of I_{to} prolong the QT interval in the mouse heart (88). Further, it was observed that diabetes can significantly suppress the I_{to} current in the diabetic myocardium, thus reduce the repolarization rate of the ventricular cardiomyocytes (89). Further studies indicated that diabetes can impair the recovery of I_{to} in the myocardium (90).



Patel et al; J Physiol 569.1 (2005) pp 7-39



Conventional whole cell patch clamp view of I_{to} : Theoretically predicted kinetic behavior of $I_{to,fast}$ during a ventricular action potential.

2.2.10 Molecular components of I_{to}

To further understand the regulatory aspects of the I_{to} current, it is necessary to gain an insight of the molecular components which compose the Kv/ I_{to} channels. There are two main subunits that comprise the Kv channels.

- 1. α subunit principle protein required for the formation of the ion channel
- 2. β subunit regulate the properties of the principle subunit

The Kv channels are tetramers; therefore assembly of 4 α subunits are required for the proper formation and the function of the ion channel. Each of this α subunit has six transmembrane segments, including the pore formation between S5 and S6 segment, and voltage sensitivity at S4 segment which provides the specificity for the K⁺ (91, 92). Cardiac Kv channels are composed of various types of α subunits with different kinetic properties, and these subunits can assemble as homotetramers or heterotetramers (92).

The α subunits of Kv channel have been classified to nine families. These families are named starting from Kv1.x to Kv9.x. In the heart, Kv1.4, KV1.7, Kv4.2 and Kv4.3 are substantially expressed. Out of these the most important Kv α subunits which underlie I_{to} channels in humans and rodents are Kv 4.3 and Kv 4.2 (93-95). Once these subunits are translated, they are accumulated in the endoplasmic reticulum and subsequently undergo further post-translational modifications in the Golgi bodies before they are translocated to the sarcolemma (96) (Figure 2.11). The assembly of 4 α subunits is sufficient to create a K⁺ current, however the level of expression and biophysical properties are determined by the β subunits, KChIP and KChAP proteins. The β subunits have conserved core region and has oxido reductase properties with its active site positioned to interact with the voltage sensor of the K⁺ channels (97) (Figure 2.12).



http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19619557



The linear amino acid sequence of human Kv 4.3 illustrated

KChAP proteins increase the cell surface expression but do not affect the properties of the channels. Previous publications have demonstrated co-immunoprecipitation of Kv4.3 with KChAP. This indicates that KChAP may have an important regulatory role in the heart. KChIP proteins binds with Ca²⁺ that interact with Kv4- α subunits and control the density, kinetics and recovery of the ion channels. KChIP proteins are categorized in to KChIP1, KChIP2 and KChIP3. However, KChIP2 has been shown to have tissue specific expression in the heart (98). Therefore, only cytoplasmic protein KChiP2, has been found to be an essential component of myocardial *I*_{to} (99).

Recently published reports implicate that insulin stimulate the production of I_{to} protein components. Further, disruption of actin filament network in the cardiomyocytes adversely affected the Ito current, indicating the necessity of the cellular cytoskeleton for trafficking the newly synthesized channel components to the sarcolemma (100).

2.2.11 Regulation of I_{to}

The I_{to} current is regulated by many endocrine and paracrine systems. Specifically, I_{to} was found to be modulated by endothelin – 1, $\alpha 1$ – adrenergic agonists and AT II. A rapid reduction of I_{to} was observed in the isolated adult rat cardiomyocytes, rabbit atrial cardiomyocytes with the treatment of α – adrenergic agonists via PKC dependent and independent pathways (101, 102). The treatment of neonatal cardiomyocytes with phenylepinephrine and endothelin-1 treatment also induced a reduction of the I_{to} current and this was attributed to the reduction of Kv 4.2 subunit in the cells (103, 104). Similarly, a reduction of I_{to} was observed in the myocardium with AT II. It was observed that incubation of canine

ventricular cardiomyocytes with AT II significantly reduced the I_{to} current by replacing the Kv4.3 with subunits that have slow kinetic properties. Interestingly, treatment with AT II receptor blocker (Losartan) converted the slow I_{to} current to faster Ito current, which is regulated by Kv4.3 and Kv 4.2 (105). Also, it is understood that the properties of I_{to} can be changed dramatically without any changes in the sub unit expression.



Nature 419, 35-42(5 September 2002)

Figure 2.12: The assembly of Kv α subunits

Four α subunits assembly to form the functional channels which facilitate K⁺ currents across the membrane. The KChIP2 subunits are required for the translocation of the alpha subunits on to the membrane.

Fatty acids such as arachidonic acid were found to have a profound effect on I_{to} density and prolong the action potential in ventricular cardiomyocytes. Further, it was implicated that the arachidonic acid suppresses the I_{to} via PKC dependent pathway (106).

2.2.12 Diabetes and I_{to}

Many published reports confirm the effects of diabetes on the I_{to} current in the heart. Diabetes was found to impact I_{to} in two ways (Figure 2.13).

- Diabetes can accelerate the inactivation kinetics
- \blacktriangleright Diabetes slow the recovery of I_{to} current from inactivation

The work by *Shimoni et al* suggests that diabetic cardiomyocytes have slower recovery kinetics (90). Further, it was demonstrated that diabetes can also impact adversely on the expression of I_{to} channels by attenuating the expression of the channel forming subunits which can cause a reduction in total potassium current amplitude (107-109). The work by *Qin et al* demonstrates that gene expression of Kv 4.3 and Kv 4.2 are significantly reduced in rats with Streptozotocin induced diabetes (animal model of Type 1 DM) (Figure 2.15). Also, diabetes was found to increase the expression of Kv 4.3 (107). How diabetes alters the expression of channel forming subunits in the myocardium is not fully elucidated.



Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 2009 Feb;87(2):77-83. doi: 10.1139/Y08-106

Figure 2.13: *I*_{to} recordings in healthy and diabetic rat cardiomyocyte

 I_{to} recordings elicited in a diabetic and a healthy (non diabetic) rat myocytes with similar cell size. In the diabetic cell I_{to} amplitude is reduced approximately 40%, and the current decays faster because of a faster channel inactivation.

Interestingly, it was found that long term incubation with insulin can reverse the I_{to} amplitude in isolated diabetic cardiomyocytes (89). MAPK appears to be involved in the insulin mediated stimulatory effects of I_{to} . Further, the pharmacological agents which can increase the glucose utilization have the capability of normalizing the I_{to} current (110).

Previous publications reported that treatment of diabetic rats with AT II receptor blocker reverse the downregulated I_{to} current in the heart (Figure 2.14). This study and other studies support that AT II, which is upregulated during diabetes, can have a profound effect the expression of I_{to} current density and also it's pore forming subunits (109, 111). Therefore, the enhanced expression of AT II during diabetes exerts a significant impact on the molecular components of I_{to} and thus leads to alterations in ionic currents in the heart and altered ECG (Figure 2.14). Work by Zhang et al suggests that AT II treatment attenuate the Kv4.3 gene expression in cardiomyocytes.



J Physiol. 2001 Nov 15;537 (Pt 1):83-92

Figure 2.14: The effects of AT II blockers on I_{to} in the diabetic heart

(A) superimposed current traces obtained in response to 500 ms depolarizing pulses given from a holding potential of -80 mV to potentials ranging from -20 to +50 mV. Examples are given for cells obtained from a control rat (left), and from an STZ-diabetic rat in the absence of (centre) or 7 h after incubation with 1 μ M saralasin (AT II receptor blocker) (right). (B) current-voltage relationships for the peak outward current (I_{t} , left) and the sustained current (I_{ss} , right) in cells from STZ-diabetic rats in the absence (•, n = 24) and

presence (\blacksquare , n = 23) of saralasin (6–9 h incubation). Mean current density values (\pm S.E.M.) are plotted against membrane potential.



Qin et al; BBRC Vol 283, 549-553 2001

Figure 2.15: The attenuation of gene expression of Kv4.2 & 4.3 under diabetes

(A & B) Comparison of cardiac Kv4.2 gene expression (A) and western blot analysis of Kv4.2 by westerns (B) in the LV of sham (control) and diabetic experimental groups. The gene and the protein expression of the Kv4.2 is attenuated in the diabetic animals. (C & D) Comparison of cardiac Kv4.3 gene and protein

expression in the sham (control) and diabetic groups. Kv 4.3 gene and protein expression is also reduced in the diabetic hearts.



Zhang T et al. Circulation Research 2001;88:476-482

Figure 2.16: AT II mediated down regulation of Kv4.3 gene in cardiomyocytes

Neonatal cardiomyocytes were treated with AT II (100nM) for 8 hours. The gene expression of Kv4.3 is significantly attenuated in AT II treated cardiomyocytes.

2.3 Peroxisome proliferator activated receptors and the heart

2.3.1 PPARs (Peroxisome proliferator activated receptors)

PPARs are ligand activated transcription factors which belong to within the broad nuclear receptor superfamily. There are three types of PPARs encoded by distinct genes.

- 1. PPAR α
- 2. PPAR β/δ

3. PPAR γ

These three receptors have distinct tissue expression patterns, and also specific and overlapping functions (112) (Figure 2.17).



Nat Med. 2004 Apr;10(4):355-61

Figure 2.17: PPAR subtypes, their distribution and functions

The three PPAR isoforms regulate lipid and glucose homeostasis through their coordinated activities in liver, muscle and adipose tissue.

PPARs form heterodimers with Retinoid X Receptors (RXR) and bind to specific DNA sequence elements known as PPRE (Peroxisome Proliferator Response Element) to regulate the target gene expression. Once the ligand is bound, the conformation of the PPAR is altered, which stabilized and create a binding cleft that facilitate the recruitment of co-activators.

The first type of PPAR that was cloned is PPAR α , and since then extensive research was conducted on PPARs. Variety of FA and their derivatives which includes prostaglandins, eicosonids have found to be ligands for PPARs. Further, PPPARs has been implicated to play a crucial role in sensing nutrient levels and in modulating their metabolism. Other than these functions, recent publications verify myriad of other roles regulated by PPARs. All the three PPARs can regulate cellular differentiation and claimed to take part in pathophysiology of carcinogenesis (113).



Annu Rev Med. 2002;53:409-35

Figure 2.18: Crystal structure of PPARy LBD

X-ray crystal structure of PPAR γ ligand binding domain. Several key α -helices are shown along with the relative location of key functional regions.

Like any other nuclear receptors, PPARs also contain functional domains (114). Amongst the three PPARs, the DNA binding domain (DBD) and the ligand binding domain (LBD) are highly conserved (Figure 2.18). Compared to other nuclear receptors, the PPARs have a large LBD (115). This large LBD pocket allows the PPARs to bind with a broad range of natural and synthetic ligands. The C-terminus of the LBD consists of ligand dependent activation domain AF-2, which is involved in constructing the co-activator binding pocket of the receptor (115).

PPARs require binding of RXR and form heterodimers to exert the transcriptional activity. RXR also exists in three forms, such as RXR α , β and γ (116). However, specific roles of different isoforms of RXR within the PPAR: RXR complex have not been identified up to date (Figure 2.19).



Annu Rev Med. 2002;53:409-35

Figure 2.19: Mechanisms of transcriptional activation of PPAR isoforms

Mechanism of transcriptional activation by PPAR isoforms. Selected molecular components are shown relative to assay formats that can be used to characterize compound activities.

Once the PPAR: RXR complex is formed, it binds to the PPRE regions of the target genes to exert its transcriptional effects. PPREs consists of direct repeat elements which consists of two hexanucleotides with the consensus sequence AGGTCA separated by a single nucleotide spacer. *Cis* elements adjacent to the PPRE core site regulate the binding selectivity of these response elements (117).

2.3.2 Co-activators of PPAR isomers

Co-activators and repressors mediate the activation or repression of the transcription of the nuclear receptors respectively. Co-activators interact with nuclear receptors in a ligand dependent manner (118). The co-activators of PPARs include CBP/ p300 have histone acetylase activity that can remodel histones (119). Also, DRIP/ TRAP complex such as PPAR binding protein (PBP)/ TRAP220 form a bridge between the nuclear receptor and facilitate the transcription initiation machinery (120). Molecular function of PGC-1 which is another coactivator of PPAR is not fully elucidated. In summary, it is hypothesized that the co-activators with histone acetylase properties remodel the histones and expose the chromatin structure near the regulatory region of the gene. Then the complexes such as DRIP/ TRAP are recruited and provide a direct link to the basal transcription machinery, which results in initiation of the transcription (113).

2.3.3 PPAR α and heart

PPAR α is highly expressed in metabolically active tissues such as liver, kidney, heart, brown fat, skeletal muscles and vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells (121-124). Diverse class of pharmacological compounds, including hypolipidemic fibrates acts through PPAR α receptors (125). Further, PPAR α plays an important role in modulating cellular uptake, activation and β – oxidation of FA. PPAR α regulates the gene expression of FATP (FA transport protein) which is a FA transporter (126). Also PPAR α activation induces the gene expression of many enzymes that are involved in β – oxidation pathway. These enzymes are acetyl – CoA synthase, enoyl – CoA hydratase and keto – acyl – CoA thiolase (127-129). Carnitine palmitoyltransferase I (CPT I), which catalyzes the translocation of active FA in to the inner membrane of the mitochondria is also strongly induced by PPAR α activity (130).

PPAR α is abundantly expressed in the heart and plays a critical role in myocardial energy and lipid metabolism. PPAR α regulate myriad of genes involved in fatty acid uptake and oxidation in cardiomyocytes. As PPAR α plays a vital role in cardiac energetic, it is identified as an important determinant of myocardial energy production. The activity of the PPAR α is altered during various cardiac pathologies (131). PPAR α activity is known to be attenuated in pathological hypertrophied heart, which leads to diminished fatty acid utilization and increased glucose oxidation (132).

However, the diabetic heart demonstrates a chronic activation of PPAR α pathway which is ensued by lipid accumulation, which is a feature of diabetic cardiomyopathy. It was also observed that cardiac specific over-expression of PPAR α produce similar phenotype to that of the diabetic heart (133).

2.3.4 PPAR β/δ and heart

In contrast to PPAR α and PPAR γ , the function of PPAR δ in the heart is not extensively explored. PPAR δ is ubiquitously expressed in the body, therefore initially it was perceived to be involved in regulating a "housekeeping" role (134). However, it was identified as an important mediator in fatty acid metabolism in cardiomyocytes (135). More specifically, PPAR δ was shown to play a vital role in fatty acid oxidation via activating oxidative genes in isolated neonatal and adult cardiomyocytes (136). Further, cardiac specific deletion of PPAR δ induces cardiac hypertrophy, lipotoxicity and heart failure in mice (137).

2.3.5 PPAR γ and heart

PPAR γ plays a major role in adipocytes development and differentiation, thus its role in adipose tissue was extensively characterized (138) (Figure 2.20). It interacts directly with the *cis* element that regulates adipocytes specific expression of FA binding protein aP2 (139). This aP2 protein belongs to a family of intracellular FA binding proteins (FABP) and is involved in shuttling free FA through the cytosol (140). Further, it was found that PPAR γ regulates many genes involved in lipid metabolism in adipocytes, such as LPL, PEPCK and acyl – CoA – synthase (127, 141, 142). PPAR γ also regulates the expression of CD36 and FATP-1 which are involved in lipid uptake (126).

PPAR γ also exerts a profound effect on insulin sensitivity in the body. It has been found to regulate several genes that affect insulin action. Previous publications demonstrate that PPAR
γ can induce the expression of IRS-2 (insulin receptor substrate – 2) protein that is integral for insulin signaling in insulin sensitive tissues (143). PPAR γ agonist treatment significantly inhibited the expression of TNF – α in adipose tissues of obese rats. TNF – α is a proinflammatory cytokine that is expressed in the adipose tissue and is known to induce insulin resistance and suppress insulin signal transduction (144).

Additionally, PPAR γ involves in regulating the genes that modulate glucose homeostasis. PPAR γ is a known inducer of glucose transporter type 4 (Glut4). This protein is required to uptake systemic glucose in to insulin sensitive tissues such as adipose tissue, skeletal muscles, liver and also heart (145).

2.3.6 Thiazolidinediones

Pharmacological agonists of PPAR γ , which are known as thiazolidinediones (TZD) are promising therapeutic agents to overcome the insulin resistance associated with Type 2- DM. TZDs exerts potent antidiabetic effects by lowering hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia and hypertriglyceridemia. Increased circulating FA levels are known to induce insulin resistance. The ability of TZDs to sequester the free FA to adipose tissue also contributes to improve the whole body insulin sensitivity (146). Also, the increase uptake of FA and enhanced adipongenesis induced by TZDs induce weight gain. Therefore, use of TZDs in the treatment of Type 2-DM has become controversial. Further TZDs promotes peripheral edema and predispose the heart to failure in patients with existing cardiovascular diseases (147). Bone loss and higher risk for fractures are other side effects reported with the use of TZDs (148).



Nat Med. 2013 May; 19(5): 557-66. doi: 10.1038/nm.3159. Epub 2013 May 7

Figure 2.20: Role of PPAR γ in the adipose tissue

PPAR γ has multiple roles in adipose tissue. High fat diet, ligands or TZDs activate PPAR γ -RXR functional heterodimers and maintain metabolic homeostasis through direct regulation of genes harboring PPAR

response elements (PPREs) involved in adipocyte differentiation, lipid metabolism and glucose homeostasis, as well as the expression of adipose secreted factors that act as transducers for PPAR γ .

There are many synthetic PPAR γ ligands which belong to TZD family (Figure 2.21). Out of these ligands, Pioglitazone and Rosiglitazone is available in the USA market as antidiabetic agents, however wide use of these drugs are restricted and under the scrutiny of FDA (Food and Drug Administration).



Drugs Fut 2006, 31(10): 875

Figure 2.21: Chemical structures of TZDs

PPAR γ is expressed in the heart and it is understood that the most of the cardiac effects of PPAR mediated by indirect mechanisms. Despite the many unwanted side effects exerted by PPAR γ in the heart, many reports support the beneficial effects of these compounds in variety of cardiovascular pathologies. PPAR γ agonists are capable of reducing the infarction when the hearts are subjected to ischemia/ reperfusion (I/R) in animal models (149, 150). Also, PPAR γ agonists can inhibit the development of cardiac hypertrophy in pressure overload animal models (151). The mechanisms responsible for cardiac effects of PPAR γ agonists are attributed to lipid and glucose metabolism and anti-inflammatory properties. Also, transgenic mice with constitutively active PPAR γ (CA-PPAR γ) have been shown to be protected against triglyceride (TG) accumulation in cardiomyocytes with high fat diet (Figure 2.22). Interestingly, it was also observed that the hearts of these transgenic mice are protected against hypertrophy induced by adrenergic stimulation (152) (Figure 2.23).



Amin et al; Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 299: H690–H698, 2010

Figure 2.22: CA-PPARy protects cardiomyocytes against TG accumulation

The electron microscopy data indicates the deposition of TG globules within the cardiomyocytes in high fat diet mice. This effect was rescued in transgenic mice with PPAR γ over-expression in myocytes.



Amin et al; Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 299: H690–H698, 2010

Figure 2.23: CA-PPAR γ protects against hypertrophy induced by adrenergic stimulation Fluorescence micrographs of phalloidin -stained transgenic primary neonatal cardiomyocytes. Cardiomyocytes isolated from transgenic PPAR γ over expressed mice were resistant to hypertrophy by adrenergic stimulation.

2.3.7 Selective PPAR y modulators

Amongst the TZDs rosiglitazone is considered as a full PPAR γ agonist. Recently, few studies published on the aspect of constructing new PPAR γ agonist molecules which possess

antidiabetic effects without the adverse effects reported with conventional TZDs. The strategy that is utilized in constructing such drug molecule is achieving selective agonism for the PPAR γ receptor. These compounds are collectively named as selective PPAR γ modulators (SPPARMs).



PPAR Res. 2007;2007:32696

Figure 2.24: Differential binding of regulators produces distinct gene expression patterns

Ligands bind to LBD of PPAR g in various ways leading to distinct transcription patterns.

SPPARMs are constructed based on the concept the conformation state of PPAR γ is vital to its activity. This is because the conformation of the receptor determines the affinity for corepressors and co-activators (153). Different ligands for PPAR γ bind to the LBD in different ways giving rise to slightly different interactions with its regulator proteins. These differential bindings can lead to distinct transcription patterns (153) (Figure 2.24).

PPAR γ produces variety of responses due to numerous potential ligand binding conformations and the large number of responsive genes. Full PPAR γ agonists such as rosiglitazone have dose response relations for multiple activities linked. In the case of partial agonists, they show the same activation patterns of a full agonist, but has a lower activity compared with a full agonist. Unlike a partial agonist, SPPARMs have dose – response relations for various activities uncoupled from each other. An ideal SPPARM should have potent insulin sensitizing activities with less effects on adiposity, loss of bone mineral density, fluid retention and congestive heart failure (153).

As PPAR γ LBD domain possesses a large binding pocket. Therefore, it offers a large number of potential contact points for variety of endogenous ligands to bind in different combinations. Full agonists such as rosiglitazone, forms tight hydrogen bonds with AF-2 (activation function) domain of the LBD, which promotes recruitment of regulator proteins and induce high maximal activity. Similar to rosiglitazone, all the other small full PPAR γ agonists have common binding mode, in which the acidic head groups bind with three amino acid residues (Y 473, H 449 and H323) within the LBD. A partial agonist that binds to the same binding pocket but devoid of interactions with AF-2 would result in weak recruitment of regulator proteins and low maximal efficacy (154).



PPAR Res. 2007;2007:32696

Figure 2.25: Dose response curves for agonists

As PPAR γ LBD domain possesses a large binding pocket. Therefore, it offers a large number of potential contact points for variety of endogenous ligands to bind in different combinations. Full agonists such as rosiglitazone, forms tight hydrogen bonds with AF-2 (activation function) domain of the LBD, which promotes recruitment of regulator proteins and induce high maximal activity. Similar to rosiglitazone, all the other small full PPAR γ agonists have common binding mode, in which the acidic head groups bind with three amino acid residues (Y 473, H 449 and H323) within the LBD. A partial agonist that binds to the same binding pocket but devoid of interactions with AF-2 would result in weak recruitment of regulator proteins and low maximal efficacy (154) (Figure 2.25).

However, a SPPARM bind to the LBD in such a way that leads to differential binding of co-activators or repressors to the complex. This property gives the ability to produce tissue and promoter selective gene expression. The first SPPARM that was published in the literature was GW0072. Unlike full PPAR γ agonists, it was observed that this compound does not directly interact with the AF-2 helix. This resulted in differential biological responses with less impact on the adipose tissue. There are several SPPARMs have been identified, which requires to be characterized at the molecular level before going forward with clinical trials.

2.3.8 The role of PPAR γ agonists in the I/R injury

As mentioned earlier in the chapter, cardiovascular diseases are the major causative factor for the mortality among diabetics. Further, diabetics sustain extensive cardiac damage when subjected to I/R injury compared to a non diabetic individual. Higher mortality rates from acute myocardial infarctions among diabetics have been reported in numerous studies (155).

Many published reports verify that the treatment with TZDs improve the response to ischemia reperfusion injury in animal models. Majority of these studies claimed the protective effects exerted by TZDs were due to their anti-inflammatory properties (150, 156). Additionally, rosi treatment in Zucker fatty rats rescued the insulin resistance and elevated the GLUT4 levels in the myocardium, which facilitated the glucose entry during I/R insult. This prevented the ATP loss during the insult and improved the recovery of contractile dysfunction (157).

Majority of the aforementioned and published studies induce I/R in rodents. The laboratory rodents offer the advantages such as easy to handle, require less space for housing and also economically feasible. Further, the mouse strains offer the possibility of creating over-

expressed or knockdown transgenic animal models, which enable to study the particular role of a signaling molecule in the response to I/R.

Greater number of studies utilized surgical methods to induce I/R stress in animal models. According to the duration and extent of the obstruction to the blood flow, these surgical models are classified to myocardial infarction (MI), I/R injury and chronic ischemia. There are various surgical techniques available to induce MI and I/R injury. Most common method used for many studies, including the work conducted in our lab is the ligation of the left anterior descending coronary (LAD) artery. In this model, mice is anesthetized and ventilated by orotracheal intubation or by tracheotomy. Then a thoracotomy is conducted to expose the heart for LAD ligation. This method usually produces an infarction in the LV. In this model, the degree of the LV impairment is usually directly proportional to the extent of myocardial loss (158) (Figure 2.26).

PPAR γ is a transcription factor. Therefore, the treatment of PPAR γ prior to induction of I/R injury may be due to upregulation of target genes which can precondition the heart. Interestingly, we **observed that the PPAR** γ **treatment elevate the expression of hypoxia inducible factor** – 1 α (HIF-1 α) protein in response to I/R injury in the diabetic heart. HIF-1 α is considered as the master transcription factor involved in upregulating myriad of genes in cells/ tissues that offer protection against hypoxia/ ischemia. Previous publications have demonstrated that PPAR γ treatment induces the HIF-1 α expression in response to hypoxia in breast cancer cell line and the adipose tissue (159, 160). Therefore, we postulated that TZDs can elevate the HIF-1 α response in tissues, therefore PPAR γ – HIF-1 α signaling to be a potential mechanism which offers protection against I/R injury in the heart.



Cardiovasc Res. 2007 Apr 1;74(1):29-38. Epub 2006 Nov 23

Figure 2.26: LAD ligation in a mouse

2.3.9 HIF-1 α and the ischemia response in the heart

The functions of the organs, tissues and cells are restricted when the oxygen levels drop below a certain threshold value. Generally, hypoxia constitutes when the oxygen partial pressure is reduced more than 40mmHg in the arterial blood (161). As mentioned above, HIF-1 α is a key regulator which regulates the induction of many genes that facilitate adaptation and survival of cells and the organisms from normoxia to hypoxia. The functions of HIF-1 α have been extensively studied and more than100 of genes were identified to be directly regulated by this transcription factor (162). Despite HIF-1 α being protective against hypoxia in healthy tissues, it is correlated to poor prognosis in cancer because it facilitates tumor growth (163).

The HIF transcription factor is a heterodimer comprised of HIF-1 α subunit and the constitutively expressed HIF-1 β subunit. So far, three isoforms of HIF-1 α are characterized and they are referred as HIF-1 α , HIF-2 α and HIF-3 α . Out of these three isoforms, HIF-1 α are HIF-2 α well characterized (164). Unlike HIF-1 β which is constitutively expressed in the nucleus, HIF-1 α expression is tightly regulated under normoxic conditions. The HIF-1 α and β heterodimer recognizes and binds to the consensus sequence 5'-(A/G)CGTG-3' named as hypoxia response elements (HRE) to activate the transcriptional activity of target genes (165).

This strict coordination of HIF-1 α expression in normoxic and hypoxic environments are regulated by PHDs (Prolyl hydroxylase) and pVHL, which is an E3 ubiquitin ligase (Von Hippel – Lindau tumor suppressor protein).

In the presence of oxygen, PHDs post-transcriptionally modifies HIF-1 α by hydroxylating at specific proline residues (Pro402 and Pro564) located in its oxygen dependent degradation (ODD) domain. The hydroxylation of these specific proline residues targets the HIF-

 1α for pVHL mediated proteasomal degradation. This reaction requires oxygen, 2-oxoglutarate and ascorbate (166) (Figure 2.27).



Nature Reviews Gastroenterology and Hepatology 7, 281-287 (May 2010)

Figure 2.27: Mechanisms of HIF-1 α stabilization

(a) The PHDs can hydroxylase the prolines in the ODD. (b) Depiction of HIF hydroxylation by α – ketoglutarate, O2 and PHD in normoxia. (c) During hypoxia, HIF-1 a subunit binds with the HIF – 1β subunit within the nucleus to become transcriptionally active.

Under hypoxic conditions, PHD activity is inhibited because of the limited oxygen levels in the cell. Therefore, HIF-1 α gets stabilized and accumulated in the cells. Also, under hypoxic conditions, the mitochondria increases the ROS production which oxidze Fe²⁺ to Fe³⁺. Fe²⁺ is a cofactor required for the function of PHD. Therefore, this reaction will further inhibit PHD activity, leading to stabilization of HIF-1 α (167). Therefore, hypoxia can be chemically mimicked by iron chelation by utilizing compounds such as desferrioxamine (DFO), use of of 2oxoglutarate analogs such as dimethyloxalylglycine (DMOG) or substitution of Fe^{2+} by mental ions such as cobalt (168).

The ODD domain of the HIF-1 α consists of two portions: N-terminal ODD and Cterminal ODD, and both these domains can interact with pVHL independently (169). Further, two transactivation domains (TAD) were identified in HIF-1 α . These transactivation domains are referred to as N-terminal TAD and C-terminal TAD. The N-terminal TAD overlaps with the C-terminal ODD (170). In addition to the regulation of HIF-1 α by proline hydroxylation mentioned above, stabilization of HIF-1 α is also regulated by a hydroxylation reaction (at Asn 803) mediated by asparaginyl hydroxylase known as factor inhibiting HIF (FIH). This modification prevents interaction of HIF-1 α C-TAD with other cofactors such as CBP/ p300 (171).

This co-activators that bind to HIF-1 α stabilizes the transcription initiation complex containing RNA polymerase II. Also, these co-activators have histone acetyl transferase activity which remodels chromatin and expose the DNA for polymerase to access and transcribe it into RNA. The work by *Kung et al* describes that p300 binds to the CH1 domain located in the C-TAD of HIF-1 α (172). N-TAD transactivates less effectively than C-TAD, however, C-TAD and N-TAD function together synergistically (173) (Figure 2.28).

The genes regulated by HIF-1 α and consequences of HIF-1 α activation varies from one cell type to another. Currently, there are myriad of genes found to be regulated by HIF-1 α . So far, the best characterized processes of HIF-1 α regulation are erythropoeisis, angiogenesis and glucose uptake. Activation of all these biological pathways under a hypoxic insult exerts adaptive response in the cells and promotes survival (174).



Nature 441, 437-443(25 May 2006)

Figure 2.28: Different HIF-1α domains

2.3.10 Alternative mechanisms stabilizing HIF-1 α under normoxic conditions

Certain growth factors and cytokines are known to stabilize HIF-1 α under normoxic conditions. These include insulin and insulin like growth factors 1 and 2. It was found that insulin treatment in cell culture leads to stabilization of HIF-1 α and augments HIF-1 α mediated gene transcription. Further it was demonstrated that insulin mediated stabilization of HIF-1 is via Akt/ PI3K pathway (175). Nitric oxide (NO) also has been found to stabilize HIF-1 α under normoxic conditions.

2.3.11 Hyperglycemia and HIF-1α signaling pathway

Recent published reports provide ample evidence that the glucose levels in the cells affects the expression and activation of HIF-1 α in response to hypoxia. It has been found that the relationship between glucose and HIF-1 α can be two ways. HIF can profoundly regulate the expression of most of the enzymes involved in glycolysis and GLUT1 and GLUT3 expression which mediates glucose uptake in the cells. In contrast, glucose uptake and glycolysis can adversely affect the stability and activation (176, 177). Even though glucose alone cannot regulate HIF-1 α in the absence of hypoxia, normoglycemic levels are vital for HIF-1 α protein and activation in response to hypoxia (176).

Many studies support the presence of reduced levels of HIF-1 α in the cells or tissues obtained from diabetic individuals and animal models. This observation was further consolidated in cells cultured in medium containing high glucose. Therefore, it is understood that hyperglycemia is responsible for compromised HIF-1 α protein expression and impaired transactivation function in response to hypoxia in diabetic tissues. Even though exact mechanism how diabetes impair HIF-1 α is not fully elucidated, some recent publications suggest few possible pathways which may help to explain this inhibition (178).

\blacktriangleright The negative effects of methylglyoxal on HIF-1 α

Methylglyoxal (MG) is a highly reactive by product formed in many metabolic pathways. The production of MG is increased in hyperglycemic conditions. The main adverse effect of MG is that it forms stable adducts primarily with arginine residues of intracellular proteins, and induce the formation of advanced glycation end products (AGE) which alters the normal functions (179). In a hyperglycemic setting, ROS production is increased which inhibit the glycolytic enzyme glyceraldehyde – 3 – phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and subsequent upstream triose phosphate glycolytic metabolite accumulation, which leads to production of increased MG levels (179). Generally, the MG that is formed in metabolic reactions undergo catabolism via a rate limiting enzyme called glyoxalase I (GLO I). The accumulation of MG under diabetes or hyperglycemic conditions inhibits HIF-1 α activity and stability in response to ischemia (180).

One mechanism which explains the reduced HIF-1 α activity in presence of MG is that it induces a covalent modification of HIF-1 at arginine 17 and arginine 23 of the bHLH domain which decreases the heterodimers formation of HIF-1 α and β , thus inhibits the binding of the complex to HRE of the target genes (180). Additionally, it was also found that MG forms a covalent interaction with p300, which prevents its binding to the C-TAD of HIF. This was responsible for impaired transcriptional activation of HIF-1 α (181). Also, it was demonstrated that MG caused its increasing association with heat shock protein 40/70 (Hsp 40/70), which in turn recruits heat shock cognate protein 70 (Hsc – 70) interacting protein (CHIP), which is a ubiquitin ligase leading to proteasomal degradation. It is also demonstrated that this reaction does not require hydroxylation of proline residues on HIF-1 α (182) (Figure 2.29).

> The role of ROS in HIF-1 α pathway

Hyperglycemia induces ROS production, which also is capable of modulating HIF-1 α activity. ROS has been found activate PHD and induce post translational modification in the

presence of Fe and increases ubiquitin proteasomal activity (183). Another mechanism that is suggested is reaction of ROS with NO and altering the signaling mechanisms induced by NO in the biological systems (184). NO is identified as a HIF-1 α inducer (185).

Additionally, Rac1, which belongs to a small GTP_{ase} of the RHO family also found to play a significant role in determining intracellular redox status. Further, it also induces HIF-1 α protein and transcriptional activity in response to hypoxia. Therefore, increased ROS levels in diabetes elevate ROS levels which can suppress Rac1 activity, leading to repressed HIF-1 α expression (186).



Int J Med Sci 2013; 10(10):1412-1421

Figure 2.29: Hyperglycemia and HIF-1 α signaling

The covalent modification of p300 leads to inhibition of the interaction of c-TAD and p300, which decrease the transactivation ability of HIF-1 α .

Increased activity of pVHL

Previous publications report that hyperglycemia increase the activity of pVHL machinery leading to increased HIF-1 degradation in fibroblasts. Further, transactivation of C-TAD and N-TAD was also inhibited by high glucose levels (187).

2.3.12 Genes regulated by HIF- 1α

The HIF-1 α mediated regulation of genes that modulate angiogenesis, glucose uptake and metabolism are well established. VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor), which regulates angiogenesis is the most prominent gene regulated by HIF-1 α in vascular biology. Also, many genes that regulate glucose uptake and glycolysis were identified as HIF-1 α target genes (188) (Figure 2.30). Up to date, it was found that HIF-1 α regulates more than 100 genes. Our lab found new two targets which are regulated by HIF-1 α in cardiomyocytes in response to hypoxia. These new targets are

> Adiponectin

> Frataxin



Expert Reviews in Molecular Medicine: Vol. 7; Issue 6; 15 April 2005

Figure 2.30: The cellular processes regulated by HIF-1 α

There, HIF-1a dimerises with HIF-1b, binds to hypoxia-response elements (HREs) within the promoters of target genes and recruits transcriptional co-activators such as p300/CBP for full transcriptional activity. A range of cell functions are regulated by the target genes, as indicated.

2.3.13 Adiponectin

Many studies have emerged highlighting the importance of adiponectin in human cardiac pathologies as well as metabolic diseases. These cardiac pathologies such as coronary artery disease, hypertension and myocardial infarction have been correlated to attenuated circulating adiponectin levels (189-191). Furthermore, hypoadiponectemia is associated with obesity and diabetes (192-194), indicating it's correlation with systemic insulin sensitivity and the ability to directly regulate whole body energy metabolism, including the heart. In healthy lean humans, circulating adiponectin levels range from 2-30 mg/L (195). Adiponectin has attracted much attention lately because of its cardioprotective effects, which are attributed to its anti-inflammatory, insulin sensitizing and antiatherogenic properties (196-198).

Adiponectin is a protein hormone consisting 247 amino acids and is found in chromosome 3q27, which is considered to be a locus that is highly susceptible for the development of metabolic syndrome and coronary heart disease (199-201). Interestingly, single nucleotide polymorphisms in the adiponectin gene have been reported in humans. Some of these polymorphisms markedly reduce plasma adiponectin levels and predispose the carriers to insulin resistance (202). I164T polymorphism is one such mutation (isoleucine is substituted by threonine at the 164th position) that is reported to be a causative factor for hypoadiponectemia and the development of type 2 diabetes. Furthermore, individuals with this mutation are highly susceptible for the development of hypertension and coronary artery disease, suggesting the protective role of adiponectin against development of heart disease in humans (203, 204). Various other polymorphisms in the adiponectin gene were reported in different ethnic groups

that were strongly associated with the development of insulin resistance and increased risk for cardiovascular diseases (202, 205-207).

2.3.14 Cardiac derived adiponectin

Adiponectin, once thought of being exclusively secreted by adipose tissue has now been found to be secreted by human and murine cardiomyocytes as well. The levels of adiponectin produced by cardiomyocytes are relatively low in comparison to amounts produced by adipose tissue; therefore its contribution towards the circulating levels of adiponectin is minimal. However, adiponectin produced by cardiomyocytes can directly regulate cardiac metabolism by AMPK activation. These effects are found to be sequestered via cardiac AdipoR1 and AdipoR2, indicating cardiac derived adiponectin to act via an autocrine/ paracrine mechanism (208). Further work by *Amin et al* has shown that the adiponectin produced by cardiomyocytes is multimeric in form and is functional (209). Cardiac derived adiponectin and cardiac adiponectin receptor expression is significantly reduced in human hearts with moderate to severe dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM). This down regulation of cardiac derived adiponectin was found to be functionally significant and may play a significant role in the pathogenesis of heart failure in humans (210). Furthermore, the exact molecular signaling pathway of adiponectin (systemic and cardiac derived) mediated cardioprotection in humans is not known.

2.3.15 Adiponectin and the diabetic heart

Cardiovascular complications are the leading cause for morbidity and mortality in diabetics (211). Decreased adiponectin levels are observed in patients with type II diabetes (193) and many studies support the predictive nature of low plasma adiponectin for the future development of diabetes (212-214). Furthermore, it was shown that increased plasma adiponectin levels significantly increases insulin sensitivity independent of percentage of body fat and obesity in human subjects (215).

Cardiac sensitivity for adiponectin is altered during the progression of type I diabetes. At the initial stages of the disease both exogenous and endogenous adiponectin fails to protect the heart from cardiac damage sustained from I/R injury, which may be due to significant reduction in AdipoR1 expression in the heart at this stage. The levels of AdipoR1 are restored in the heart as type I diabetes progresses. However, during the late stages of type 1 diabetes, the systemic levels of adiponectin are attenuated and therefore, the cardiomyocytes are more susceptible to damage from I/R injury (99).

The significance of cardioprotection from adiponectin in the diabetic heart is illustrated in db/db mice that were subjected to TAC. The db/db mice developed greater left ventricular posterior wall thickness and increased intraventricular septum when compared to the sham mice. The maladaptive response to TAC observed in db/db mice was ameliorated by adenovirus mediated supplementation of adiponectin (216). Furthermore, short term adiponectin treatment can significantly ameliorate the contractile dysfunction associated with elevated endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress in db/db cardiomyocytes. Adiponectin treatment significantly improved calcium handling and cardiomyocyte contraction in db/db cardiomyocytes (217).

In contrast to hypertrophy and heart failure, myocardial energy substrate utilization shifts more towards fatty acid oxidation from glucose oxidation in obesity and diabetes (218). In diabetic/ obese heart, fatty acid uptake is elevated to a level that cannot be met by the rate of fatty acid oxidation, leading to lipid accumulation and lipotoxicity (26, 219). One of the contributing factors for cardiac contractile dysfunction associated with diabetes and obesity is lipotoxicity (219). Therefore, adiponectin can exert beneficial effects on the diabetic/ obese heart by increasing the efficiency of fatty acid oxidation and utilization and attenuate lipotoxicity. It was observed that adiponectin-AMPK signaling was able to enhance the insulin mediated phosphorylation of Akt, thus stimulate the glucose uptake in primary adult cardiomyocytes (220). Therefore, adiponectin can offer a profound protection against the adverse cardiac events associated with metabolic derangement in the diabetic/ obese heart.

Currently we have preliminary data indicating the presence of HRE sites in the adiponectin promoter. The data we gathered is currently being formulated in to a manuscript.

2.3.16 Frataxin

Frataxin is a nuclear encoded mitochondrial protein. It is highly conserved protein found in both eukaryotes and prokaryotes. The exact function of this protein remains controversial, however, it is identified to play a role in iron homeostasis by acting as a chaperone during Fe-S cluster production in the cells. These Fe-S clusters get incorporated to the active site and facilitate the normal functions of enzymes that are required for oxidative phosphorylation. Further it was also identified as a factor that can reduce ROS production, thus control oxidative stress in the cells. Additionally, some reports claim that it acts as an iron storage protein during conditions of iron overload. Frataxin is primarily located in the mitochondria. Also, frataxin mRNA was abundant in tissues with high metabolic rate such as heart, neurons, kidney and liver (221).

Friedreich's ataxia is an autosomal recessive inherited genetic disorder that results in inability to produce frataxin protein. This leads to disruption of cellular homeostasis and server cardio and neuro complications (222). This disorder is manifested due to extensive GAA repeats found in the first intron of the frataxin gene, which adopts abnormal DNA structures and impair frataxin transcriptions (223). It was also found that the length of the GAA expansion is proportional to the degree of frataxin deficiency in FRDA individuals. Cardiomyopathy arises in patients with larger expansion, and it does not depend on the duration of the disease. However, insulin resistance is usually observed in the later stages of the disease (224).

Frataxin is synthesized as a precursor polypeptide which requires to be proteolytically cleaved to become the mature form. The human frataxin is 210 amino acids long and is targeted to the mitochondria via its N-terminal transit sequence where it undergoes two step proteolytic

digestion mediated by mitochondrial processing peptidase (MPP). The mature form of frataxin is found in the matrix of the mitochondria (225) (Figure 2.31).



Antioxid Redox Signal. 2008 Jun; 10(6):997-1030. doi: 10.1089/ars.2007

Figure 2.31: Maturation of frataxin

Protein processing of human frataxin by mitochondrial protein peptidase- β (MPP- β) is summarized (*top*). The comparison of amino acid sequences between human and yeast frataxin and their cleavage sites by MPP- β is shown (*bottom*).

2.3.17 Frataxin, heme synthesis and Fe-S cluster biogenesis

Many published reports confirm that frataxin is involved in heme synthesis. Downregulation of frataxin is shown to reduce the expression of proteins which regulate heme biosynthesis pathway in both yeasts and humans. Heart cells obtained from frataxin deficient mice demonstrated that downregulation of iron sulfur scaffold protein Iscu, mitochondrial coproporphrinogen oxidase and ferrochelatase which are involved in heme synthesis. Frataxin interacts with ferrochelatase and facilitate the insertion of Fe^{2+} in to protoporphyrin IX to construct heme in the cells (226).



Antioxid Redox Signal. 2008 Jun; 10(6):997-1030. doi: 10.1089/ars.2007

Figure 2.31: The role of frataxin in heme formation and Fe-S cluster synthesis

Frataxin interacts with a complex of the ISC scaffold protein Isu1and the cysteine desulfurase Nfs1, which release sulfur from cysteine. Frataxin also interacts with ferrochelatase and facilitates the heme synthesis through ferrochelatase-mediated insertion of ferrous iron into protoporphyrin IX. Frataxin protects aconitase activity by restoring the aconitase 4Fe-4S cluster.

Further, the role played by frataxin in synthesis of Fe-S clusters is well established. Fe-S clusters are essential cofactors for functioning of aconitase in the Krebs cycle and complexes I & III in the electron transport chain. Therefore, frataxin plays a pivotal role in oxidative phosphorylation. Further Fe-S clusters are required to maintain the normal function of other proteins which regulate purine metabolism, amino acid and heme biosynthesis pathways. Frataxin acts as a chaperone for Fe^{2+} and interacts with ISCU scaffold protein and Nfs1to synthesis Fe-S clusters (Figure 2.31).

2.3.18 Frataxin and hypoxia

Not many literatures are found which reports the role of frataxin played in hypoxia/ ischemia. However, *Guccini et al* reports that frataxin expression is upregulated in several tumor cell lines in response to hypoxic stress. Further, they demonstrate that the frataxin expression is elevated in human tumors in response to hypoxic stress and suggests that frataxin may play a role in tumor cell survival and progression (227) (Figure 2.33).



Cell Death Dis. 2011 Feb 24;2:e123. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2011.5

Figure 2.33: Frataxin expression is increased in response to hypoxia in tumor cell lines (a) FRDA patient-derived B cells (FRDA) and respective control cells (Healthy), human glioblastoma U87, U118, colon carcinoma HCT116 and HeLa cells were placed for different time exposure (24 h for FRDA, healthy control-derived B cells and HCT116, 18 h for U87, U118 and 6 h for HeLa) into hypoxic chamber and frataxin (Fxn), tubulin (Tub) and HIF-1 α expression was analyzed by western blot. Data are representative of 6, 11, 4, 7, 5 and 3 independent experiments for FRDA, Healthy, U87, U118, HeLa and HCT116 respectively. (b) Densitometric quantification of frataxin upregulation. Frataxin expression was normalized with tubulin and frataxin expression in normoxia set to one. Data represent the mean±1 S.E.M. from the different independent experiments for each cell line described in a. *P*-values were calculated with Student's *t*-test and were statistically significant (*P*<0.05) for all cell lines analyzed

3. PPAR γ Activation improves the Molecular and Functional Remodeling of I_{to} by Angiotensin II

Abstract

Patients with diabetes have been shown to have significantly altered renin-angiotensin system (RAS). Recently it has been determined that hyperglycemic conditions induce an increase in angiotensin II expression; specifically by cardiomyocytes. Altered RAS has also been shown to be associated with an increase in oxidative stress and cardiac contractile dysfunction leading to the development of cardiac hypertrophy. The transient outward potassium current (I_{to}) in cardiac myocytes is mainly mediated by members of the Kv4 subfamily of voltage gated potassium channels and has been shown to be altered during the development of cardiac hypertrophy. However it is not clear as to how AT II affects the pore forming complex at the cell membrane and thus directly affects the Ito current, which is the focus of the current study. The current study examines the protective effect of PPAR-gamma (γ) ligands on cardiomyocyte Ito by preventing NADPH Oxidase activation and the ensuing ROS formation. Furthermore short term PPARy activation in diabetic leptin deficient db-/db- mice displayed an improvement in the membrane association of the Kv4 subfamily of voltage gated potassium channel members. These findings demonstrate that PPAR- γ agonist, have the potential to reduce cardiomyocyte specific contractile dysfunction associated with NADPH Oxidase mediated ROS formation.

Introduction

This chapter discusses how diabetes impairs the expression of outward potassium currents (I_{to}) channels in cardiomyocytes. Further, the role played by PPAR γ agonism in rescuing the cardiomyocytes from this diabetes mediated adverse effect will be also discussed in this chapter. The work in this chapter had been already published in current pharmaceutical design journal (Current Pharmaceutical Design 2013;19(27):4839-47).

Diabetes Mellitus (DM) is at epidemic proportions in United States and is associated with increased risk of cardiovascular events which represent a major public health problem. One of the major complications that arise with DM is diabetic cardiomyopathy, which is recognized as a myocardial disease manifested independent of hypertension, coronary artery disease (CAD) and other cardiac pathologies (22). Diabetic cardiomyopathy can be fatal as it significantly increases the incidences of cardiac arrhythmias, including ventricular fibrillation (63). The causative factors for these life threatening arrhythmias are electrophysiological abnormalities which are shown by altered electrocardiograms (ECG). Some of these alterations in the ECG of the type I and type II diabetics include prolonged QT interval and increased QT dispersion (73). The QT interval in an ECG reflects the duration of ventricular depolarization and repolarization and prolonged QT interval is associated with sudden death (228). The QT interval varies between different leads and this range of intervals is referred to as QT dispersion. Increased QT dispersion is associated with increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (229). The reasons for QT abnormalities in diabetes are not completely understood, although cardiac potassium currents have been suspected to be involved.

Findings from a recent study indicate that attenuation of transient outward potassium current (I_{to}) markedly prolonged the QT interval in mouse heart (88). I_{to} is activated and deactivated rapidly in the myocardium and is known to play a major role in regulating the rapid polarization during phase 1 of the action potential (84, 85). Diabetes induces suppression of I_{to} in rodents which result in decreased repolarization rate (89). It was also reported that diabetes can suppress the recovery of I_{to} in the myocardium (90). The main channel forming sub-units of I_{to} are Kv 4.3, Kv 4.2 and Kv 1.4 which differ in their kinetic properties. Additional ancillary subunits such as Kv channel interacting proteins (KChIP) are involved in regulation of kinetics of the main channel forming subunits of I_{to} (230). Diabetes also impacts the expression of the I_{to} channels by attenuating the expression of the channel forming sub units which can cause a reduction in total potassium current amplitude (107, 108). How diabetes induces alterations in the I_{to} channel sub units are not fully known. However, it was observed that angiotensin II (ATII), which is upregulated during diabetes, can profoundly affect the expression of molecular components of the I_{to} (111).

AT II is a peptide hormone and an integral part of Renin-Angiotensin system (RAS), and is known to induce many biological actions in the heart including hypertrophy. RAS which was initially identified as a circulating hormonal system involved in regulating blood pressure. However, many reports emerged supporting the presence of a functional tissue RAS (tRAS) in the heart which has the capability of producing cardiac hypertrophy (58, 231). This intracellular ATII can increase the oxidative stress and apoptosis in the cardiomyocytes. Recently, a significant increase of cardiac tRAS was reported in diabetic rat heart (60). Therefore, the enhanced expression of ATII during diabetes may exert a significant impact on the molecular component of I_{to} and thus lead to alterations in ionic currents in the heart and altered ECG. Therapies that can improve the I_{to} may exert a profound protection against development of life threatening cardiac arrhythmias in the diabetic heart.

In this study, we demonstrate that treatment of Rosiglitazone in cardiac myocytes can ameliorate the AT II induced alterations in pore forming units of I_{to} . Given the prominent role of PPAR γ in regulating cardiac metabolism and its regulatory role in modulating inflammatory response, we hypothesized that PPAR γ may be involved in the protective mechanism against ATII mediated down regulation of the I_{to} . Our results underscore the influence of changes on I_{to} density by AT II and that PPAR γ improves the alteration of the pore forming subunits of I_{to} from the cell membrane. Our findings in the current study indicate that PPAR γ may rescue this effect by preventing ATII induced ROS formation. Furthermore it has been previously shown that both diabetes (db/db mouse model) as well as the infusion of ATII into normal mice for 5 days down regulates the I_{to} , however the exact signaling mechanism to this remains unclear (232, 233). In the current study we demonstrate the mechanism by which I_{to} is down regulated by AT II and diabetes in cardiomyocytes. The findings from this study better portray as to how diabetes associated stress such as ATII influences the down regulation of I_{to} and the potential development of contractile dysfunction.

Given the prominent role of PPAR γ in regulating cardiac metabolism and its regulatory role in modulating inflammatory response, we hypothesized that PPAR γ may be involved in the protective mechanism against AT II mediated down regulation of the outward I_{to} density. Our results underscore the influence of changes on I_{to} density by AT II and that PPAR γ improves the alteration of the pore forming subunits of I_{to} from the cell membrane. Our findings in the current study indicate that PPAR γ may rescue this effect by preventing ATII induced ROS formation. Furthermore it has been previously shown that both diabetes (db/db mouse model) as well as the infusion of AT II into normal mice for 5 days down regulates the outward density (I_{to}), however the exact signaling mechanism to this remains unclear (232, 233). In the current study we demonstrate the mechanism by which I_{to} is down regulated by AT II and diabetes in cardiomyocytes.

Material and methods

Animals:

All animal procedures were reviewed and approved by the Auburn University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. 10 weeks old male db/db and C57bl/6 mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories. Mice were given an oral dose of 10mg/kg of rosiglitazone for 7 days. Cardiomyocytes were isolated from male adult Sprague Dawley rats (8 weeks old) (Charles Rivers). All animals were housed on a 12 hour light: 12 hour dark cycle and provided standard laboratory chow and water *ad libitum*.

Oral glucose tolerance test:

Mice were starved (fasted) for 16-18 hours (overnight) prior to the glucose tolerance test and were given free access to water during this period. The mice were orally challenged with a 1.5mg D-glucose/ kg body weight glucose load. Blood was collected from the tail vein at time intervals: 0, 15, 30, 60, 90, 120 minutes and glucose was quantified using a One Touch Ultra glucometer.

Cardiomyocyte isolation:

Single ventricular cells were isolated according the methods established previously (233). Briefly the rat was anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital (50mg/kg IP) and the heart was then rapidly excised and attached to a Langendorff perfusion apparatus. The heart was then retrogradely perfused for 5 minutes with calcium free oxygenated Tyrode's solution. This was followed by enzymatic digestion in Tyrode's solution containing 0.3mg/ml Collagenase (Type II, 371 U/mg) and 30uM Calcium chloride for 10- 15 minutes. The ventricles were then removed from the heart and minced in to small pieces in Kraft Bruhe (KB) solution. Cells were filtered and slowly acclimated in 15 minute intervals acclimated to small increases in calcium until a 1 mM final concentration in KB solution.

Electrophysiology recordings:

Isolated cardiomyocytes were exposed to AT II (100nM; Sigma-Aldrich) with or without rosiglitazone (10 μ M) for 4 hours. Isolated cardiomyocytes were then transferred to a chamber containing 0.5 ml of 2 mM/L Ca²⁺ Tyrode's solution mounted on an inverted microscope (Nikon). Myocytes are perfused (2-3 ml/min) with 2 mM/L Ca²⁺ Tyrode's solution. Single quiescent ventricular myocytes with clear striation were chosen for patch clamping. Membrane currents were recorded using whole cell patch-clamp method (234) by use of an Axopatch amplifier (Axon, CA) and analyzed by pClamp software (Axon Instruments, CA). Glass recording pipettes were pulled using a glass puller (Narishige, Japan) and fire polished (Narashigee, Japan). To record I_{to} , pipettes were filled with intracellular solution (in mM/L) (80 L-aspartic acid, 50 KCl, 10 KH2PO4, 1 MgSO4, 5 HEPES, 3 ATPNa, 10 EGTA, pH adjusted to 7.4 with KOH). The extra cellular mediums were standard Tyrode's solution containing Co²⁺ to eliminate a Ca²⁺ current (I_{ca}) or a Na⁺ free Co²⁺ to eliminate the tetrodotoxin (TTX) sensitive Na⁺ current, the Na⁺ activated K⁺ current. I_{to} was recorded in the presence of external
tetraethylammonium chloride (TEA-Cl, 50 mM). The resting membrane potential was set to -60 mV. In order to measure the currents, test pulses between -30mV to +50 mV were applied to in 10 mV increments at a frequency of 0.1 Hz. Correct values were obtained by subtracting the TEA-resistant I_{ss} . The bath solution was composed of (in mmol/L): 50 TEA-Cl, 87 NaCl, 4 KCl, 1 MgCl₂, 10 HEPES, 0.5 CaCl₂, 10 glucose, pH adjusted to 7.4 with NaOH. The pipette solution for K⁺ current recording with (in mmol/L): 80 L-aspartic acid, 50 KCl, 10 KH₂PO₄, 1 MgSO₄, 5 HEPES, 3 ATPNa, 10 EGTA, pH adjusted to 7.4 with KOH.

AT II and reactive oxygen species:

The membrane-permeable probe 5-(6)-chloromethyl-2', 7'-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (CM-H₂DCFDA) (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) enters cardiomyocytes and produces a fluorescent signal after intracellular oxidation by ROS such as hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl radical (235). Intracellular oxidant stress was monitored by measuring changes in fluorescence resulting from intracellular probe oxidation. Isolated myocytes were loaded with 1 µmol/l CM-H₂DCFDA (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR) for 30 min. After myocytes were washed, fluorescence intensity from individual cells was measured using an excitation wavelength of 485 nm and an emission wavelength of 530 nm. Cells were sampled at random in each preparation using a flow cytometer. Fluorescence was calibrated with InSpeck microspheres (Molecular Probes) and was used as internal standards. Calibration curves were generated, and cell brightness was measured. The intensities of cells and beads were calibrated by subtraction of the background, and the final result for comparison was assessed by ratio of myocytes from each

group were incubated at room temperature separately in KB Solution with normal glucose concentration as control (5.5 mmol/l), AT II (100 nmol/l), and normal glucose plus hydrogen peroxide as a positive control (H₂O₂, 40 μ mol/l) data not shown. Treatment groups included AT II with or without rosiglitazone (10 μ M), or Candesartin (0.1 μ mol/l), Apocyanin (0.1 μ mol/l), N-acetylcystein (0.1 μ mol/l). All reagents were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, USA). The culture conditions were initiated 30 min before CM-H₂DCFDA was added to the medium. As a positive control 0.5 M hydrogen peroxide was used after an incubation time of 30 min. Cells were harvested, washed three times with Tyrode's buffer and analyzed (3 x 10⁵ cells/sample) on a flow cytometer (Accuri Cytometers. Ann Arbor, MI) equipped with a 488 nm argon-ion laser and a 525 ± 10 nm band pass emission filter.

Gene analysis: quantitative RT-PCR:

RNA was isolated from db/db and C57/bl hearts using Rneasy mini kit (Quiagen). Twostep qRT-PCR was carried out using the iScript cDNA synthesis kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories). Gene expression studies were carried out utilizing Absolute QPCR SYBER Green Mix (Abgene) and an ICycler real-time PCR detection system (BIO-RAD). Real-time PCR data were analyzed using the $^{\Delta\Delta}$ Ct method with beta-actin gene serving as reference.

Western analysis:

Pierce Sub-Cellular fractionation kit was used to isolate the membrane and cytoplasmic components of the isolated adult rat cardiomyocytes. Protein lysates were reduced using LDS

Sample buffer (Thermo Scientific) with DTT and heated 90° C for 5 minutes. The reduced proteins were resolved in SDS Protein gels; 4-20% (Thermo-Scientific) and transferred to a Polyvinylidene fluoride membrane (Millipore, USA). Blots were then blocked (5% milk in TBS-Tween (0.1% Tween)), washed and incubated in primary antibody (1:1000) in blocking solution overnight. Primary antibodies were purchased from; Na,K - ATPase (Cell signaling- Danvers, MA), P47-phox (Santa Cruz, CA), Kv4.3; UC Davis/ NINDS/ NIMH Neuro Mab Facility - Anti Kv4.3 K+ channel, clone 75/41; Anti- KChIP2 K+ Channel, Clone K60/ 73; Anti-Kv 4.2 K+ Channel, clone K57/1, Alpha tubulin; Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank at the University of Iowa. Blots were washed in TBS-T and exposed to secondary anti-mouse/rabbit HRP conjugated antibodies in blocking solution (1:2000 dilution) for 1 hour. After extensive washing, the blots were analyzed by utilizing ECL reagents; Super signal Femto/ SuperSignal West Pico (Pierce) and imaging using a BioRad Gel Doc system. Protein Bands were analyzed by the BioRad software and standardized using the Na,K - ATPase antibody for the membrane fractions as well as α -tubulin. Data were then averaged and statistical analysis based upon 5 individual experiments were then analyzed using the GraphPad (Prism) 5.02 Software using the standard error means.

QT- Interval measurements:

ECG recordings were performed on anesthetized animals from each treatment were using a physiologic data acquisition system (Biopac, Santa Barbara, CA). QT intervals obtained by measuring the duration (ms) between the start of the QRS complex to the end of the T wave.

Statistical analysis:

Unless indicated otherwise, data from four to six independent experiments are shown \pm SE. Statistical significance among the groups were tested with t-test. A *P* value of ≤ 0.05 was considered significant. For statistical calculations, GraphPad-Prism version 5.02 was utilized. Analysis of flow cytometry histograms was done with the free software WinMDI ver. 2.8 (Scripps Research Institute Cytometry Software page at http://facs.scripps.edu/software.html)

Results

PPAR- γ activation protects against the AT II mediated depression of I_{to}

To explore the consequence of PPAR γ activation upon AT II effects on cardiomyocyte I_{to} , we incubated isolated adult rat cardiomyocyte with AT II (100nM) with or without PPAR γ agonist (rosiglitazone, 10µM) for 4 hours and then recorded I_{to} . As shown in (Figure 3.1), treatment of cells with AT II down regulated the I_{to} in isolated cardiomyocytes. This approach is supported by previous findings that show AT II infusion in to rodent models down regulates Kv 4.3 mRNA, which is a key component of the membrane pore forming complex of I_{to} . Furthermore, we also observed that PPAR γ agonist improved the attenuated peak I_{to} density mediated by AT II.

PPAR γ activation improves AT II mediated attenuation of membrane associated densities of potassium channel components associated with I_{to}

To better understand the down regulation of I_{to} by AT II, we measured the membrane association of the pore forming components of I_{to} by western analysis. We found significant alterations in membrane localization of Kv 4.3, 4.2 subunits. The AT II mediated changes in the localization of the components of I_{to} were rescued by rosiglitazone treatment (Figures 3.2 A & B). Further, rosiglitazone improved the AT II induced alteration of KChIP2 in the membrane fraction (Figure 3.2C). KCHiP2 regulates the docking of several molecular components of I_{to} .

The increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS) formation down regulates molecular components of I_{to} (236). Therefore, we hypothesized that PPAR γ exerts beneficial effects on localization of molecular components of Ito by inhibiting AT II mediated ROS formation. Our data indicate that a significant induction of ROS formation by AT II, as measured by flow cytometry from isolated rat cardiomyocytes (Figure 3.3A). In addition, rosiglitazone prevented this AT II mediated ROS formation. To implicate AT II as the direct mediator of ROS formation, we incubated cardiomyocytes with a known AT II inhibitor; Candesarten in the presence of AT II and found a significant reduction in ROS formation. Previously utilization of ACE inhibitors in diabetic and AT II infused animal models resulted in protection against the increase in NADPH oxidase expression in vasculature (237, 238). Increased NADPH oxidase results in formation of ROS. To implicate NADPH oxidase as the central mediator in AT II mediated ROS formation, we applied Apocyanin (NADPH Oxidase Inhibitor) and found attenuated AT II mediated ROS formation (Fig. 3.3 B). To further validate that NADPH oxidase induced the ROS formation by AT II in cardiomyocytes, we utilized a generic ROS inhibitor; N-acetyl-cysteine (NAC) and found that it did not inhibit AT II mediated ROS formation (Figure 3.3 C). Furthermore, the membrane association between p47-Phox and regulatory components of NADPH Oxidase are required for ROS formation (239). We confirm that AT II induces an increase in membrane association of p47-Phox (>70%) by western analysis (Figure 3.4). In addition, rosiglitazone (10µM) attenuated the increase in AT II- induced membrane association of p47-Phox (Fig. 4) (>60%).

PPARγ activation protects against the increase in AT II receptor expression and improves the QT interval in the diabetic heart.

Rosiglitazone treatment improved the QT interval in the diabetic hearts (Figure 3.6). Based on this important functional outcome, we explored a potential mechanism by which diabetes may diminish I_{to} in left ventricular cardiomyocytes. AT II and it's receptors have been reported to increase in the diabetic heart and vasculature in response to hyperglycemia (60, 240). We also have found an increase in gene expression of both AT II receptors Ia and Ib in diabetic (db/db mice) hearts which were ameliorated by rosiglitazone treatment (10 mg/kg) (Figures 3.5 A and B). These findings may be due to the improved circulating glucose levels after rosiglitazone treatment as demonstrated by the oral glucose tolerance test results (Figure 3.5 C). The consequences of the findings from Figure 3.5A and B may explain the how the diabetic heart was measured to have prolonged relaxation as determined by measuring the QT interval.

Activation of PPAR γ improves the membrane association of the pore forming components associated with I_{to} in diabetic hearts.

We observed that the pore forming components of I_{to} in hearts from diabetic mice were dramatically attenuated in membrane association (Figures 3.7 A-C). We believe that this outcome is due to the increase in AT II and its receptors as demonstrated by ours as well as previous reports (60, 240). Interestingly, rosiglitazone treatment improved the membrane association of the pore forming components of I_{to} , as demonstrated by western analysis (Figures 3.7 A-C). Furthermore, as demonstrated in our isolated cardiomyocyte system, AT II induces an increase in membrane association of p47-phox (Figure 3.4). However others have suggested that the elevated ROS levels in the diabetic (db/db) heart maybe due to lipid overload and mitochondrial dysfunction (26). In our study we found an increase in p47-phox membrane association in the diabetic mouse heart which may also contribute to increased levels of ROS formation. Further that rosiglitazone treatment ameliorated this effect (Figure 3.7 D).

Figures and Figure Legends



Figure 3.1: PPAR γ activation protects cardiomyocytes from AT II mediated I_{to} dysfunction. Representative traces of I_{to} were recorded in the ventricular cardiomyocytes from control (A), AT II treated (100 nM) (B) and AT II (100 nM) + Rosiglitazone (10 μ M) (C). Averaged peak I_{to} current-voltage relationships were measured in treated cardiomyocytes. Peak

 I_{to} density vs test potential is graphically represented (**D**). Activation of PPAR γ by rosiglitazone improved the I_{to} density (**E**). Cardiomyocytes were isolated and treated for 4 hours with and without rosiglitazone and or AT II as mentioned in the material section. Currents were elicited by the test potentials ranging from -30 to +50mV from a holding potential of -60mV. Test potentials were changed with 10mV increments at 6 second intervals. Current values in D and E were expressed as current density by dividing the peak current with cell capacitance. Each value represents means +/- SEM. Ten cells from 3 different rats each was used to attain the data. *;P<0.05, **; P<0.005.



Figure 3.2: PPAR γ activation improves attenuated levels of membrane associated densities of potassium channel members related with I_{to} by AT II.

Isolated adult rat cardiomyocytes treated with AT II for 4 hours showed an alteration in membrane localization of the pore the forming components of I_{to} (A) Kv4.3 (B) Kv4.2 (C) KChIP2. However, rosiglitazone prevented AT II mediated effect as demonstrated by western analysis. Sodium-Potassium ATPase was used as a standardizing marker for the membrane

fraction. Data are mean \pm SEM from 4 independent experiments. *; P<0.05, **; P<0.005, ns = not significant.



Figure 3.3: PPAR γ prevents AT II induced reactive oxygen species formation.

AT II (100nM) induces ROS formation which is prevented by PPAR γ activation (Rosiglitazone (10 μ M) in isolated adult rat cardiomyocytes as measured by flow-cytometry using CM-

H2DCFDA (Invitrogen) (1 μ mol/l) (**A**). Both Candesarten and Apocyanin prevented AT II induced ROS formation as measured by flow cytometry. (**B**) N-acetyl cystein (NAC) did not inhibit AT II induced ROS formation (**C**). Data are means \pm SEM from ventricular cardiomyocytes isolated from 4 animals per group for panel A through C. **; P<0.005, ns = not significant.



Figure 3.4: PPAR γ activation attenuates AT II induced NADPH Oxidase activation.

Western analysis reveals that AT II increases the association of p47 phox, a subunit of NADPH Oxidase, with the membrane fraction. Rosiglitazone (10 μ M), prevents the increase in AT II mediated membrane association of p47 phox. Results indicate mean ± SEM from 6 animals per group for the western analysis.*; P<0.01, **;P<0.005, ***; P<0.001.



Figure 3.5: Activation of PPARγ improves the expression of AT II receptors in the diabetic heart.

Two step qPCR analyses demonstrate that AT II R1a (A) At II R1b (B) increased in db/db mouse hearts when compared to hearts from wild type C57 Blk6J mice. Significant reduction is observed in diabetic mice (db/db) hearts after rosiglitazone treatment (10mg/kg). Results from the oral glucose tolerance test demonstrated significant improvement in circulating glucose levels after PPAR γ agonist treatment, rosiglitazone (C).*; P< 0.05, **; P< 0.005, ***; P< 0.0001.



Figure 3.6: Activation of PPAR γ improves the QT-Interval in the diabetic heart.

Prolonged relaxation was observed in the diabetic (db/db) heart as assessed by prolonged QT intervals. Rosiglitazone treatment (10mgs/kg) improved the QT interval in the db/db mice hearts. *; P< 0.05, **; P< 0.005.



Figure 3.7: PPAR γ activation improves membrane association of the potassium channel subunits associated with I_{to} in diabetic hearts. Hearts were isolated from -db/-db and wild type (Wt) mice after 14 days of rosiglitazone treatment by oral gavage (10mg/kg). Protein isolated from membrane fractions were resolved by western analysis for Kv 4.3 (A), Kv 4.2 (B), KChIP 2 (C) and P47phox. Bands representing ion channel expression levels were compared to α -Tubulin. **; P<0.005. ***; P<0.0001

Discussion

Angiotensin II (AT II) is highly up regulated during diabetes and results in the development of cardiac hypertrophy. During the evolution of this process the myocardium undergoes structural changes which, at the cellular level, are characterized by pathological remodeling of K^+ ion channels. Clinical manifestation of these events includes prolongation in relaxation (QT Interval) times. The functional consequence of changes in expression of the pore forming components of transient outward current, I_{to} leads to marked increases in action potential durations in ventricular myocytes and to prolongation of the QT interval in surface ECG recordings (241). In the current study we found a profound protection by PPAR γ activation against depressed I_{to} in AT II treated cardiomyocytes. Therefore the goal of the current study was to explore how AT II attenuates cardiac muscle I_{to} and understand the protective mechanism of PPAR γ activation against this process.

Alterations in the angiotensin II type I receptor depress the transient outward current, I_{to} associated with cardiac hypertrophy, prolong relaxation (QT interval) and lead to development of severe cardiac arrhythmias and premature sudden death (242). Further in the diabetic heart, I_{to} is severely blunted while the delayed rectifying outward current I_k and the instantaneous non-inactivating steady state current I_{ss} remain unchanged (243-246). Further work by *Shimoni et al* indicate that I_{to} was attenuated in the db/db heart at 12 weeks of age and was augmented by quinapril; an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor, which implicates the role of AT II in mediating diabetes induced blunting of I_{to} (245). However the mechanism as to how AT II mediates this process is not fully understood.

Our data from the isolated cardiomyocyte system suggest that the activation of PPAR γ improves AT II mediated down regulation of I_{to} by preventing ROS formation. These data are supported by previous findings which report that activation of PPAR γ by rosiglitazone prevented ROS formation (237, 239, 247). In our isolated cardiomyocyte system as well as in the db/db diabetic mouse hearts, we found that activation of PPARy resulted in significant reduction of p47-phox protein membrane association. P47-phox is a major subunit involved in NADPH Oxidase activation resulting in ROS production. These findings suggest that activation of PPAR γ exerts anti-oxidant properties, which improve the membrane association of the pore forming complexes of I_{to} . ROS formation and accumulation also prevents the palmitoylation and trafficking of caveolin-1 in endothelial cells (237). The core forming units (Kv components) are associated with the caveolin structures in the membrane. Secondly, palmitoylation occurs at the COOH-terminal site of Kv channel components, result in redirection of the channels to either lipid rafts or caveolin for the proper membrane tethering at the specific sites (248). Our results indicate that PPARy activation protects against the AT II induced ROS formation and thus allows the proper membrane association of the core forming proteins for I_{to} .

PPAR γ is a nuclear receptor that serves as a transcription regulator of many genes associated with fatty acid metabolism and energy regulation. However, transcriptional regulation of the I_{to} pore forming subunits by PPAR γ has not been previously reported. Furthermore, we also did not find any significant changes in the mRNA expression of the pore forming subunits after PPAR γ activation in isolated cardiomyocytes as well as in the hearts from db/db mice.

Obese-diabetic rodents experience cardiac dysfunction that may be ameliorated by treatment with PPAR γ agonists (30, 249-251). However there is also great scrutiny for long term utilization of PPAR γ agonists in diabetic patients because of the increased association of heart

failure with rosiglitazone (252, 253). Nevertheless, activation of PPAR γ has cardiovascular benefits in many pathological models associated with cardiac dysfunction (250, 254-256). Furthermore findings from several studies implicate the anti-inflammatory effects of PPAR γ activation in vascular muscle cells and macrophages (239). The mechanisms by which PPAR γ activation endows these cardio-protective effects are not fully understood, but may be due to global metabolic changes. In regards to cardioprotection by the activation of heart specific PPAR γ that heart specific knockout of PPAR γ results in development of cardiac hypertrophy and in cultured cardiomyocytes, activation of PPAR γ protects against adrenergic induced development of cardiac remodeling and hypertrophy (257).

Previous work by Singh et al indicates that the hyperglycemic condition in the diabetic rats induces cardiac specific increase in AT II (60). We also observed an increase in the mRNA levels of the AT II receptors in our db/db mice. However, we found that rosiglitazone dramatically down regulates AT II receptor expressions in the hearts from our db/db mice and may be a result from the improved insulin sensitivity associated with rosiglitazone treatment.

Certain limitations exist in our studies. Hyperglycemia induces ROS formation via several direct and indirect mechanisms. Improvements in circulating glucose levels may also have a synergistic protective effect against ROS formation in the diabetic heart. Therefore the profiles of improved circulating glucose levels by short term PPAR γ activation cannot be neglected as demonstrated in figure 6. However AT II elevation induces cardiac hypertrophy in patients with hypertension and is an underlying mechanism in the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy via the development of ROS.

In summary, the process towards development of diabetic cardiomyopathy involves remodeling of the cardiac muscle architecture. Early phenotypic changes in this process are characterized by altered expression of the potassium channels associated with I_{to} . These changes are central in the development of cardiac dysfunction, including prolonged relaxation and arrhythmias. Our data from the current manuscript suggest up regulation of AT II during diabetes impairs the membrane localization of the molecular components associated with I_{to} in cardiomyocytes. Further the antioxidant properties of PPAR γ activation protects the cardiomyocyte from AT II mediated depressed I_{to} and prolonged QT interval. Previous work by several investigators including ours, shown that PPAR γ activation protects against many forms of stress which induce the development of cardiac hypertrophy (258).

4. Design and development of novel PPAR δ / γ agonists

Abstract

Type 2 diabetes is at epidemic proportions and thus development of novel pharmaceutical therapies for improving insulin sensitivity has become of paramount importance. The objectives of the current study were to develop novel dual PPAR γ/δ agonists without the deleterious side effects associated with full PPAR γ agonists. Docking simulations of 23 novel compounds within the ligand binding domain of PPAR γ/δ were performed using AutoDock Vina which consistently reproduced experimental binding poses from known PPAR agonists. Comparisons were made and described with other docking programs AutoDock and Surflex-Dock (from SYBYL-X). Biological evaluation of compounds was accomplished by transcriptional promoter activity assays, quantitative PCR gene analysis for known PPAR γ/δ targets as well as *in vitro* assays for lipid accumulation and mitochondrial biogenesis verses known PPAR agonists. We found one (compound 9) out of the 23 compounds evaluated, to be the most potent and selective dual PPAR γ/δ agonist which did not display the deleterious side effects associated with full PPAR γ agonists.

Introduction

As discussed in the previous chapter and in the literature review, we and others have found beneficial effects of PPAR γ activation in the heart in various cardiovascular pathologies. TZDs have potent insulin sensitizing action therefore, is beneficial for individuals with type 2 diabetes with insulin resistance. Unfortunately, the TZDs that are currently being clinically used (such as rosiglitazone and pioglitazone) are under strict regulation by FDA due to the adverse off target effects. Therefore, we focused on developing new selective PPAR γ modulators (SPPARM) which retains the agonist potential but devoid of these off target effects. This chapter will discuss in detail the *in silico* techniques we have utilized in designing these drugs and also the approaches we carried out to test the function of these drugs in biological systems. The work in this chapter had been already published (Bioorganic and Medicinal Chemistry Letters 2013; 23: 873-879).

Type 2 diabetes mellitus is at epidemic proportions characterized by excessive cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. Impaired insulin secretion and resistance contribute to the development of the disease. Thiazolidinediones (TZDs) represent a class of drugs that improve insulin sensitivity (259). TZDs were developed more than 20 years ago and are found to improve circulating hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia and increase insulin sensitivity in the liver, skeletal muscle and adipose tissue. In addition, circulating free fatty acids were lowered with a reduction in triglyceride levels. The beneficial effects are exerted by the activation of the nuclear receptor class of transcription factors: PPAR- γ . However, TZDs use is associated with adverse effects such as increased cardiovascular events due mostly to peripheral edema and weight gain (260). The PPARs family of nuclear receptors constitutes three members, PPARs- α , β/δ and γ that are highly conserved in mammals, each forming a functional heterodimeric complex with 9-*cis* retinoic acid receptor (RXR). PPAR β/δ activation is found to be associated with improving overall circulating cholesterol levels (HDL, LDL and triglycerides) and is ubiquitously expressed throughout the body. Recently, it has been reported that overexpression of PPAR β/δ in skeletal muscle improves the glycolytic muscle fiber type in animal models (261). However, agonist for this class of receptors does not have a significant impact upon improving circulating insulin levels. Consequently, as diabetes and metabolic syndrome are associated with defects in glucose oxidation and lipid metabolism, the concept of discovering dual agonists, which can activate both PPAR β/δ and PPAR γ simultaneously, has emerged as a potential therapeutic target for improving outcomes for diabetes. Thus the goal of the current study is to develop a rational mechanism to find new compounds which would activate both PPAR γ and PPAR δ targets without the deleterious side effects of increasing adiposity and weight gain.

To accomplish this task, a joint computational, synthesis, and gene regulation study of potential PPAR γ and PPAR δ ligands was carried out. Twenty-three non-TZD compounds have been designed and synthesized as potential agonists. Docking simulations of the proposed compounds within the ligand binding domain of PPAR γ and $-\delta$ have been performed. Compounds were examined via *in vitro* cellular assays testing the transcriptional regulation of both PPAR γ and PPAR δ targets.

Materials and Methods

Chemical Synthesis:

The general synthesis of compounds 9 and 3-121 are described below.

Compound 9 (*Scheme 1*). Treatment of 4-(Aminomethyl) benzoic acid 2 with Fmoc chloride, Na₂CO₃, dioxane, water, at 0° provided (3). [3] was treated with 2-chlorotrityl chloride resin, DIPEA, COMU, methanol, DCM, DMF, to create (4). [4] was reacted with 3,5-bis (trifluoromethyl) benzyl bromide, DIPEA, sodium hydride, DCM. This was treated with DCM, DMF, piperidine in a 1:1:2 ratio to remove FMOC and generate (5). Treatment of 3-bromopropylamine hydrobromide with FMOC chloride, sodium carbonate, dioxane, water, at 0° provided (6). [6] was reacted with (5), DIPEA, sodium hydride, DCM, DMF to make (7). [7] was treated with 4-methylbenzyl bromide, DIPEA, sodium hydride, DCM, DMF. This was reacted with DCM, DMF, piperidine in a 1:1:2 ratio to remove FMOC to generate (8). [8] was treated with 90% TFA and DCM to remove resin and create our final compound 9.

Compound **3-121** (*Scheme* 2). Treatment of Aminoacetaldehyde diethyl acetal (2) with 2-Mesitylenesulfonyl chloride, 10% NaOH, CH₂Cl₂ provided (3). [3] was treated with 4-(Triflouromethyl)benzyl bromide, NaH, DMF, under nitrogen to yield (4). [4] was treated with HBr, phenol, ethyl acetate to create **3-121**.

Computational Methods:

AutoDock 4,(262) AutoDock Vina,(263) and Surflex-Dock from Sybyl-X(264) were used to dock known and proposed agonists of PPAR-y and PPAR-\delta. Initial Cartesian coordinates for the protein-ligand structures were derived from a reported 1.95 Å crystal structure of PPAR γ (PDB ID: 3ET3)(265) and a 2.00 Å crystal structure of PPAR δ (PDB ID: 3GZ9) (266). In the case of PPAR γ the present model included the active site and all residues within 15 Å of it. Clipped residues were capped with acetyl or N-methylamine groups. The reduced PPAR γ model consisted of ~2,800 atoms and 162 residues out of 275 residues. The PPAR δ model used the protein in its entirety. The protein targets were prepared for molecular docking simulation by removing water molecules and bound ligands. AutoDockTools (ADT) (267) was used to prepare and analyze the docking simulations for the AutoDock and AutoDock Vina programs, whereas Sybyl-X was used to prepare, carry out runs, and analyze the Surflex-Dock simulations. All ligands were constructed using PyMOL (268) with subsequent geometry optimizations carried out using the semiempirical method PDDG/PM3(269-271) and the BOSS program.(272) Polar hydrogens were added, and in the case of AutoDock, Gasteiger charges were assigned. Nonpolar hydrogens were subsequently merged. The protonation state of the ligands was adjusted to the species assumed predominant at physiological pH, specifically, carboxylic acid moieties were deprotonated. Conjugate gradient minimizations of the systems were performed using MCPRO(272) and GROMACS.(273) A grid was centered on the catalytic active site region and included all amino acid residues within a box size set at x = y = z = 70 grid points and 26 Å for AutoDock and AutoDock Vina, respectively. AutoGrid 4 was used to produce grid maps for AutoDock calculations where the search space size utilized grid points of 0.375 Å.

AutoDock Vina details. Standard flexible protocols of AutoDock Vina using the Iterated Local Search global optimizer¹ algorithm were employed to evaluate the binding affinities of the molecules and interactions with the receptors. All ligands and active site residues, as defined by the box size used for the receptors, were set to be rotatable. Calculations were carried out with the exhaustiveness of the global search set to 100, number of generated binding modes set to 20, and maximum energy difference between the best and the worst binding modes set to 5. Following completion of the docking search, the final compound pose was located by evaluation of AutoDock Vina's empirical scoring function where the conformation with the lowest docked energy value was chosen as the best.

AutoDock details. The Lamarckian Genetic Algorithm(274) was chosen to search for the best conformers. The rigid roots of each ligand were defined automatically, and the amide bonds were made nonrotatable. The docking process used for AutoDock mirrored that of a recent study by Perryman and McCammon.(275) For example, 100 conformers were considered for each compound. The population size was set to 150, and the individuals were initialized randomly. The maximum number of energy evaluation was set to 9 x 10^{10} . The docking parameters used were: maximum number of generations was 9 x 10^4 , maximum number of top individuals that automatically survived set was 1, mutation rate of 0.02, crossover rate of 0.8, step sizes were 2 Å for translations, 50° for quaternions, and 50° for torsions, a cluster tolerance of 2 Å was employed, and the maximum number of iterations in the pseudo-Solis-and-Wetsminimization/local search was increased to 3000.

Surflex-Dock details. Following the receptor's preparation, all hydrogens were added and the side chain amides in all Asn and Gln were oriented to maximize hydrogen bonding. Minimization was performed for 100 iterations using the AMBER FF99 force field.(276) Prior to

docking runs, the Surflex docking algorithm(277) required the generation of a protomol(278) -an idealized representation of the binding site that defines the search area. For this purpose, the prepared receptor files were loaded and the protomol generation constructed based on protein residues that constitute the active site, decreasing the threshold and increasing Bloat parameters values to 0.25 and 2 Å, respectively. The threshold has a default value of 0.50 and decreasing this number increases the volume while the Bloat on the other hand has a default of 0 and increasing this value inflates the protomol. During the docking runs, all other adjustable parameters were left at their default values.

Biological Methods:

To validate the specificity of the compounds towards activation of PPAR δ/γ targets, we tested the compounds capacity to activate AP2 PPRE (PPAR γ target) and PDK4 PPRE (PPAR δ target) which was available inserted into PGL3 vectors containing CMV promoters from (ADDGENE). These vectors in association with RXR vectors and PPAR γ or PPAR δ vectors were transfected into HEK-293 cells using Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen). Relative lights units were ascertained using a Glomax Luminometer from Promega Corp. To further validate the physiological effects upon adipocytes of our compounds, 3T3L1 adipocytes were grown, differentiated and drugs were then added to cells for a period of 6 days and compared to cells treated with rosiglitazone (PPAR γ agonist). Recently, strong PPAR δ agonist have been shown to induce mitochondrial biogenesis, thus compounds were applied to C2C12 muscle cell lines in culture for 4 days and mitochondrial genes were measured by quantitative real time PCR.

Results

Compound 9 showed the highest binding affinities for PPAR γ/δ by Autodoc Vina

Of the 23 compounds studied, the calculations predicted compound **9** to possess the highest binding affinity to both PPAR- γ and PPAR- δ (Table 1). Also, according to the calculations compound **9** does not interact with Tyr473 at the PPAR γ binding pocket. Another compound developed, **3-121**, ranked approximately in the lower end of the relative binding affinities of the 23 compounds calculated in both receptors (Table 4.1).

Compound 9 shows least affinity to AP2 promoter

Our luciferase assays indicate that compound 9 has the least affinity for the AP2 promoter, while compound 3-121 induces the promoter activity by 4 fold (Figure 4.5 A). This observation was further confirmed by oil-red-o stain conducted on 3T3-L1 adipocytes (Figure 4.5 B).

Compound 9 has high affinity for PDK4 and promotes mitochondrial biogenesis

Compound 9 activates the PDK4 promoter approximately more than 4 fold, as demonstrated by the luciferase assays (Figure 4.6 A). Further, we observed that the gene

expression for mitochondrial markers was significantly increased with compound 9 treatment in C2C12 skeletal muscles (Figure 4.6 B).

Compound 9 promotes fatty acid oxidation but does not induce lipogenesis

Compound 9 increases the genes that regulate fatty acid oxidation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Further, we observed that the genes that are involved in lipogenesis are attenuated with the compound 9 treatment (Figure 4.7).

Figures and figure legends



Figure 4.1: Synthesize scheme of compound 9.

Reagents and conditions: (a) FMOC, Na₂CO₃, Dioxane, Water, at 0°C; (b) 2-Chlorotrityl chloride resin, DIPEA, COMU, Methanol, DCM, DMF; (c) 3,5-Bis (trifluoromethyl) benzyl bromide, DIPEA, NaH, DCM; (d) DCM, DMF, Piperidine, 1:1:2; (e) 3-bromopropylamine hydrobromide, FMOC Chloride, Na₂CO₃, Dioxane, Water at 0°C; (f) (8), DIPEA, NaH, DCM, DMF; (g) 4-methylbenzyl bromide, DIPEA, NaH, DCM, DMF; (h) DCM, DMF, Piperidine, 1:1:2; (I) 90% TFA, DCM.



Figure 4.2: Synthesize scheme of compound 3-121.

Reagents and conditions: (a) 2 Mesitylenesulfonyl chloride, 10% NaOH, CH₂Cl₂; (b) 4-(Trifluoro-methyl) benzyl bromide, NaH, DMF; (c) HBr, Phenol, EtoAC.



Figure 4.3: Schematic representation of Compound 9 bound to the active site of PPAR- γ (top) and PPAR- δ (bottom) with key residues shown.



Figure 4.4: Schematic representation of Compound 3-121 bound to the active site of PPAR- γ (top) and PPAR- δ (bottom) with key residues shown

PPAR γ		PPAR δ	
Molecule	Affinity	Molecule	Affinity
	(kcal/mol)		(kcal/mol)
9	-12.0	9	-10.8
8	-11.8	4-20	-10.6
7	-11.1	8	-10.6
3-91	-11.0	3-75	-10.4
4-20	-10.2	3-71	-10.2
4	-10.0	3-91	-10.2
3-95	-9.9	5	-10.1
5	-9.7	7	-9.8
6	-9.6	4	-9.6
3-71	-9.4	3-95	-9.5
3-65	-9.4	2	-9.3
3-75	-9.3	6	-9.2
4-21	-9.2	3	-9.2
4-23	-9.2	3-65	-9.0
3-137	-8.8	4-21	-8.9
2	-8.8	3-121	-8.6
3	-8.4	4-23	-8.6
3-115	-8.3	3-115	-8.3
1	-7.9	1	-8.2
3-121	-7.7	3-137	-7.7
3-133	-7.5	3-133	-7.4
4-19	-7.1	4-19	-7.1
3-81	-7.0	3-81	-6.9
Rosi	-9.2		

Table 4.1: Predicted binding affinities for the proposed compounds for LBD of PPAR γ and

PPAR δ



Figure 4.5: The ligand binding domain – Resembles a large Y-shaped cavity starting from the Entrance and extending in to Arm I and Arm II pockets.



Figure 4.6: Compound 3-121 induces activation of AP2 promoter (A) and induces lipid accumulation in 3T3-L1 adipocytes (B) Data are means \pm SEM from 3 independent experiments. Values were set fold change from control. **; P<0.005, ***; P<0.0001



Figure 4.7 - Compound 9 activates PDK4 promoter as measured by luciferase activity. (A). Further compound 9 also activates several genes associated with mitochondrial biogenesis (B).
Data are means \pm SEM from 3 independent experiments. Values were set fold change from control. *, P<0.05, **; P<0.005, ***; P<0.0001.



Figure 4.8: *mRNA analysis of PPAR-\gamma targets.* Rosiglitazone (10µM), GW0742 (10µM), **3-121** (10µM) and **9** (10µM), were applied to 3T3-L1 adipocytes to determine effects on PPAR- γ target mRNA expression levels. a, b, d and f, P<0.05, aa, cc, ee, ff, gg, hh; P<0.005, hhhm *iii*; P<0.0001 when compared to control treated cell mRNA expression levels.



Figure 4.9: Virtual representation of binding of rosiglitazone and compound 9 in the AF-2 domain. Rosiglitazone (grey color) and compound 9 (aqua color) interacting with the amino acids in the AF-2 domain PPAR γ . Note absence of compound 9 binding with the Tyr 473 and increased binding with His 449.

Discussion

The *in silico* design of small molecules that bind to a biological target has made great advancements in methodology in recent years (279). Of particular interest, virtual screening methods that dock ligands into a receptor allow for a large number of compounds to be vetted quickly and have been successfully applied to PPAR γ (280). However, virtual screening methods often neglect important statistical and chemical contributions in favor of computational efficiency (281). To examine the accuracy of the present docking methods, known agonists rosiglitazone (PDB ID: 2PRG),(282) indeglitazar (PDB ID: 3ET3),(265) and D321 (PDB ID: 3GZ9)(283) in PPAR γ or PPAR δ have been calculated using AutoDock, AutoDock Vina, and Surflex-Dock and the resultant poses compared to the crystal structures. The flexible protocols of AutoDock Vina yielded computed RMSD values 0.88, 0.83, and 0.07 Å for rosigilitazone, indeglitazar, and D321, respectively, for all atoms between the controls and the docked conformations. AutoDock's computed RMSD values were 1.87, 1.40 and 1.07, while Surflex-Dock's were 1.16, 1.81 and 0.70 Å for the three agonists. Illustrations of the calculated versus crystal structure binding poses show that AutoDock Vina reproduced the controls significantly better than the other docking programs. Consequently, AutoDock Vina was used to dock and interpret data for the current compounds.

Twenty-three proposed synthetic agonists have been docked into both PPARs to elucidate any favorable interactions with active site residues (Table 4.1). The PPAR ligand binding domain resembles a large Y-shaped cavity starting from the Entrance and extending into Arm I and Arm II pockets (Figure 4.5) (284). Arm I is substantially polar while the Entrance and Arm II are primarily hydrophobic. For most full PPAR agonists, hydrogen bonding typically occurs with Ser289, His323, Tyr473 and His449 (284).

Of the 23 compounds studied, the calculations predicted compound **9** to possess the highest binding affinity to both PPAR- γ and PPAR- δ (Table 4.1). Inspection of the *in silico* PPAR $\gamma/9$ complex suggests that the carboxylate group of compound **9** forms a hydrogen bond at a distance of 2.02 Å with the entrance residue Glu343 while the 2° amine donates a tighter hydrogen bond of 1.85 Å with the polar Ser289 residue of Arm I (Figure 4.5). The noncanonical *X*–H··· π hydrogen bond is of great importance in proteins and the ligand's trifluoromethyl disubstituted phenyl ring is revealed to accept a N–H··· π hydrogen bond of 2.69 Å from His449. It is interesting to note that **9** does not interact with Tyr473, a residue crucial to the stabilization of the AF2 helix H12 which allows the binding of co-activators that lead to the activation of the genes responsible for adipogenesis and insulin sensitivity (285). The results appear consistent with the present lipid accumulation assays, where the binding of **9** lowers the adipogenesis effect of rosiglitazone.

In PPAR δ , however, the carboxylate group of the substrate forms a hydrogen bond of 3.03 Å with Thr289 in Arm I which is part of the His323, His449 and Tyr473 hydrogen bond network involving the carboxylate group of fatty and eicosanoic acids (the endogenous ligands) (284). The 2° amine also donates a H-bond of 2.87 Å to the sulfur atom of the polar residue Cys285 in Arm I. The phenyl ring substituted by a methyl group is located between the Entrance and Arm II and surrounded by the hydrophobic residues Leu330, Leu339 and Phe368 while the trifluoromethyl disubstituted phenyl ring is in close proximity to the hydrophobic residue Leu353 located in Arm II. These interactions could significantly stabilize the ligand binding domain translating to the observation from luciferase assays that determined that compound **9** activates a

direct PPAR- δ target. In general, the calculations suggests that **9** binds in Arm I and the Entrance of PPAR- γ , whereas in PPAR- δ , it binds to Arms I and II of the binding pocket. Another compound developed, **3-121**, ranked approximately in the lower end of the relative binding affinities of the 23 compounds calculated in both receptors (Table 4.1). The ether oxygen atoms of **3-121** accept two hydrogen bonds of ca. 2.17 and 2.86 Å from the backbone NH group of the polar residue Glu343 in the Entrance region of PPAR γ (Figure 4.4). The calculations do not predict binding with any of the polar residues located in Arm I; this appears inconsistent with the experimental assays which point to it mediating lipid accumulation in the adipocytes. The docking studies nevertheless predicted **3-121** to bind weakly to PPAR- δ with the absence of the conserved hydrogen bonding interactions. The results correlate well with results from the luciferase assays indicating that **3-121** did not activate the direct PPAR δ target PDK4.

Although experimental assays have yet to be carried out for compound **3-91**, its computed binding affinity to PPAR- γ implies that it may be a potent activator (Table 4.1). The protein is predicted to form two hydrogen bonds with the isoindole-dione substituent group of **3-91** the hydrogen on His323 and a carbonyl oxygen, and the hydrogen on His449 and the nitrogen at distances of 2.38 and 2.66 Å, respectively. In addition, the OH group of Ser289 also forms a hydrogen bond of 2.57 Å with the N of the isoindole-dione substituent group. This binding mode is consistent with known full agonists, e.g., rosiglitazone.(286) **3-91** does not form substantial hydrogen bonds with PPAR- δ despite having a larger binding affinity relative to **3-121**. As a further point of reference, compound **4-23** ranks approximately in the mid-to-low range binding affinity compared to the other 23 compounds for both PPAR γ and PPAR δ and lacks significant hydrogen bonding in the active sites of both PPARs.

Our transcriptional analysis (luciferase assay) of the compounds suggested that compound 3-121 was a potent PPAR- γ activator as determined by the amount of activation of AP2, a transcriptional gene centrally involved in adipogenesisas well as lipid accumulation. In comparison to rosiglitazone, a known PPAR- γ agonist, **3-121** appeared to be a stronger agonist for PPAR-y than rosiglitazone as determined by AP2 activation and lipid accumulation. In humans, rosiglitazone is found to mediate weight gain by increasing lipid accumulation and edema, which is described to be the deleterious effect of PPAR γ agonist therapy. Recent findings utilizing PPAR δ agonist in diabetic mice have shown that these compounds increase fatty acid oxidation but do not have an effect upon improving insulin sensitivity. These data validate our compound 9 findings, which show that it does not induce ap2 activation nor an increase in lipid accumulation as demonstrated in Figure 4. However, it did increase genes associated with serving as a PPAR- δ agonist as demonstrated in Figure 5a. Over expression of PPAR- δ in skeletal muscle has been shown to increase mitochondrial biogenesis. Compound 9 is shown to induce the PDK4 promoter by PPAR δ activation stronger than commercially available PPAR-δ agonist GW0742, by 2 fold (data not shown). Interestingly, 9 significantly increased COX-412, a transcription factor involved in inducing mitochondrial respiration and biogenesis in response to hypoxia in the heart and maybe a target of research for protection against ischemic injury in the diabetic heart. Improvement of insulin sensitivity in obese-diabetic animal models, have been found utilizing dual PPAR γ /PPAR δ agonists. However the signaling mechanisms were not elucidated. Data from Figure 6 validates that compound 9 significantly activates effectors of PPAR γ , especially those involved in improving energy regulation such as adiponectin, MCAD, DGAT, and PDK4.

In summary, a joint computational and experimental study was carried out to develop a series of compounds that span from full to partial agonists of PPAR γ as well as PPAR δ . Our docking simulations accurately elucidated which compounds would yield strong binding affinities for the PPARs. Of the 23 compounds studied, the calculations predicted compound **9** to possess the highest binding affinity in both PPAR γ and PPAR δ . A detailed analysis of the binding pocket found **9** formed hydrogen bonding interactions with Ser289, Glu343, and His449 in PPAR γ but with Cys285 and Thr289 in PPAR δ . Luciferase assays indicate that **9** partially activated PPAR γ while fully activating PPAR δ . Interestingly, compound **9** is not predicted to interact with Tyr473 of the PPAR γ binding pocket: a residue crucial to the stabilization of the AF2 helix H12 which allows the binding of coactivators that lead to adipogenesis (285). These results appear consistent with the present lipid accumulation assays, where the binding of **9** lowers the adipogenesis yet as seen in Figure 6 activates several PPAR γ targets including adiponectin. Future work will involve further development of **9** derivatives and the effects upon insulin signaling in diabetic animal models.

5. <u>Regulation of frataxin by HIF-1 α in the diabetic heart</u>

Abstract

Diabetes is at epidemic proportions, with the major form of fatality due to congestive heart failure triggered by myocardial infarction (MI). The impaired insulin signaling in the diabetic heart leads to myocardial energy dysregulation that compromises the cardioprotective mechanism against ischemic injury. We observed that db/db mice (leptin deficient, type 2 diabetic mice) have increased infarction size compared to wild type mice after ischemia/reperfusion (IR) injury by TTC stain. We also found that activity of Hypoxia inducible factor-1 (HIF-1 α), a master transcription factor involved in the cardioprotective response to ischemia, is impaired in db/db hearts. HIF-1 α is known to transcriptionally regulate genes involved in myocardial energetics. We recently found that HIF-1 α transcriptionally regulates the mitochondrial protein frataxin in cardiomyocytes as determined by luciferase assays. In vitro studies indicate that hypoxic conditions increase frataxin protein expression in cardiomyocytes as determined by western analysis. Frataxin plays an important role in the Fe-S cluster biogenesis required for aconitase, succinate dehydrogenase and complexes in the mitochondria. Interestingly, we observed decreased expression of frataxin in the ischemic diabetic heart. Therefore, we postulate that attenuated HIF-1 α -frataxin signaling in ischemic db/db hearts leads to abnormally enlarged infarction size in response to IR. The decline in HIF-1 α activity in response to hypoxia was further validated in cardiomyocytes cultured in high glucose media. The significance for frataxin against hypoxic injury was confirmed by utilizing over-expressed frataxin cardiomyocytes via MTT, ATP and aconitase activity assays. Currently we are attempting to identify the hypoxia response element (HRE) in frataxin promoter to further validate the transcriptional activity of HIF-1 α . In addition, we are completing the IR surgeries on HIF-1 α KO mice to address the cardioprotective nature of HIF-1 α - frataxin signaling against MI.

Introduction

We have observed that treatment of PPAR γ exert an increased expression of the HIF-1 α protein in H9C2 cardiomyocytes. Interestingly, we observed that in the db/db hearts and in H9C2 cardiomyocytes grown in high glucose medium, the expression and activation of HIF-1 α is significantly suppressed compared to the controls. In addition we observed that the db/db hearts sustain a larger infarction when subjected to surgical I/R injury compared to c57bl6 control mice. This chapter will focus on our attempt to elucidate our observation of diabetic animals incurring a larger infarction during an I/R injury. Further, our data suggests that PPAR γ agonists can be a potential therapy to mitigate the damage to the diabetic heart when subjected to I/R injury.

Diabetes is at epidemic proportions in the United States, with the major form of fatality is due to congestive heart failure triggered by myocardial infarction (MI). Diabetics sustain extensive cardiac damage when subjected to I/R injury compared to a non diabetic individual. (155). The impaired insulin signalling in the diabetic heart leads to contractile dysfunction and myocardial energy dysregulation, which compromises the cardioprotection mechanism against ischemia/reperfusion injury (IR). Attenuation of this cardioprotection mechanism is associated with increased morbidity and mortality rates observed in diabetic patients.

We have observed that db/db mice (leptin deficient, type 2 diabetic mice) sustain a larger infarction when subjected to IR (>30%) compared to wild type mice. Further, we observed a significant attenuation of Hypoxia inducible factor-1 alpha (HIF-1 α) activity in the db/db hearts

in response to ischemia. HIF-1 α is the master transcription factor that upregulates myriad of genes to promote survival in response to hypoxia. The transcriptional activity of HIF-1 α on genes such as VEGF, GLUT-1, HK-I & II is well established. The activation of these genes offer profound protection to cells and tissues under hypoxic/ ischemic stress. HIF-1 α mediated transcription requires the recruitment of co-activators P300/CBP and binding of this complex to Hypoxia Response Elements (HRE) located in the promoter regions of the target genes.

Attenuated activity of HIF-1 α in response to hypoxia in diabetic tissues and in cells cultured in high glucose medium has been previously reported (178). Interestingly, the elevated formation of MG in diabetic dermal fibroblasts binds covalently bind with p300 and prevent HIF-1 transactivation. MG is a highly reactive by product which is produced by may metabolic pathways. The main adverse effect of MG is facilitating AGE production (181). Interestingly, we observed an increase in MG levels in db/db cardiac tissues and in H9C2 cells treated with high glucose media.

During an attempt to identify the downstream targets that are affected by HIF-1 α attenuation, we found a significant reduction in frataxin (fxn) protein in the diabetic cardiac tissues compared to the control mice. The nuclear encoded mitochondrial protein Fxn plays an important role in the Fe-S cluster biogenesis required for aconitase, succinate dehydrogenase and complexes in the mitochondria. Defects in Fxn expression is associated with genetically inherited diseases such as Friedreich's ataxia (FRDA), which is known to produce sever cardioneurological anomalies (224).

In the current study we observed that HIF-1 α can transcriptionally regulate fxn expression by luciferase analysis. Further, we observed that knock down of HIF-1 α by utilizing RNAi significantly reduced the fxn expression in response to hypoxia in H9C2 cardiomyocytes.

Therefore, we postulate that attenuated HIF-1 α –fxn signaling in ischemic db/db hearts lead to abnormally enlarged infarction size in response to I/R.

In regards, to validate this hypothesis, we have constructed a cardiac specific HIF-1 α knockout mice. Also, we have established a fxn overexpressed H9C2 cardiomyocyte cell line. The details of the animal construction of the animal model and cell line will be provided below. Further, our data suggests that treatment of PPAR γ in the diabetic mice will rescue the attenuated HIF-1 α – fxn signaling in the heart, and will mitigate the diabetes associated extensive cardiac damage when subjected to I/R injury.

Materials and methods

I/ R injury in mice

The experimental protocol and the breeding protocol were approved by the Auburn University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. Animals were housed in Auburn University's Biological Research Facility.

Prior subjecting the mouse to I/R surgery, the animal was weighed and anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital given through intraperitoneally. The animals were ventilated via a tracheotomy tube and blood pressure and ECG were constantly monitored throughout the procedure. Ansthesia was maintained with supplemental doses of pentobarbital. The hearts were exposed by left thoracotomy. Briefly the procedure involves reversible ligation of the proximal left anterior descending (LAD) coronary artery with a 8.0 silk suture mounted on a tapered needle. After 30 minutes of LAD occlusion, the ligature was loosened and reperfusion was completed after 2 hours. Following reperfusion, Evans Blue dye was perfused by an intra cardiac injection to visualize the area at risk. Hearts were then immediately removed and weighed and the tissues were snap frozen for further analysis.

The infarction size of the hearts was determined by the TTC (triphenyltetrazolium) stain. The hearts were cut in to 1.5mm sections. These tissue slices were incubated in 1% TTC solution at 37 C for 15 minutes. Afterwards the heart sections were imaged and analyzed by Kodak Gel Logic 2200 to determine the area at risk and infarct area.

Construction of cardiac specific HIF knock out mouse

To construct the above mentioned animal model, we utilized a Cre – lox P system. The transgenic animals with HIF-1 α gene flanked between 2 lox P sites and mice with Cre recombinase expression driven by α – MHC promoter were purchased from the Jackson laboratories. As the Cre –recombinase expression is driven by the α – MHC promoter which is specific for the heart, the enzyme will be only expressed in the cardiac tissue. Herein, the mice with HIF-1 α gene flanked by lox P sites and mice with cardiac specific Cre recombinase will be referred to as lox P and Cre mice respectively. The information of the strains of the animals purchased is given below.

- \blacktriangleright Lox P mice B6.129 Hif1a<tm3Rsjo>/J (stock number: 007561)
- ➤ Cre mice B6 FVB Tg (Myh 6 Cre) 218 2 MDS/ J (stock number: 011038)

The lox P mice are homozygous for lox P gene and the Cre mice are heterozygous for the gene. From here onwards, the dominant lox P allele will be depicted as P and the wild type allele will be depicted as p. Similarly, Cre dominant allele will be referred to as C and the recessive allele will be depicted as c.

Briefly the breeding protocol is as follows. The lox P mice (ccPP) and Cre mice (Ccpp) will be mated to obtain heterozygotes in the first progeny. We assumed the genes will behave according to the Mendelian genetics and the genotypes for the animals are given below.



50% heterozygotes for both genes are expected in the first progeny.

These heterozygotes obtained from the first progeny will be backcrossed again with a lox P animal to obtain cardiac specific HIF-1 knockout mice.

CcPp * ccPP CcPP – 25% - cardiac specific HIF – 1 a knockout mice CcPp – 25% - Heterozygotes for both genes ccPP - 25% - lox P mice ccPp – 25% - null mice

The mice will be subjected to I/R surgery as explained in detail above.

H9C2 cardiomyocyte cell culture

H9C2 ventricular rat embryonic cardiomyocytes were purchased from ATCC. Cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and 1% pen strep. Cells were passaged when the confluency reached to 70%. Cells treated with high and low glucose media contained glucose at a concentration of 33mM and 5mM respectively. Cells were maintained at 37 C, 5% CO₂ levels with humidity. The cells were treated with rosiglitazone (10 μ M).

Induction of hypoxia in cell culture

Cells were exposed to hypoxia (1% O_2 , 5% CO_2 with N_2 for the balance) in an air tight Billups Rothernberg hypoxia chamber with adequate humidity at 37 C for 18-24 hours. The chemical hypoxia was induced by treating the cells with CoCl₂ (400µM) and DMOG (1mM).

Construction of frataxin over-expressed H9C2 cardiomyocytes

Frataxin over-expressed cardiomyocyte cell line was constructed using a lentivius constructed based on gateway system. First cDNA of frataxin was cloned in to a gateway donor vector with antibiotic resistance for Spectinomycin. Then the donor vector was cloned to a pLX 302 destination vector with ampicillin resistance using LR clonase. pLX 302 is a mammalian expression, lentiviral gateway destination vector. This vector has a puromycin selectable marker.

Then the cells were transformed in to DH5alpha and streaked on agar plates containing ampicillin and incubated at 37 C overnight. The single colonies were isolated and inoculated in liquid broth containing ampicillin. After overnight incubation the plasmid was isolated using Promega pure yield plasmid midi prep system (A2495). The purified gateway vector was co-transfected with lentiviral packaging vector (psPAX2) and envelope vector (pMD2.G) in to HEK 293T cell line. The media with the virus was extracted after the third day of transfection. The media containing the virus was filtered using 0.45µm syringe filters. The 1ml of purified media was mixed with 2 ml of complete media and the H9C2 cells were treated with this mixture for 24 hours. Then the media was changed and the cells were fed with fresh complete media. On the second day the cells were incubated with media containing 1µg/ ml puromycin to select the cells with successful incorporation of the fxn gene.

Promoter activity assays

2.5 kb upstream of the fxn promoter was cloned in to a PGL3 vector using Kpn1 and Xho1 restriction enzymes. Then the vector was transformed in the bacteria and was isolated with the Promega pure yield midi prep system. The H9C2 cardiomyocytes were transfected with this PGL3 vecter and pSV – β – galactosidase vector to enable accurate control for transfection efficiency and indexing of luciferase activity. Then the cells were exposed to hypoxia as explained above and the luciferase activity was measured by luciferase reporter assays system (Promega). β – galactosidase activity was measured by spectrophotometrically using ONPG as a substrate. All values and results were expressed as an index of relative light units (RLU).

Protein extraction and western immunoblots

Proteins were extracted from the dissected heart tissues and the H9C2 cells using chilled lysis buffer (Cell signaling) containing protease and phosphatase inhibitors. Proteins were resolved in 12% polyacrylamide gels and probed with fxn (Santa Cruz), MG (3mM), HIF-1 (Novus, Santa Cruz) and tubulin (Iowa Hybridoma center). Signals were quantified by densitometric analyses using Quantity – One analysis software (Bio – Rad).

Immunocytochemistry

The H9C2 cells were exposed to $CoCl_2$ to induce chemical hypoxia. Another group of H9C2 cells were transfected with constitutively active HIF-1 α and were cultured in normoxia. After 18 hours, the mitochondria was stained with Mitotracker - red (150nM – Invitrogen) and incubated with fxn. Then the cells were probed with secondary antibody conjugated with FITC. Fluorescence microscopy was performed using a Nikon Ti fluorescence microscope.

Results

HIF-1 α attenuate the infarction size in the diabetic heart

To better understand the impact of diabetes on cardiac injury during ischemia, we conducted I/R surgeries in db/db mice and c57bl6 wild type mice. We observed a significant increase in the infarction size in db/db hearts. Interestingly, we observed a significant protection offered by DMOG treatment (40mg/kg) prior the animals are subjected to IR injury in both wild type and db/db mice (>20%). We have subjected HIF-1 α heterozygote animals to I/R surgery and these mice sustained extensive cardiac damage which is comparable to db/db mice (Figure 5.1).

Diabetes can impact adversely on HIF-1 α localization in the nucleus

We observed a reduction of HIF-1 α localization in the nucleus of the diabetic animals and also in H9C2 cells cultured in high glucose media (33mM). The nuclear proteins isolated from the cardiac tissues of db/db animals treated with DMOG significantly had attenuated levels of HIF-1 a localized in the nucleus compared to c57bl6 control mice (Figure 5.2 A). Previously, it has been shown that insulin can stabilize the HIF-1 α expression via Akt/ PI3K pathway. We also observed an increased expression of HIF-1 α protein in H9C2 cells treated with insulin (100nM) cultured under normoxic conditions (Figure 2B). We also observed an increase in HIF- 1 α localization in the nucleus in H9C2 cells after exposure to hypoxia (Figures 5.2 C1 and C2). Further, we observed that HIF-1 α localization is significantly impaired in H9C2 cardiomyocytes cultured in high glucose medium (33mM) (Figure 5.2 C3). DMOG treatment improves the HIF-1 expression (Figure C4) and use of constitutively active HIF-1 a vector also promote HIF-1 localization in the nucleus in normoxic conditions (Figure 5.2 C5).

High glucose and hypoxia induce the formation of MG in cardiomyocytes

MG is known to inhibit the transactivation of HIF-1 α in dermal fibroblasts of diabetic animals (181). Therefore, we assessed the MG levels in the cardiac tissues and the H9C2 cardiomyocytes to explain the low transactivation of HIF-1 α we observed. We observed approximately four fold increase of MG in db/db cardiac tissues (Figures 5.3 A & B). Interestingly we observed that the MG formation is increased in H9C2 cardiomyocytes exposed to hypoxia. The cells cultured in 33mM glucose media exposed to hypoxia had the highest levels of MG (Figure 5.3C). By immunocytochemistry, we observed that the H9C2 cultured in high glucose medium contained elevated levels of MG (Figure 3D1) and most of this MG is associated with the CBP in the nucleus (Figures 5.3 D2, D3 & D4).

Diabetes down regulates the active frataxin protein levels in the heart

We observed a significant reduction of the active version of frataxin (18kDa) in the db/db hearts (Figure 5.4 A). Our gene expression studies confirm that the diabetic cardiac tissues have a significant reduction in frataxin gene expression (Figure 5.4 B1). Densitometry analysis confirms that the active/ inactive ratio of frataxin is significantly lower in the db/ db hearts.

HIF-1 α increases the expression of frataxin

We transfected the cells with a PGL3 luciferase vector containing 2.5 kB region of the frataxin promoter. This vector was co transfected with another vector which transcribe HIF-1 α . Then the cells were treated with CoCl₂ for 18 hours and the luciferase activity was measured after 18 hours. We observed a 2 fold increase in luciferase activity in cells transfected with HIF-1 α after normalization to β – gal values (Figure 5.5 A).

Our immunocytochemistry analysis shows that frataxin is localized in mitochondria and the cytosol under normoxic conditions (Figure 5.5 B1). However, when the cells are exposed to 18 hours of hypoxic conditions, we observed that frataxin is localized predominantly in to the mitochondria in H9C2 cells. Further, we observed the same effect when the cells were transfected with constitutively active HIF-1 α under normoxic conditions (Figure 5.5 B3). The increase in frataxin expression by HIF-1 α was further validated by immunoblots. Our western analysis indicates that treatment of H9C2 cells with CoCl2 and DMOG for 18 – 24 hours significantly increased the total frataxin expression in the cells. The direct effects of HIF-1 α on

frataxin was further utilized using a RNAi system to knock down frataxin. Figure D shows that the HIF-1 a expression is significantly attenuated with RNAi. Further, there was a significant increase in frataxin expression in the cells treated with $CoCl_2$. This effect was ameliorated in the group that is treated with $CoCl_2$ and RNAi for HIF-1 α .

Over expression of frataxin increases the cell viability compared to the control after 24 hours of exposure to hypoxia

To determine the effects of increased frataxin levels under hypoxic conditions we constructed a frataxin overexpressed H9C2 cardiomyocytes by utilizing a lentiviral system. The figure 5.6 A demonstrates that the frataxin expression is significantly elevated in our frataxin over expressed cardiomyocytes. We exposed the normal H9C2 cardiomyocytes and frataxin over expressed cells to 24 hours of hypoxia and the cell viability was assessed with MTT assays. We observed that the frataxin over expressed myocytes can retain the cell viability comparable to the control cells (Figure 5.6 B).

PPAR *γ* activation significantly rescue the infarction in db/db hearts

As mentioned previously in this chapter, we observed that the db/db hearts sustain extensive cardiac damage when subjected to I/R injury compared to the control mice. However, we observed that 14 days of PPAR g treatment (10mg/ kg) significantly reduced the infarction size in both wildtype and the db/db mice (Figure 5.7). In order to find out the mechanism behind this protection offered by the PPAR γ treatment, we conducted promoter activity assays. We cotransfected the cells with PGL3 vector containing HRE region and constitutively active PPAR γ (CA – PPAR γ) vector. Our luciferase data implicate that CA – PPAR γ significantly increase the luciferase values which implicate that PPAR γ can indirectly/ directly activate the transcription of HIF-1 α (Figure 5.7 E).

Figure and figure legends



Figure 5.1: HIF-1 α mitigates ischemia reperfusion injury in c57bl6 and diabetic hearts

(A) Sham surgery. (B) Ischemia/reperfusion injury in wild type C57bl6 mice. (C) DMOG reduces the infarct size in C57bl6 hearts. (D) Infarction in db/db mouse is larger in comparison to C57bl6. (E) DMOG attenuates enlargement of infarction size in the db/db mouse heart. (F) HIF-1 α heart specific knockout mice display large infarction in the hearts. (G) Graphical representations for measured infarction sizes compared to areas at risk. Where n=4 per group.*; P<0.05. Where n=4 per group.***; P<0.0001



Figure 5.2: Alteration of HIF-1 localization in the diabetic heart

HIF-1 α localizes to the nuclei after DMOG (40 mg/kg) prior to heart enucleation. (A) Western analysis of left ventricular nuclear preps from Wt: wild type mice, HF: High fat diet, db/db: leptin deficient mice hearts, n=3 mice per group. HIF-1 α is standardized to nuclear laminin B. (B) Insulin stabilizes HIF-1 α levels in H9C2 cells. (C1) HIF-1 α is localized in H9C2 cells under normoxia. (C2) HIF-1 α is localized in the nucleus after hypoxia. (C3) High glucose prevents the localization of HIF-1 α in the nucleus in response to hypoxia. (C4) DMOG improves HIF-1 α expression after hypoxia. (C5) Mutant HIF-1 α increased nuclear localization in normoxic conditions. Note levels in all panels of faint cytosolic HIF-1 α (green) and nuclear HIF-1 α (Yellow). Red is nuclear staining.





Figure 5.3: High glucose and hypoxia induce formation of methylglyoxal

(A) & (B) Db/db and high fat diet display more methyl glyoxal (MG) levels than wild type hearts as determined by western analysis. N=3 mice per group. (C) H9C2 cells cultured in low glucose

medium (LG) (5mM) and high glucose (HG) (33mM) show higher levels of MG than nonhypoxia high glucose or low glucose (LG) with or without hypoxia. (**D1**) H9C2 cells in high glucose (33 mM) show high levels of MG (Red) after hypoxia. (**D2**) CBP (**D3**) Dapi. (**D4**) High glucose (33mM) after hypoxia induces high levels of methylglyoxal (red).



Figure 5.4: Diabetes down regulates the active version of frataxin

(A) Reduced expression of the active version (18kDa) of frataxin is found in diabetic (db/db) hearts as demonstrated by western analysis. (B1) Db/db hearts have significantly reduced frataxin gene expression in cardiac tissues. (B2) The protein expression of active frataxin/ inactive frataxin ratio is significantly attenuated in the db/db hearts.



B1



B3





156



Figure 5.5: HIF-1α increases the expression of Frataxin

(A) Frataxin expression is significantly increased in the presence of HIF-1 α . Transcriptional activity verifies that HIF-1 α regulates frataxin expression in the 2.5 kbp region of the frataxin promoter, which indicates the transcriptional regulation role of HIF-1 α . (B1), Frataxin (green) is localized in cytosol and mitochondria (red) under normoxia. (B2) Hypoxia induces increased frataxin localization in mitochondria. (B3) Over expression of constitutively active HIF-1 α induces mitochondrial localization of frataxin. (C) 18 and 24 hours of hypoxia, either by hypoxia (H), Cobalt chloride (Co) or DMOG (D) induce an increase in frataxin expression as determined by western analysis. (D) RNAi for HIF-1 a significantly reduce the HIF-1 α expression with CoCl2 treatment. Further, CoCl₂ treatment significantly increased the frataxin expression while HIF RNAi ameliorate this effect.



Figure 5.6: Over-expression of frataxin increases the cell viability

(A) Frataxin expression is significantly increased with the lentiviral infection. (B) Hypoxia (24 hours) reduced the mitochondrial activity (cell viability) as determined by MTT assay in control H9C2 cells. Frataxin over expressing cells have significant improvement in mitochondrial activity under hypoxia vs control H9C2 cells under hypoxia.



Figure 5.7: PPAR γ activation significantly rescue the infarction in the db/db hearts

The wild type mice had less infarction size compared to the db/db animals when subjected I/R surgery. Rosiglitazone treatment significantly reduced the infarction in both wild type and db/db animals. (A) Wild type (B) Wild type treated with rosiglitazone (c) db/db (d) db/db treated with rosiglitazone. Our luciferase assays demonstrate that rosiglitazone treatment and transfection of CA – PPAR g significantly increase the HRE luciferase activity.

Discussion

Many clinical and epidemiolgocial studies show that the hearts of diabetic individuals are more sensitive to I/R injury. This leads to higher mortality rates amongst diabetics than that of non diabetics having a heart attack. Experimental studies on transgenic diabetic animal models also implicate the susceptibility of attaining a larger infarction by I/R injury compared to the non diabetic controls. The increase in infarction size and impaired recovery observed diabetic individuals and animal models are attributed to multiple factors. One such factor is altered metabolic substrate utilization in the diabetic myocardium. Additionally, increased oxidative stress is also identified as a risk factor for incurring extensive cardiac damage due to I/R in the diabetic hearts (287).

The altered metabolism and increased oxidative stress in the diabetic heart alters many biological signaling pathways. It has been found that the transcriptional activity of HIF-1 α is attenuated in response to hypoxia in many diabetic tissues. HIF-1 α activation protects the cells/ tissues from hypoxic damage by increasing the transcription of protective genes that regulate angiogenesis and metabolism. The increased MG formation in the diabetic dermal fibroblasts found to interact with CBP/ p300 and prevent it from binding it to HIF-1 α . This significantly attenuate the transactivation of HIF-1 α in response to ischemia/ hypoxia and suppresses the protection offered by HIF-1 α .

We also observed an increase in the infarction when the db/db animals were subjected to I/R injury. Interestingly we observed that the prior treatment with DMOG (40mg/kg) in db/db mice offered a profound protection against I/R injury in the db/db hearts (Figure 5.1). In order to explain these observations, we analyzed the HIF-1 α localization in to the nucleus in these

hearts. Compared to the controls mice, the db/db hearts had significantly attenuated levels of HIF-1 α localized with the DMOG treatment. This data suggested that in the db/db heart may have impaired HIF-1 α stabilization levels or impaired transactivation. Our cell culture data further consolidated the findings from the animals (Figure 5.2). We observed that the H9C2 cells cultured in high glucose media (33mM) also had less HIF-1 α localized in the nucleus after hypoxia treatment (Figure 5.2).

To better explain the impaired transactivation of HIF-1 α in the diabetic tissues, we measure the MG levels in our db/db cardiac tissues. Interestingly we observed a significant increase in MG levels in diabetic hearts. Further, we observed that the H9C2 cardiomyocytes grown in high glucose media produce increased levels of MG in response to hypoxia compared to the cells grown with low glucose medium (5mM). It is well established that the MG formation is increased in the tissues and cells under hyperglycemia. This is because increased availability of glucose and the attenuation of removal mechanisms of MG in the cells. However, how MG production increases in the presence of hypoxia remains to be further elucidated. The immunocytochemistry studies also confirmed that increased MG production in H9C2 cardiomyocytes exposed to high glucose. Further, we observed that most of this MG is colocalized to CBP which is a necessary cofactor for HIF-1 α under hyperglycemic conditions in cardiomyocytes.

In order to identify the novel downstream targets which are modulated by HIF-1 α , we found that the expression of frataxin is significantly induced when the H9C2 cells exposed to chemical hypoxia (Figure 5.4). Frataxin is a nuclear encoded mitochondrial protein, which plays a vital role in iron homeostasis in the mitochondria. This protein acts as a chaperone protein in

biosynthesis of heme. Also, it is required for formation of Fe-S clusters which are prosthetic groups much needed for the proper functioning of aconitase, succinate dehydrogenase and also the complex I and III of the electron transport system. Therefore, frataxin plays a pivotal role in regulating cellular metabolism and oxidative stress. The work by *Guccini et al* demonstrates that frataxin expression is increased in response to hypoxia in tumor cell lines and tissues. This work suggests that frataxin expression promotes cell survival and progression in cancer. However, the role of frataxin in hypoxia/ ischemia has not been studied extensively.

Our immunocytochemistry data also shows that frataxin predominantly gets localized in the mitochondria due to a hypoxic insult. Furthermore, we observed less expression of frataxin in H9C2 cardiomyocytes transfected with RNAi system for HIF-1 α . This observation led us to formulate a hypothesis that HIF-1 may have the potential to transcriptionally regulate frataxin expression in hypoxia.

We utilized luciferase assays to test whether HIF-1 α can transcriptionally regulate frataxin in response to hypoxia in cardiomyocytes. A PGL3 vector containing 2.5kB upstream of frataxin promoter was cloned and transfected to the cells. We observed that the luciferase activity is increased more than 2 fold in the cells co transfected with HIF-1 α vector and chemical hypoxia. These data suggest that HIF-1 α can directly/ indirectly regulate frataxin expression in hypoxia. Future studies will include conducting ChIP assays to further validate whether HIF-1 α directly regulate transcriptional activity in response to hypoxia in cardiomyocytes.

To further explore the protective effects of frataxin in cardiomyocytes, we constructed a frataxin over-expressed H9C2 cardiomyocyte cell line using a lentiviral system. We assessed the cell viability of these cells and normal H9C2 cells after exposure to hypoxia for 24 hours. Our

162
MTT assay demonstrates that over-expression of frataxin protects the cell viability comparable to control cells. This suggests that frataxin expression exerts beneficial effects and promote cell survival under hypoxic insult (Figure 5.6).

Our data confirms attenuation of HIF-1 α in response to hypoxia/ ischemia in hyperglycemic conditions in cells as well as in tissues. Identification of potential therapeutic targets to increase the HIF-1 α expression in the diabetic heart may offer a profound protection against I/R injury and improve the recovery in diabetic individuals. Previously we have found that PPAR γ activation can increase the HIF-1 α activity in cardiomyocytes. The promoter activity assays we conducted by utilizing a PGL3 vector which has HRE, indicated a significant increase in activity with PPAR γ treatment. We observed the same results with cells transfected with a constitutively active PPAR γ vector (Figure 5.7). These data confirms that the PPAR γ agonism may have a direct/ indirect transcriptional activity on HIF-1 α . The *in silico* studies we have conducted validate the presence of PPRE regions in the upstream of 2.5kB of HIF-1 α promoter. Further, studies are required to validate the functionality of the PPRE sites we found in the HIF-1 α gene promoter. We also observed a significant protection against I/R injury in db/db animals treated with rosiglitazone (10mg/kg) for 14 days.

Future directions:

We have constructed a transgenic cardiac specific HIF-1 α knockout mouse in our lab. We will utilize these mice to validate the HIF-1 α - frataxin signaling in response to I/R injury in the heart. Further, we will induce diabetes in these mice by feeding a high fat diet to explore the effects of diabetes on HIF-1 α - frataxin signaling. We will conduct further analysis on our frataxin over-expressed H9C2 cardiomyocytes to identify the protective mechanisms offered by frataxin in response to hypoxia. Also, we are at the final stage of constructing a frataxin knock down H9C2 cell line as well. If we are able to produce this cell line successfully, it will be utilized to further validate the role of frataxin during hypoxic stress. ChiP assays, and point directed mutagenesis will be carried out to validate the direct transcriptional regulation of HIF-1 α on frataxin gene.



Figure 2.8 Confirmation of the cardiac specific HIF-1 α knockout animal model

(A) Cre blot: Cre band indicates the presence of the Cre gene driven by the α - MHC promoter. (B) The gel image for the presence of lox P gene. (1) Heterozygous HIF-1 α knockout (CcPp) (2) Homozygous cardiac specific knockout (CcPP) (3) Lox P animal (ccPP) (4) null (ccPp)

References:

1. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes care. 2004;27 Suppl 1:S5-S10. Epub 2003/12/25.

2. Katz DL. Diet and Diabetes: Lines and Dots. The Journal of nutrition. 2014. Epub 2014/02/07.

3. Canivell S, Gomis R. Diagnosis and classification of autoimmune diabetes mellitus. Autoimmunity reviews. 2014. Epub 2014/01/16.

4. Davies JL, Kawaguchi Y, Bennett ST, Copeman JB, Cordell HJ, Pritchard LE, et al. A genome-wide search for human type 1 diabetes susceptibility genes. Nature. 1994;371(6493):130-6. Epub 1994/09/08.

5. Fourlanos S, Narendran P, Byrnes GB, Colman PG, Harrison LC. Insulin resistance is a risk factor for progression to type 1 diabetes. Diabetologia. 2004;47(10):1661-7. Epub 2004/10/14.

6. Lin Y, Sun Z. Current views on type 2 diabetes. The Journal of endocrinology. 2010;204(1):1-11. Epub 2009/09/23.

7. Kahn SE, Prigeon RL, McCulloch DK, Boyko EJ, Bergman RN, Schwartz MW, et al. Quantification of the relationship between insulin sensitivity and beta-cell function in human subjects. Evidence for a hyperbolic function. Diabetes. 1993;42(11):1663-72. Epub 1993/11/01.

8. Rubler S, Dlugash J, Yuceoglu YZ, Kumral T, Branwood AW, Grishman A. New type of cardiomyopathy associated with diabetic glomerulosclerosis. The American journal of cardiology. 1972;30(6):595-602. Epub 1972/11/08.

9. Kannel WB, Hjortland M, Castelli WP. Role of diabetes in congestive heart failure: the Framingham study. The American journal of cardiology. 1974;34(1):29-34. Epub 1974/07/01.

10. Brand FN, Kannel WB, Evans J, Larson MG, Wolf PA. Glucose intolerance, physical signs of peripheral artery disease, and risk of cardiovascular events: the Framingham Study. American heart journal. 1998;136(5):919-27. Epub 1998/11/13.

11. Malmberg K, Ryden L. Effect of insulin-glucose infusion on mortality following acute myocardial infarction in patients with diabetes: the diabetes and insulin-glucose infusion in acute myocardial infarction studies. Seminars in thoracic and cardiovascular surgery. 2006;18(4):326-9. Epub 2007/03/31.

12. van Hoeven KH, Factor SM. A comparison of the pathological spectrum of hypertensive, diabetic, and hypertensive-diabetic heart disease. Circulation. 1990;82(3):848-55. Epub 1990/09/01.

13. Regan TJ, Lyons MM, Ahmed SS, Levinson GE, Oldewurtel HA, Ahmad MR, et al. Evidence for cardiomyopathy in familial diabetes mellitus. The Journal of clinical investigation. 1977;60(4):884-99. Epub 1977/10/01.

14. Schalkwijk CG, Baidoshvili A, Stehouwer CD, van Hinsbergh VW, Niessen HW. Increased accumulation of the glycoxidation product Nepsilon-(carboxymethyl)lysine in hearts of diabetic patients: generation and characterisation of a monoclonal anti-CML antibody. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2004;1636(2-3):82-9. Epub 2004/05/29.

15. Heckbert SR, Post W, Pearson GD, Arnett DK, Gomes AS, Jerosch-Herold M, et al. Traditional cardiovascular risk factors in relation to left ventricular mass, volume, and systolic function by cardiac magnetic resonance imaging: the Multiethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2006;48(11):2285-92. Epub 2006/12/13.

16. Barouch LA, Berkowitz DE, Harrison RW, O'Donnell CP, Hare JM. Disruption of leptin signaling contributes to cardiac hypertrophy independently of body weight in mice. Circulation. 2003;108(6):754-9. Epub 2003/07/30.

17. Kim M, Oh JK, Sakata S, Liang I, Park W, Hajjar RJ, et al. Role of resistin in cardiac contractility and hypertrophy. Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology. 2008;45(2):270-80. Epub 2008/07/04.

18. Karason K, Sjostrom L, Wallentin I, Peltonen M. Impact of blood pressure and insulin on the relationship between body fat and left ventricular structure. European heart journal. 2003;24(16):1500-5. Epub 2003/08/16.

19. Poirier P, Bogaty P, Garneau C, Marois L, Dumesnil JG. Diastolic dysfunction in normotensive men with well-controlled type 2 diabetes: importance of maneuvers in echocardiographic screening for preclinical diabetic cardiomyopathy. Diabetes care. 2001;24(1):5-10. Epub 2001/02/24.

20. Christoffersen C, Bollano E, Lindegaard ML, Bartels ED, Goetze JP, Andersen CB, et al. Cardiac lipid accumulation associated with diastolic dysfunction in obese mice. Endocrinology. 2003;144(8):3483-90. Epub 2003/07/17.

21. Schannwell CM, Schneppenheim M, Perings S, Plehn G, Strauer BE. Left ventricular diastolic dysfunction as an early manifestation of diabetic cardiomyopathy. Cardiology. 2002;98(1-2):33-9. Epub 2002/10/10.

22. Fang ZY, Prins JB, Marwick TH. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: evidence, mechanisms, and therapeutic implications. Endocrine reviews. 2004;25(4):543-67. Epub 2004/08/06.

23. Vered A, Battler A, Segal P, Liberman D, Yerushalmi Y, Berezin M, et al. Exerciseinduced left ventricular dysfunction in young men with asymptomatic diabetes mellitus (diabetic cardiomyopathy). The American journal of cardiology. 1984;54(6):633-7. Epub 1984/09/01.

24. Karlefors T. Haemodynamic studies in male diabetics. Acta medica Scandinavica Supplementum. 1966;449:45-80. Epub 1966/01/01.

25. Lopaschuk GD, Belke DD, Gamble J, Itoi T, Schonekess BO. Regulation of fatty acid oxidation in the mammalian heart in health and disease. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 1994;1213(3):263-76. Epub 1994/08/04.

26. Abel ED, Litwin SE, Sweeney G. Cardiac remodeling in obesity. Physiological reviews. 2008;88(2):389-419. Epub 2008/04/09.

27. Boudina S, Abel ED. Diabetic cardiomyopathy revisited. Circulation. 2007;115(25):3213-23. Epub 2007/06/27.

28. Sharma S, Adrogue JV, Golfman L, Uray I, Lemm J, Youker K, et al. Intramyocardial lipid accumulation in the failing human heart resembles the lipotoxic rat heart. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2004;18(14):1692-700. Epub 2004/11/04.

29. Szczepaniak LS, Dobbins RL, Metzger GJ, Sartoni-D'Ambrosia G, Arbique D, Vongpatanasin W, et al. Myocardial triglycerides and systolic function in humans: in vivo evaluation by localized proton spectroscopy and cardiac imaging. Magnetic resonance in medicine : official journal of the Society of Magnetic Resonance in Medicine / Society of Magnetic Resonance in Medicine. 2003;49(3):417-23. Epub 2003/02/21.

30. Zhou YT, Grayburn P, Karim A, Shimabukuro M, Higa M, Baetens D, et al. Lipotoxic heart disease in obese rats: implications for human obesity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2000;97(4):1784-9. Epub 2000/03/04.

31. Belke DD, Betuing S, Tuttle MJ, Graveleau C, Young ME, Pham M, et al. Insulin signaling coordinately regulates cardiac size, metabolism, and contractile protein isoform expression. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2002;109(5):629-39. Epub 2002/03/06.

32. Russell RR, 3rd, Yin R, Caplan MJ, Hu X, Ren J, Shulman GI, et al. Additive effects of hyperinsulinemia and ischemia on myocardial GLUT1 and GLUT4 translocation in vivo. Circulation. 1998;98(20):2180-6. Epub 1998/11/17.

33. Liedtke AJ, DeMaison L, Eggleston AM, Cohen LM, Nellis SH. Changes in substrate metabolism and effects of excess fatty acids in reperfused myocardium. Circulation research. 1988;62(3):535-42. Epub 1988/03/01.

34. Belke DD, Larsen TS, Gibbs EM, Severson DL. Altered metabolism causes cardiac dysfunction in perfused hearts from diabetic (db/db) mice. American journal of physiology Endocrinology and metabolism. 2000;279(5):E1104-13. Epub 2000/10/29.

35. Boudina S, Sena S, Theobald H, Sheng X, Wright JJ, Hu XX, et al. Mitochondrial energetics in the heart in obesity-related diabetes: direct evidence for increased uncoupled respiration and activation of uncoupling proteins. Diabetes. 2007;56(10):2457-66. Epub 2007/07/12.

36. van der Vliet A. NADPH oxidases in lung biology and pathology: host defense enzymes, and more. Free radical biology & medicine. 2008;44(6):938-55. Epub 2008/01/01.

37. Serpillon S, Floyd BC, Gupte RS, George S, Kozicky M, Neito V, et al. Superoxide production by NAD(P)H oxidase and mitochondria is increased in genetically obese and hyperglycemic rat heart and aorta before the development of cardiac dysfunction. The role of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase-derived NADPH. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2009;297(1):H153-62. Epub 2009/05/12.

38. Li L, Renier G. Activation of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (reduced form) oxidase by advanced glycation end products links oxidative stress to altered retinal vascular endothelial growth factor expression. Metabolism: clinical and experimental. 2006;55(11):1516-23. Epub 2006/10/19.

39. Lassegue B, Clempus RE. Vascular NAD(P)H oxidases: specific features, expression, and regulation. American journal of physiology Regulatory, integrative and comparative physiology. 2003;285(2):R277-97. Epub 2003/07/12.

40. Li JM, Mullen AM, Yun S, Wientjes F, Brouns GY, Thrasher AJ, et al. Essential role of the NADPH oxidase subunit p47(phox) in endothelial cell superoxide production in response to phorbol ester and tumor necrosis factor-alpha. Circulation research. 2002;90(2):143-50. Epub 2002/02/09.

41. Frustaci A, Kajstura J, Chimenti C, Jakoniuk I, Leri A, Maseri A, et al. Myocardial cell death in human diabetes. Circulation research. 2000;87(12):1123-32. Epub 2000/01/11.

42. Aragno M, Mastrocola R, Medana C, Catalano MG, Vercellinatto I, Danni O, et al. Oxidative stress-dependent impairment of cardiac-specific transcription factors in experimental diabetes. Endocrinology. 2006;147(12):5967-74. Epub 2006/08/29.

43. An D, Rodrigues B. Role of changes in cardiac metabolism in development of diabetic cardiomyopathy. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2006;291(4):H1489-506. Epub 2006/06/06.

44. Boudina S, Sena S, O'Neill BT, Tathireddy P, Young ME, Abel ED. Reduced mitochondrial oxidative capacity and increased mitochondrial uncoupling impair myocardial energetics in obesity. Circulation. 2005;112(17):2686-95. Epub 2005/10/26.

45. Boudina S, Abel ED. Mitochondrial uncoupling: a key contributor to reduced cardiac efficiency in diabetes. Physiology (Bethesda). 2006;21:250-8. Epub 2006/07/27.

46. Nishio Y, Kanazawa A, Nagai Y, Inagaki H, Kashiwagi A. Regulation and role of the mitochondrial transcription factor in the diabetic rat heart. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2004;1011:78-85. Epub 2004/05/06.

47. Endoh M. Signal transduction and Ca2+ signaling in intact myocardium. Journal of pharmacological sciences. 2006;100(5):525-37. Epub 2006/06/27.

48. Proceedings of the 7th International Conference on Pig Reproduction, Kerkrade, The Netherlands, June 2005. Society of Reproduction and Fertility supplement. 2006;62:1-339. Epub 2007/02/22.

49. Lopaschuk GD, Tahiliani AG, Vadlamudi RV, Katz S, McNeill JH. Cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum function in insulin- or carnitine-treated diabetic rats. The American journal of physiology. 1983;245(6):H969-76. Epub 1983/12/01.

50. Pierce GN, Dhalla NS. Cardiac myofibrillar ATPase activity in diabetic rats. Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology. 1981;13(12):1063-9. Epub 1981/12/01.

51. Choi KM, Zhong Y, Hoit BD, Grupp IL, Hahn H, Dilly KW, et al. Defective intracellular Ca(2+) signaling contributes to cardiomyopathy in Type 1 diabetic rats. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2002;283(4):H1398-408. Epub 2002/09/18.

52. Jweied EE, McKinney RD, Walker LA, Brodsky I, Geha AS, Massad MG, et al. Depressed cardiac myofilament function in human diabetes mellitus. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2005;289(6):H2478-83. Epub 2005/08/09.

53. Christlieb AR, Long R, Underwood RH. Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, electrolyte homeostasis and blood pressure in alloxan diabetes. The American journal of the medical sciences. 1979;277(3):295-303. Epub 1979/05/01.

54. Lim HS, MacFadyen RJ, Lip GY. Diabetes mellitus, the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, and the heart. Archives of internal medicine. 2004;164(16):1737-48. Epub 2004/09/15.

55. Khatter JC, Sadri P, Zhang M, Hoeschen RJ. Myocardial angiotensin II (Ang II) receptors in diabetic rats. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 1996;793:466-72. Epub 1996/09/30.

56. Liu X, Suzuki H, Sethi R, Tappia PS, Takeda N, Dhalla NS. Blockade of the reninangiotensin system attenuates sarcolemma and sarcoplasmic reticulum remodeling in chronic diabetes. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. 2006;1084:141-54. Epub 2006/12/08.

57. Bader M. Tissue renin-angiotensin-aldosterone systems: Targets for pharmacological therapy. Annual review of pharmacology and toxicology. 2010;50:439-65. Epub 2010/01/09.

58. Baker KM, Chernin MI, Schreiber T, Sanghi S, Haiderzaidi S, Booz GW, et al. Evidence of a novel intracrine mechanism in angiotensin II-induced cardiac hypertrophy. Regulatory peptides. 2004;120(1-3):5-13. Epub 2004/06/05.

59. Connelly KA, Boyle AJ, Kelly DJ. Angiotensin II and the cardiac complications of diabetes mellitus. Current pharmaceutical design. 2007;13(26):2721-9. Epub 2007/09/28.

60. Singh VP, Le B, Khode R, Baker KM, Kumar R. Intracellular angiotensin II production in diabetic rats is correlated with cardiomyocyte apoptosis, oxidative stress, and cardiac fibrosis. Diabetes. 2008;57(12):3297-306. Epub 2008/10/03.

61. Lazzara R. Twisting of the points. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 1997;29(4):843-5. Epub 1997/03/15.

62. Casis O, Echevarria E. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: electromechanical cellular alterations. Current vascular pharmacology. 2004;2(3):237-48. Epub 2004/08/24.

63. Gallego M, Alday A, Urrutia J, Casis O. Transient outward potassium channel regulation in healthy and diabetic hearts. Canadian journal of physiology and pharmacology. 2009;87(2):77-83. Epub 2009/02/24.

64. Valensi P, Huard JP, Giroux C, Attali JR. Factors involved in cardiac autonomic neuropathy in diabetic patients. Journal of diabetes and its complications. 1997;11(3):180-7. Epub 1997/05/01.

65. Skrapari I, Tentolouris N, Katsilambros N. Baroreflex function: determinants in healthy subjects and disturbances in diabetes, obesity and metabolic syndrome. Current diabetes reviews. 2006;2(3):329-38. Epub 2008/01/29.

66. Gerritsen J, Dekker JM, TenVoorde BJ, Kostense PJ, Heine RJ, Bouter LM, et al. Impaired autonomic function is associated with increased mortality, especially in subjects with diabetes, hypertension, or a history of cardiovascular disease: the Hoorn Study. Diabetes care. 2001;24(10):1793-8. Epub 2001/09/28.

67. Schmid H, Forman LA, Cao X, Sherman PS, Stevens MJ. Heterogeneous cardiac sympathetic denervation and decreased myocardial nerve growth factor in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats: implications for cardiac sympathetic dysinnervation complicating diabetes. Diabetes. 1999;48(3):603-8. Epub 1999/03/17.

68. Olgin JE, Sih HJ, Hanish S, Jayachandran JV, Wu J, Zheng QH, et al. Heterogeneous atrial denervation creates substrate for sustained atrial fibrillation. Circulation. 1998;98(23):2608-14. Epub 1998/12/08.

69. Krahn AD, Manfreda J, Tate RB, Mathewson FA, Cuddy TE. The natural history of atrial fibrillation: incidence, risk factors, and prognosis in the Manitoba Follow-Up Study. The American journal of medicine. 1995;98(5):476-84. Epub 1995/05/01.

70. Schnabel RB, Sullivan LM, Levy D, Pencina MJ, Massaro JM, D'Agostino RB, Sr., et al. Development of a risk score for atrial fibrillation (Framingham Heart Study): a community-based cohort study. Lancet. 2009;373(9665):739-45. Epub 2009/03/03.

71. Siscovick DS, Sotoodehnia N, Rea TD, Raghunathan TE, Jouven X, Lemaitre RN. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and the risk of sudden cardiac arrest in the community. Reviews in endocrine & metabolic disorders. 2010;11(1):53-9. Epub 2010/03/03.

72. Jouven X, Desnos M, Guerot C, Ducimetiere P. Predicting sudden death in the population: the Paris Prospective Study I. Circulation. 1999;99(15):1978-83. Epub 1999/04/20.

73. Robillon JF, Sadoul JL, Benmerabet S, Joly-Lemoine L, Fredenrich A, Canivet B. Assessment of cardiac arrhythmic risk in diabetic patients using QT dispersion abnormalities. Diabetes & metabolism. 1999;25(5):419-23. Epub 1999/12/11.

74. Laitinen T, Lyyra-Laitinen T, Huopio H, Vauhkonen I, Halonen T, Hartikainen J, et al. Electrocardiographic alterations during hyperinsulinemic hypoglycemia in healthy subjects. Annals of noninvasive electrocardiology : the official journal of the International Society for Holter and Noninvasive Electrocardiology, Inc. 2008;13(2):97-105. Epub 2008/04/23.

75. Giunti S, Bruno G, Lillaz E, Gruden G, Lolli V, Chaturvedi N, et al. Incidence and risk factors of prolonged QTc interval in type 1 diabetes: the EURODIAB Prospective Complications Study. Diabetes care. 2007;30(8):2057-63. Epub 2007/05/09.

76. Lehtinen AB, Daniel KR, Shah SA, Nelson MR, Ziegler JT, Freedman BI, et al. Relationship between genetic variants in myocardial sodium and potassium channel genes and QT interval duration in diabetics: the Diabetes Heart Study. Annals of noninvasive electrocardiology : the official journal of the International Society for Holter and Noninvasive Electrocardiology, Inc. 2009;14(1):72-9. Epub 2009/01/20.

77. Raman M, Nesto RW. Heart disease in diabetes mellitus. Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America. 1996;25(2):425-38. Epub 1996/06/01.

78. Bacci S, Villella M, Villella A, Langialonga T, Grilli M, Rauseo A, et al. Screening for silent myocardial ischaemia in type 2 diabetic patients with additional atherogenic risk factors: applicability and accuracy of the exercise stress test. European journal of endocrinology / European Federation of Endocrine Societies. 2002;147(5):649-54. Epub 2002/11/26.

79. Grant AO. Cardiac ion channels. Circulation Arrhythmia and electrophysiology. 2009;2(2):185-94. Epub 2009/10/08.

80. Lopatin AN, Makhina EN, Nichols CG. Potassium channel block by cytoplasmic polyamines as the mechanism of intrinsic rectification. Nature. 1994;372(6504):366-9. Epub 1994/11/24.

81. Noda M, Shimizu S, Tanabe T, Takai T, Kayano T, Ikeda T, et al. Primary structure of Electrophorus electricus sodium channel deduced from cDNA sequence. Nature. 1984;312(5990):121-7. Epub 1984/11/08.

82. Clancy CE, Kass RS. Inherited and acquired vulnerability to ventricular arrhythmias: cardiac Na+ and K+ channels. Physiological reviews. 2005;85(1):33-47. Epub 2004/12/25.

83. Splawski I, Timothy KW, Decher N, Kumar P, Sachse FB, Beggs AH, et al. Severe arrhythmia disorder caused by cardiac L-type calcium channel mutations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2005;102(23):8089-96; discussion 6-8. Epub 2005/05/03.

84. Nerbonne JM, Kass RS. Molecular physiology of cardiac repolarization. Physiological reviews. 2005;85(4):1205-53. Epub 2005/09/27.

85. Barry DM, Nerbonne JM. Myocardial potassium channels: electrophysiological and molecular diversity. Annual review of physiology. 1996;58:363-94. Epub 1996/01/01.

86. Patel SP, Campbell DL. Transient outward potassium current, 'Ito', phenotypes in the mammalian left ventricle: underlying molecular, cellular and biophysical mechanisms. The Journal of physiology. 2005;569(Pt 1):7-39. Epub 2005/04/16.

87. Nabauer M, Kaab S. Potassium channel down-regulation in heart failure. Cardiovascular research. 1998;37(2):324-34. Epub 1998/06/06.

88. Guo W, Li H, London B, Nerbonne JM. Functional consequences of elimination of i(to,f) and i(to,s): early afterdepolarizations, atrioventricular block, and ventricular arrhythmias in mice lacking Kv1.4 and expressing a dominant-negative Kv4 alpha subunit. Circulation research. 2000;87(1):73-9. Epub 2000/07/08.

89. Magyar J, Rusznak Z, Szentesi P, Szucs G, Kovacs L. Action potentials and potassium currents in rat ventricular muscle during experimental diabetes. Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology. 1992;24(8):841-53. Epub 1992/08/01.

90. Shimoni Y, Ewart HS, Severson D. Type I and II models of diabetes produce different modifications of K+ currents in rat heart: role of insulin. The Journal of physiology. 1998;507 (Pt 2):485-96. Epub 1998/03/31.

91. Snyders DJ. Structure and function of cardiac potassium channels. Cardiovascular research. 1999;42(2):377-90. Epub 1999/10/26.

92. Niwa N, Nerbonne JM. Molecular determinants of cardiac transient outward potassium current (I(to)) expression and regulation. Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology. 2010;48(1):12-25. Epub 2009/07/22.

93. Dixon JE, Shi W, Wang HS, McDonald C, Yu H, Wymore RS, et al. Role of the Kv4.3 K+ channel in ventricular muscle. A molecular correlate for the transient outward current. Circulation research. 1996;79(4):659-68. Epub 1996/10/01.

94. Dixon JE, McKinnon D. Quantitative analysis of potassium channel mRNA expression in atrial and ventricular muscle of rats. Circulation research. 1994;75(2):252-60. Epub 1994/08/01.

95. Marionneau C, Couette B, Liu J, Li H, Mangoni ME, Nargeot J, et al. Specific pattern of ionic channel gene expression associated with pacemaker activity in the mouse heart. The Journal of physiology. 2005;562(Pt 1):223-34. Epub 2004/10/23.

96. Nagaya N, Papazian DM. Potassium channel alpha and beta subunits assemble in the endoplasmic reticulum. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1997;272(5):3022-7. Epub 1997/01/31.

97. Wible BA, Yang Q, Kuryshev YA, Accili EA, Brown AM. Cloning and expression of a novel K+ channel regulatory protein, KChAP. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1998;273(19):11745-51. Epub 1998/06/13.

98. Nakamura TY, Pountney DJ, Ozaita A, Nandi S, Ueda S, Rudy B, et al. A role for frequenin, a Ca2+-binding protein, as a regulator of Kv4 K+-currents. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2001;98(22):12808-13. Epub 2001/10/19.

99. Kuo HC, Cheng CF, Clark RB, Lin JJ, Lin JL, Hoshijima M, et al. A defect in the Kv channel-interacting protein 2 (KChIP2) gene leads to a complete loss of I(to) and confers susceptibility to ventricular tachycardia. Cell. 2001;107(6):801-13. Epub 2001/12/19.

100. Shimoni Y, Ewart HS, Severson D. Insulin stimulation of rat ventricular K+ currents depends on the integrity of the cytoskeleton. The Journal of physiology. 1999;514 (Pt 3):735-45. Epub 1999/01/12.

101. Braun AP, Fedida D, Clark RB, Giles WR. Intracellular mechanisms for alpha 1adrenergic regulation of the transient outward current in rabbit atrial myocytes. The Journal of physiology. 1990;431:689-712. Epub 1990/12/01.

102. Fedida D, Shimoni Y, Giles WR. A novel effect of norepinephrine on cardiac cells is mediated by alpha 1-adrenoceptors. The American journal of physiology. 1989;256(5 Pt 2):H1500-4. Epub 1989/05/01.

103. Guo W, Kamiya K, Hojo M, Kodama I, Toyama J. Regulation of Kv4.2 and Kv1.4 K+ channel expression by myocardial hypertrophic factors in cultured newborn rat ventricular cells. Journal of molecular and cellular cardiology. 1998;30(7):1449-55. Epub 1998/08/26.

104. Damron DS, Van Wagoner DR, Moravec CS, Bond M. Arachidonic acid and endothelin potentiate Ca2+ transients in rat cardiac myocytes via inhibition of distinct K+ channels. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1993;268(36):27335-44. Epub 1993/12/25.

105. Yu H, Gao J, Wang H, Wymore R, Steinberg S, McKinnon D, et al. Effects of the reninangiotensin system on the current I(to) in epicardial and endocardial ventricular myocytes from the canine heart. Circulation research. 2000;86(10):1062-8. Epub 2000/05/29.

106. Bogdanov KY, Spurgeon HA, Vinogradova TM, Lakatta EG. Modulation of the transient outward current in adult rat ventricular myocytes by polyunsaturated fatty acids. The American journal of physiology. 1998;274(2 Pt 2):H571-9. Epub 1998/03/05.

107. Nishiyama A, Ishii DN, Backx PH, Pulford BE, Birks BR, Tamkun MM. Altered K(+) channel gene expression in diabetic rat ventricle: isoform switching between Kv4.2 and Kv1.4. American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2001;281(4):H1800-7. Epub 2001/09/15.

108. Qin D, Huang B, Deng L, El-Adawi H, Ganguly K, Sowers JR, et al. Downregulation of K(+) channel genes expression in type I diabetic cardiomyopathy. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 2001;283(3):549-53. Epub 2001/05/09.

109. Raimondi L, De Paoli P, Mannucci E, Lonardo G, Sartiani L, Banchelli G, et al. Restoration of cardiomyocyte functional properties by angiotensin II receptor blockade in diabetic rats. Diabetes. 2004;53(7):1927-33. Epub 2004/06/29.

110. Xu Z, Patel KP, Rozanski GJ. Metabolic basis of decreased transient outward K+ current in ventricular myocytes from diabetic rats. The American journal of physiology. 1996;271(5 Pt 2):H2190-6. Epub 1996/11/01.

111. Zhang TT, Takimoto K, Stewart AF, Zhu C, Levitan ES. Independent regulation of cardiac Kv4.3 potassium channel expression by angiotensin II and phenylephrine. Circulation research. 2001;88(5):476-82. Epub 2001/03/16.

112. Kelly DP. PPARs of the heart: three is a crowd. Circulation research. 2003;92(5):482-4. Epub 2003/03/22.

113. Berger J, Moller DE. The mechanisms of action of PPARs. Annual review of medicine. 2002;53:409-35. Epub 2002/01/31.

114. Laudet V, Hanni C, Coll J, Catzeflis F, Stehelin D. Evolution of the nuclear receptor gene superfamily. The EMBO journal. 1992;11(3):1003-13. Epub 1992/03/01.

115. Nolte RT, Wisely GB, Westin S, Cobb JE, Lambert MH, Kurokawa R, et al. Ligand binding and co-activator assembly of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma. Nature. 1998;395(6698):137-43. Epub 1998/09/23.

116. Miyata KS, McCaw SE, Marcus SL, Rachubinski RA, Capone JP. The peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor interacts with the retinoid X receptor in vivo. Gene. 1994;148(2):327-30. Epub 1994/10/21.

117. Wahli W, Braissant O, Desvergne B. Peroxisome proliferator activated receptors: transcriptional regulators of adipogenesis, lipid metabolism and more. Chemistry & biology. 1995;2(5):261-6. Epub 1995/05/01.

118. Xu L, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG. Coactivator and corepressor complexes in nuclear receptor function. Current opinion in genetics & development. 1999;9(2):140-7. Epub 1999/05/14.

119. Zhu Y, Qi C, Calandra C, Rao MS, Reddy JK. Cloning and identification of mouse steroid receptor coactivator-1 (mSRC-1), as a coactivator of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma. Gene expression. 1996;6(3):185-95. Epub 1996/01/01.

120. Zhu Y, Qi C, Jain S, Rao MS, Reddy JK. Isolation and characterization of PBP, a protein that interacts with peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1997;272(41):25500-6. Epub 1997/11/05.

121. Braissant O, Foufelle F, Scotto C, Dauca M, Wahli W. Differential expression of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs): tissue distribution of PPAR-alpha, -beta, and -gamma in the adult rat. Endocrinology. 1996;137(1):354-66. Epub 1996/01/01.

122. Auboeuf D, Rieusset J, Fajas L, Vallier P, Frering V, Riou JP, et al. Tissue distribution and quantification of the expression of mRNAs of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors and liver X receptor-alpha in humans: no alteration in adipose tissue of obese and NIDDM patients. Diabetes. 1997;46(8):1319-27. Epub 1997/08/01.

123. Inoue I, Shino K, Noji S, Awata T, Katayama S. Expression of peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor alpha (PPAR alpha) in primary cultures of human vascular endothelial cells. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 1998;246(2):370-4. Epub 1998/06/04. 124. Staels B, Koenig W, Habib A, Merval R, Lebret M, Torra IP, et al. Activation of human aortic smooth-muscle cells is inhibited by PPARalpha but not by PPARgamma activators. Nature. 1998;393(6687):790-3. Epub 1998/07/09.

125. Issemann I, Green S. Activation of a member of the steroid hormone receptor superfamily by peroxisome proliferators. Nature. 1990;347(6294):645-50. Epub 1990/10/18.

126. Martin G, Schoonjans K, Lefebvre AM, Staels B, Auwerx J. Coordinate regulation of the expression of the fatty acid transport protein and acyl-CoA synthetase genes by PPARalpha and PPARgamma activators. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1997;272(45):28210-7. Epub 1997/11/14.

127. Schoonjans K, Watanabe M, Suzuki H, Mahfoudi A, Krey G, Wahli W, et al. Induction of the acyl-coenzyme A synthetase gene by fibrates and fatty acids is mediated by a peroxisome proliferator response element in the C promoter. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1995;270(33):19269-76. Epub 1995/08/18.

128. Dreyer C, Krey G, Keller H, Givel F, Helftenbein G, Wahli W. Control of the peroxisomal beta-oxidation pathway by a novel family of nuclear hormone receptors. Cell. 1992;68(5):879-87. Epub 1992/03/06.

129. Zhang B, Marcus SL, Miyata KS, Subramani S, Capone JP, Rachubinski RA. Characterization of protein-DNA interactions within the peroxisome proliferator-responsive element of the rat hydratase-dehydrogenase gene. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1993;268(17):12939-45. Epub 1993/06/15.

130. Brady PS, Marine KA, Brady LJ, Ramsay RR. Co-ordinate induction of hepatic mitochondrial and peroxisomal carnitine acyltransferase synthesis by diet and drugs. The Biochemical journal. 1989;260(1):93-100. Epub 1989/05/15.

131. Barger PM, Kelly DP. PPAR signaling in the control of cardiac energy metabolism. Trends in cardiovascular medicine. 2000;10(6):238-45. Epub 2001/04/03.

132. Barger PM, Brandt JM, Leone TC, Weinheimer CJ, Kelly DP. Deactivation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-alpha during cardiac hypertrophic growth. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2000;105(12):1723-30. Epub 2000/06/23.

133. Finck BN, Lehman JJ, Leone TC, Welch MJ, Bennett MJ, Kovacs A, et al. The cardiac phenotype induced by PPARalpha overexpression mimics that caused by diabetes mellitus. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2002;109(1):121-30. Epub 2002/01/10.

134. Kliewer SA, Forman BM, Blumberg B, Ong ES, Borgmeyer U, Mangelsdorf DJ, et al. Differential expression and activation of a family of murine peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1994;91(15):7355-9. Epub 1994/07/19.

135. Cheng L, Ding G, Qin Q, Huang Y, Lewis W, He N, et al. Cardiomyocyte-restricted peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-delta deletion perturbs myocardial fatty acid oxidation and leads to cardiomyopathy. Nature medicine. 2004;10(11):1245-50. Epub 2004/10/12.

136. Cheng L, Ding G, Qin Q, Xiao Y, Woods D, Chen YE, et al. Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor delta activates fatty acid oxidation in cultured neonatal and adult cardiomyocytes. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 2004;313(2):277-86. Epub 2003/12/20.

137. Jucker BM, Doe CP, Schnackenberg CG, Olzinski AR, Maniscalco K, Williams C, et al. PPARdelta activation normalizes cardiac substrate metabolism and reduces right ventricular hypertrophy in congestive heart failure. Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology. 2007;50(1):25-34. Epub 2007/08/02.

138. Desvergne B, Wahli W. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: nuclear control of metabolism. Endocrine reviews. 1999;20(5):649-88. Epub 1999/10/26.

139. Barak Y, Nelson MC, Ong ES, Jones YZ, Ruiz-Lozano P, Chien KR, et al. PPAR gamma is required for placental, cardiac, and adipose tissue development. Molecular cell. 1999;4(4):585-95. Epub 1999/11/05.

140. Scheja L, Makowski L, Uysal KT, Wiesbrock SM, Shimshek DR, Meyers DS, et al. Altered insulin secretion associated with reduced lipolytic efficiency in aP2-/- mice. Diabetes. 1999;48(10):1987-94. Epub 1999/10/08.

141. Tontonoz P, Hu E, Graves RA, Budavari AI, Spiegelman BM. mPPAR gamma 2: tissuespecific regulator of an adipocyte enhancer. Genes & development. 1994;8(10):1224-34. Epub 1994/05/15.

142. Tontonoz P, Hu E, Devine J, Beale EG, Spiegelman BM. PPAR gamma 2 regulates adipose expression of the phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase gene. Molecular and cellular biology. 1995;15(1):351-7. Epub 1995/01/01.

143. Smith U, Gogg S, Johansson A, Olausson T, Rotter V, Svalstedt B. Thiazolidinediones (PPARgamma agonists) but not PPARalpha agonists increase IRS-2 gene expression in 3T3-L1 and human adipocytes. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2001;15(1):215-20. Epub 2001/01/10.

144. Hotamisligil GS, Shargill NS, Spiegelman BM. Adipose expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha: direct role in obesity-linked insulin resistance. Science. 1993;259(5091):87-91. Epub 1993/01/01.

145. Tomaru T, Steger DJ, Lefterova MI, Schupp M, Lazar MA. Adipocyte-specific expression of murine resistin is mediated by synergism between peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma and CCAAT/enhancer-binding proteins. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2009;284(10):6116-25. Epub 2009/01/08.

146. Evans RM, Barish GD, Wang YX. PPARs and the complex journey to obesity. Nature medicine. 2004;10(4):355-61. Epub 2004/04/02.

147. Ferre P. The biology of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors: relationship with lipid metabolism and insulin sensitivity. Diabetes. 2004;53 Suppl 1:S43-50. Epub 2004/01/30.

148. Kung J, Henry RR. Thiazolidinedione safety. Expert opinion on drug safety. 2012;11(4):565-79. Epub 2012/05/24.

149. Zhu P, Lu L, Xu Y, Schwartz GG. Troglitazone improves recovery of left ventricular function after regional ischemia in pigs. Circulation. 2000;101(10):1165-71. Epub 2000/03/15.

150. Yue Tl TL, Chen J, Bao W, Narayanan PK, Bril A, Jiang W, et al. In vivo myocardial protection from ischemia/reperfusion injury by the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma agonist rosiglitazone. Circulation. 2001;104(21):2588-94. Epub 2001/11/21.

151. Yamamoto K, Ohki R, Lee RT, Ikeda U, Shimada K. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma activators inhibit cardiac hypertrophy in cardiac myocytes. Circulation. 2001;104(14):1670-5. Epub 2001/10/03.

152. Amin RH, Mathews ST, Camp HS, Ding L, Leff T. Selective activation of PPARgamma in skeletal muscle induces endogenous production of adiponectin and protects mice from diet-induced insulin resistance. American journal of physiology Endocrinology and metabolism. 2010;298(1):E28-37. Epub 2009/10/22.

153. Zhang F, Lavan BE, Gregoire FM. Selective Modulators of PPAR-gamma Activity: Molecular Aspects Related to Obesity and Side-Effects. PPAR research. 2007;2007:32696. Epub 2007/03/29.

154. Willson TM, Brown PJ, Sternbach DD, Henke BR. The PPARs: from orphan receptors to drug discovery. Journal of medicinal chemistry. 2000;43(4):527-50. Epub 2000/02/26.

155. Kereiakes DJ. Myocardial infarction in the diabetic patient. Clinical cardiology. 1985;8(8):446-50. Epub 1985/08/01.

156. Ito H, Nakano A, Kinoshita M, Matsumori A. Pioglitazone, a peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor-gamma agonist, attenuates myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury in a rat model. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology. 2003;83(12):1715-21. Epub 2003/12/24.

157. Sidell RJ, Cole MA, Draper NJ, Desrois M, Buckingham RE, Clarke K. Thiazolidinedione treatment normalizes insulin resistance and ischemic injury in the zucker Fatty rat heart. Diabetes. 2002;51(4):1110-7. Epub 2002/03/28.

158. Klocke R, Tian W, Kuhlmann MT, Nikol S. Surgical animal models of heart failure related to coronary heart disease. Cardiovascular research. 2007;74(1):29-38. Epub 2006/12/26.

159. Zhou J, Zhang W, Liang B, Casimiro MC, Whitaker-Menezes D, Wang M, et al. PPARgamma activation induces autophagy in breast cancer cells. The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology. 2009;41(11):2334-42. Epub 2009/07/01.

160. Pino E, Wang H, McDonald ME, Qiang L, Farmer SR. Roles for peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma (PPARgamma) and PPARgamma coactivators 1alpha and 1beta in regulating response of white and brown adipocytes to hypoxia. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2012;287(22):18351-8. Epub 2012/04/12.

161. Hockel M, Vaupel P. Tumor hypoxia: definitions and current clinical, biologic, and molecular aspects. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2001;93(4):266-76. Epub 2001/02/22.

162. Semenza GL, Wang GL. A nuclear factor induced by hypoxia via de novo protein synthesis binds to the human erythropoietin gene enhancer at a site required for transcriptional activation. Molecular and cellular biology. 1992;12(12):5447-54. Epub 1992/12/01.

163. Semenza GL. Intratumoral hypoxia, radiation resistance, and HIF-1. Cancer cell. 2004;5(5):405-6. Epub 2004/05/18.

164. Wang GL, Jiang BH, Rue EA, Semenza GL. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 is a basic-helixloop-helix-PAS heterodimer regulated by cellular O2 tension. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1995;92(12):5510-4. Epub 1995/06/06.

165. Wenger RH, Gassmann M. Oxygen(es) and the hypoxia-inducible factor-1. Biological chemistry. 1997;378(7):609-16. Epub 1997/07/01.

166. Jaakkola P, Mole DR, Tian YM, Wilson MI, Gielbert J, Gaskell SJ, et al. Targeting of HIF-alpha to the von Hippel-Lindau ubiquitylation complex by O2-regulated prolyl hydroxylation. Science. 2001;292(5516):468-72. Epub 2001/04/09.

167. Hagen T, Taylor CT, Lam F, Moncada S. Redistribution of intracellular oxygen in hypoxia by nitric oxide: effect on HIF1alpha. Science. 2003;302(5652):1975-8. Epub 2003/12/13.

168. Weidemann A, Johnson RS. Biology of HIF-1alpha. Cell death and differentiation. 2008;15(4):621-7. Epub 2008/02/09.

169. Masson N, Willam C, Maxwell PH, Pugh CW, Ratcliffe PJ. Independent function of two destruction domains in hypoxia-inducible factor-alpha chains activated by prolyl hydroxylation. The EMBO journal. 2001;20(18):5197-206. Epub 2001/09/22.

170. Jiang BH, Zheng JZ, Leung SW, Roe R, Semenza GL. Transactivation and inhibitory domains of hypoxia-inducible factor 1alpha. Modulation of transcriptional activity by oxygen tension. The Journal of biological chemistry. 1997;272(31):19253-60. Epub 1997/08/01.

171. Hewitson KS, McNeill LA, Riordan MV, Tian YM, Bullock AN, Welford RW, et al. Hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) asparagine hydroxylase is identical to factor inhibiting HIF (FIH) and is related to the cupin structural family. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2002;277(29):26351-5. Epub 2002/06/04.

172. Kung AL, Wang S, Klco JM, Kaelin WG, Livingston DM. Suppression of tumor growth through disruption of hypoxia-inducible transcription. Nature medicine. 2000;6(12):1335-40. Epub 2000/12/02.

173. Ema M, Hirota K, Mimura J, Abe H, Yodoi J, Sogawa K, et al. Molecular mechanisms of transcription activation by HLF and HIF1alpha in response to hypoxia: their stabilization and redox signal-induced interaction with CBP/p300. The EMBO journal. 1999;18(7):1905-14. Epub 1999/04/15.

174. Maxwell PH. Hypoxia-inducible factor as a physiological regulator. Experimental physiology. 2005;90(6):791-7. Epub 2005/09/15.

175. Treins C, Giorgetti-Peraldi S, Murdaca J, Semenza GL, Van Obberghen E. Insulin stimulates hypoxia-inducible factor 1 through a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/target of rapamycin-dependent signaling pathway. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2002;277(31):27975-81. Epub 2002/05/29.

176. Vordermark D, Kraft P, Katzer A, Bolling T, Willner J, Flentje M. Glucose requirement for hypoxic accumulation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha (HIF-1alpha). Cancer letters. 2005;230(1):122-33. Epub 2005/10/29.

177. Staab A, Loffler J, Said HM, Katzer A, Beyer M, Polat B, et al. Modulation of glucose metabolism inhibits hypoxic accumulation of hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha (HIF-1alpha). Strahlentherapie und Onkologie : Organ der Deutschen Rontgengesellschaft [et al]. 2007;183(7):366-73. Epub 2007/07/05.

178. Xiao H, Gu Z, Wang G, Zhao T. The possible mechanisms underlying the impairment of HIF-1alpha pathway signaling in hyperglycemia and the beneficial effects of certain therapies. International journal of medical sciences. 2013;10(10):1412-21. Epub 2013/08/29.

179. Brownlee M. Biochemistry and molecular cell biology of diabetic complications. Nature. 2001;414(6865):813-20. Epub 2001/12/14.

180. Ceradini DJ, Yao D, Grogan RH, Callaghan MJ, Edelstein D, Brownlee M, et al. Decreasing intracellular superoxide corrects defective ischemia-induced new vessel formation in diabetic mice. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2008;283(16):10930-8. Epub 2008/01/30.

181. Thangarajah H, Yao D, Chang EI, Shi Y, Jazayeri L, Vial IN, et al. The molecular basis for impaired hypoxia-induced VEGF expression in diabetic tissues. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2009;106(32):13505-10. Epub 2009/08/12.

182. Bento CF, Fernandes R, Ramalho J, Marques C, Shang F, Taylor A, et al. The chaperonedependent ubiquitin ligase CHIP targets HIF-1alpha for degradation in the presence of methylglyoxal. PloS one. 2010;5(11):e15062. Epub 2010/12/03.

183. Baynes JW. Role of oxidative stress in development of complications in diabetes. Diabetes. 1991;40(4):405-12. Epub 1991/04/01.

184. Thomas DD, Ridnour LA, Espey MG, Donzelli S, Ambs S, Hussain SP, et al. Superoxide fluxes limit nitric oxide-induced signaling. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2006;281(36):25984-93. Epub 2006/07/11.

185. Kimura H, Weisz A, Kurashima Y, Hashimoto K, Ogura T, D'Acquisto F, et al. Hypoxia response element of the human vascular endothelial growth factor gene mediates transcriptional regulation by nitric oxide: control of hypoxia-inducible factor-1 activity by nitric oxide. Blood. 2000;95(1):189-97. Epub 1999/12/23.

186. Marfella R, D'Amico M, Di Filippo C, Piegari E, Nappo F, Esposito K, et al. Myocardial infarction in diabetic rats: role of hyperglycaemia on infarct size and early expression of hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Diabetologia. 2002;45(8):1172-81. Epub 2002/08/22.

187. Botusan IR, Sunkari VG, Savu O, Catrina AI, Grunler J, Lindberg S, et al. Stabilization of HIF-1alpha is critical to improve wound healing in diabetic mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2008;105(49):19426-31. Epub 2008/12/06.

188. Wenger RH. Cellular adaptation to hypoxia: O2-sensing protein hydroxylases, hypoxiainducible transcription factors, and O2-regulated gene expression. FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology. 2002;16(10):1151-62. Epub 2002/08/03.

189. Kumada M, Kihara S, Sumitsuji S, Kawamoto T, Matsumoto S, Ouchi N, et al. Association of hypoadiponectinemia with coronary artery disease in men. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003;23(1):85-9. Epub 2003/01/14.

190. Ohashi K, Kihara S, Ouchi N, Kumada M, Fujita K, Hiuge A, et al. Adiponectin replenishment ameliorates obesity-related hypertension. Hypertension. 2006;47(6):1108-16. Epub 2006/05/03.

191. Pischon T, Girman CJ, Hotamisligil GS, Rifai N, Hu FB, Rimm EB. Plasma adiponectin levels and risk of myocardial infarction in men. JAMA. 2004;291(14):1730-7. Epub 2004/04/15.

192. Arita Y, Kihara S, Ouchi N, Takahashi M, Maeda K, Miyagawa J, et al. Paradoxical decrease of an adipose-specific protein, adiponectin, in obesity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 1999;257(1):79-83. Epub 1999/03/27.

193. Hotta K, Funahashi T, Arita Y, Takahashi M, Matsuda M, Okamoto Y, et al. Plasma concentrations of a novel, adipose-specific protein, adiponectin, in type 2 diabetic patients. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2000;20(6):1595-9. Epub 2000/06/10.

194. Weyer C, Funahashi T, Tanaka S, Hotta K, Matsuzawa Y, Pratley RE, et al. Hypoadiponectinemia in obesity and type 2 diabetes: close association with insulin resistance and hyperinsulinemia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2001;86(5):1930-5. Epub 2001/05/10.

195. Shimada K, Miyazaki T, Daida H. Adiponectin and atherosclerotic disease. Clin Chim Acta. 2004;344(1-2):1-12. Epub 2004/05/20.

196. Ouchi N, Walsh K. Adiponectin as an anti-inflammatory factor. Clin Chim Acta. 2007;380(1-2):24-30. Epub 2007/03/09.

197. Pajvani UB, Scherer PE. Adiponectin: systemic contributor to insulin sensitivity. Curr Diab Rep. 2003;3(3):207-13. Epub 2003/05/24.

198. Ouchi N, Kihara S, Arita Y, Maeda K, Kuriyama H, Okamoto Y, et al. Novel modulator for endothelial adhesion molecules: adipocyte-derived plasma protein adiponectin. Circulation. 1999;100(25):2473-6. Epub 1999/12/22.

199. Berg AH, Combs TP, Du X, Brownlee M, Scherer PE. The adipocyte-secreted protein Acrp30 enhances hepatic insulin action. Nat Med. 2001;7(8):947-53. Epub 2001/08/02.

200. Kissebah AH, Sonnenberg GE, Myklebust J, Goldstein M, Broman K, James RG, et al. Quantitative trait loci on chromosomes 3 and 17 influence phenotypes of the metabolic syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2000;97(26):14478-83. Epub 2000/12/20.

201. Francke S, Manraj M, Lacquemant C, Lecoeur C, Lepretre F, Passa P, et al. A genomewide scan for coronary heart disease suggests in Indo-Mauritians a susceptibility locus on chromosome 16p13 and replicates linkage with the metabolic syndrome on 3q27. Hum Mol Genet. 2001;10(24):2751-65. Epub 2001/12/06.

202. Hara K, Boutin P, Mori Y, Tobe K, Dina C, Yasuda K, et al. Genetic variation in the gene encoding adiponectin is associated with an increased risk of type 2 diabetes in the Japanese population. Diabetes. 2002;51(2):536-40. Epub 2002/01/29.

203. Kondo H, Shimomura I, Matsukawa Y, Kumada M, Takahashi M, Matsuda M, et al. Association of adiponectin mutation with type 2 diabetes: a candidate gene for the insulin resistance syndrome. Diabetes. 2002;51(7):2325-8. Epub 2002/06/28.

204. Ohashi K, Ouchi N, Kihara S, Funahashi T, Nakamura T, Sumitsuji S, et al. Adiponectin I164T mutation is associated with the metabolic syndrome and coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2004;43(7):1195-200. Epub 2004/04/06.

205. Yu SY, Ryu HK, Park HJ, Choi YJ, Huh KB, Kim WY. Adiponectin gene SNP 276G --> T, nutrient intakes, and cardiovascular disease risk in Korean type 2 DM patients. Nutr Res Pract. 2007;1(4):363-70. Epub 2007/01/01.

206. Bacci S, Menzaghi C, Ercolino T, Ma X, Rauseo A, Salvemini L, et al. The +276 G/T single nucleotide polymorphism of the adiponectin gene is associated with coronary artery disease in type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes Care. 2004;27(8):2015-20. Epub 2004/07/28.

207. Jang Y, Lee JH, Chae JS, Kim OY, Koh SJ, Kim JY, et al. Association of the 276G->T polymorphism of the adiponectin gene with cardiovascular disease risk factors in nondiabetic Koreans. Am J Clin Nutr. 2005;82(4):760-7. Epub 2005/10/08.

208. Pineiro R, Iglesias MJ, Gallego R, Raghay K, Eiras S, Rubio J, et al. Adiponectin is synthesized and secreted by human and murine cardiomyocytes. FEBS Lett. 2005;579(23):5163-9. Epub 2005/09/06.

209. Amin RH, Mathews ST, Alli A, Leff T. Endogenously produced adiponectin protects cardiomyocytes from hypertrophy by a PPARgamma-dependent autocrine mechanism. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2007;299(3):H690-8. Epub 2010/07/14.

210. Skurk C, Wittchen F, Suckau L, Witt H, Noutsias M, Fechner H, et al. Description of a local cardiac adiponectin system and its deregulation in dilated cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J. 2008;29(9):1168-80. Epub 2008/04/09.

211. Tang WH. Glycemic control and treatment patterns in patients with heart failure. Curr Cardiol Rep. 2007;9(3):242-7. Epub 2007/05/02.

212. Snehalatha C, Mukesh B, Simon M, Viswanathan V, Haffner SM, Ramachandran A. Plasma adiponectin is an independent predictor of type 2 diabetes in Asian indians. Diabetes Care. 2003;26(12):3226-9. Epub 2003/11/25.

213. Lindsay RS, Funahashi T, Hanson RL, Matsuzawa Y, Tanaka S, Tataranni PA, et al. Adiponectin and development of type 2 diabetes in the Pima Indian population. Lancet. 2002;360(9326):57-8. Epub 2002/07/13.

214. Spranger J, Kroke A, Mohlig M, Bergmann MM, Ristow M, Boeing H, et al. Adiponectin and protection against type 2 diabetes mellitus. Lancet. 2003;361(9353):226-8. Epub 2003/01/28.

215. Tschritter O, Fritsche A, Thamer C, Haap M, Shirkavand F, Rahe S, et al. Plasma adiponectin concentrations predict insulin sensitivity of both glucose and lipid metabolism. Diabetes. 2003;52(2):239-43. Epub 2003/01/24.

216. Shibata R, Ouchi N, Ito M, Kihara S, Shiojima I, Pimentel DR, et al. Adiponectinmediated modulation of hypertrophic signals in the heart. Nat Med. 2004;10(12):1384-9. Epub 2004/11/24.

217. Dong F, Ren J. Adiponectin improves cardiomyocyte contractile function in db/db diabetic obese mice. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2009;17(2):262-8. Epub 2008/12/06.

218. Severson DL. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: recent evidence from mouse models of type 1 and type 2 diabetes. Can J Physiol Pharmacol. 2004;82(10):813-23. Epub 2004/12/02.

219. Stanley WC, Lopaschuk GD, McCormack JG. Regulation of energy substrate metabolism in the diabetic heart. Cardiovasc Res. 1997;34(1):25-33. Epub 1997/04/01.

220. Fang X, Palanivel R, Cresser J, Schram K, Ganguly R, Thong FS, et al. An APPL1-AMPK signaling axis mediates beneficial metabolic effects of adiponectin in the heart. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.299(5):E721-9. Epub 2010/08/27.

221. Koutnikova H, Campuzano V, Foury F, Dolle P, Cazzalini O, Koenig M. Studies of human, mouse and yeast homologues indicate a mitochondrial function for frataxin. Nature genetics. 1997;16(4):345-51. Epub 1997/08/01.

222. Delatycki MB, Williamson R, Forrest SM. Friedreich ataxia: an overview. Journal of medical genetics. 2000;37(1):1-8. Epub 2000/01/14.

223. Bidichandani SI, Ashizawa T, Patel PI. The GAA triplet-repeat expansion in Friedreich ataxia interferes with transcription and may be associated with an unusual DNA structure. American journal of human genetics. 1998;62(1):111-21. Epub 1998/03/07.

224. Santos R, Lefevre S, Sliwa D, Seguin A, Camadro JM, Lesuisse E. Friedreich ataxia: molecular mechanisms, redox considerations, and therapeutic opportunities. Antioxidants & redox signaling. 2010;13(5):651-90. Epub 2010/02/17.

225. Schmucker S, Argentini M, Carelle-Calmels N, Martelli A, Puccio H. The in vivo mitochondrial two-step maturation of human frataxin. Human molecular genetics. 2008;17(22):3521-31. Epub 2008/08/30.

226. Schoenfeld RA, Napoli E, Wong A, Zhan S, Reutenauer L, Morin D, et al. Frataxin deficiency alters heme pathway transcripts and decreases mitochondrial heme metabolites in mammalian cells. Human molecular genetics. 2005;14(24):3787-99. Epub 2005/10/22.

227. Guccini I, Serio D, Condo I, Rufini A, Tomassini B, Mangiola A, et al. Frataxin participates to the hypoxia-induced response in tumors. Cell death & disease. 2011;2:e123. Epub 2011/03/04.

228. Elming H, Holm E, Jun L, Torp-Pedersen C, Kober L, Kircshoff M, et al. The prognostic value of the QT interval and QT interval dispersion in all-cause and cardiac mortality and morbidity in a population of Danish citizens. Eur Heart J. 1998;19(9):1391-400. Epub 1998/10/29.

229. Mangoni AA, Kinirons MT, Swift CG, Jackson SH. Impact of age on QT interval and QT dispersion in healthy subjects: a regression analysis. Age Ageing. 2003;32(3):326-31. Epub 2003/05/02.

230. An WF, Bowlby MR, Betty M, Cao J, Ling HP, Mendoza G, et al. Modulation of A-type potassium channels by a family of calcium sensors. Nature. 2000;403(6769):553-6. Epub 2000/02/17.

231. Bader M. Tissue renin-angiotensin-aldosterone systems: Targets for pharmacological therapy. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol.50:439-65. Epub 2010/01/09.

232. Shimoni Y, Chuang M, Abel ED, Severson DL. Gender-dependent attenuation of cardiac potassium currents in type 2 diabetic db/db mice. J Physiol. 2004;555(Pt 2):345-54. Epub 2003/12/25.

233. Tsuchida K, Watajima H. Potassium currents in ventricular myocytes from genetically diabetic rats. Am J Physiol. 1997;273(4 Pt 1):E695-700. Epub 1997/11/14.

234. Hamill OP, Marty A, Neher E, Sakmann B, Sigworth FJ. Improved patch-clamp techniques for high-resolution current recording from cells and cell-free membrane patches. Pflugers Arch. 1981;391(2):85-100. Epub 1981/08/01.

235. Kajstura J, Fiordaliso F, Andreoli AM, Li B, Chimenti S, Medow MS, et al. IGF-1 overexpression inhibits the development of diabetic cardiomyopathy and angiotensin II-mediated oxidative stress. Diabetes. 2001;50(6):1414-24. Epub 2001/05/26.

236. Tozakidou M, Goltz D, Hagenstrom T, Budack MK, Vitzthum H, Szlachta K, et al. Molecular and functional remodeling of I(to) by angiotensin II in the mouse left ventricle. J Mol Cell Cardiol.48(1):140-51. Epub 2009/09/12.

237. Zhou C, Ziegler C, Birder LA, Stewart AF, Levitan ES. Angiotensin II and stretch activate NADPH oxidase to destabilize cardiac Kv4.3 channel mRNA. Circulation research. 2006;98(8):1040-7. Epub 2006/03/25.

238. Wenzel S, Taimor G, Piper HM, Schluter KD. Redox-sensitive intermediates mediate angiotensin II-induced p38 MAP kinase activation, AP-1 binding activity, and TGF-beta expression in adult ventricular cardiomyocytes. FASEB J. 2001;15(12):2291-3. Epub 2001/08/21.

239. Hwang J, Kleinhenz DJ, Rupnow HL, Campbell AG, Thule PM, Sutliff RL, et al. The PPARgamma ligand, rosiglitazone, reduces vascular oxidative stress and NADPH oxidase expression in diabetic mice. Vascul Pharmacol. 2007;46(6):456-62. Epub 2007/03/06.

240. Sodhi CP, Kanwar YS, Sahai A. Hypoxia and high glucose upregulate AT1 receptor expression and potentiate ANG II-induced proliferation in VSM cells. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2003;284(3):H846-52. Epub 2002/11/16.

241. Barry DM, Xu H, Schuessler RB, Nerbonne JM. Functional knockout of the transient outward current, long-QT syndrome, and cardiac remodeling in mice expressing a dominant-negative Kv4 alpha subunit. Circulation research. 1998;83(5):560-7. Epub 1998/09/12.

242. Rivard K, Paradis P, Nemer M, Fiset C. Cardiac-specific overexpression of the human type 1 angiotensin II receptor causes delayed repolarization. Cardiovascular research. 2008;78(1):53-62. Epub 2008/02/05.

243. Casis O, Gallego M, Iriarte M, Sanchez-Chapula JA. Effects of diabetic cardiomyopathy on regional electrophysiologic characteristics of rat ventricle. Diabetologia. 2000;43(1):101-9. Epub 2000/02/15.

244. Jourdon P, Feuvray D. Calcium and potassium currents in ventricular myocytes isolated from diabetic rats. J Physiol. 1993;470:411-29. Epub 1993/10/01.

245. Shimoni Y, Hunt D, Chuang M, Chen KY, Kargacin G, Severson DL. Modulation of potassium currents by angiotensin and oxidative stress in cardiac cells from the diabetic rat. J Physiol. 2005;567(Pt 1):177-90. Epub 2005/06/11.

246. Ding Y, Zou R, Judd RL, Zhong J. Effects of gender difference on cardiac myocyte dysfunction in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. Endocrine. 2006;29(1):135-41. Epub 2006/04/20.

247. Hwang J, Kleinhenz DJ, Lassegue B, Griendling KK, Dikalov S, Hart CM. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma ligands regulate endothelial membrane superoxide production. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2005;288(4):C899-905. Epub 2004/12/14.

248. Jindal HK, Folco EJ, Liu GX, Koren G. Posttranslational modification of voltagedependent potassium channel Kv1.5: COOH-terminal palmitoylation modulates its biological properties. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2008;294(5):H2012-21. Epub 2008/03/18.

249. Paradise NF, Pilati CF, Payne WR, Finkelstein JA. Left ventricular function of the isolated, genetically obese rat's heart. Am J Physiol. 1985;248(4 Pt 2):H438-44. Epub 1985/04/01.

250. Golfman LS, Wilson CR, Sharma S, Burgmaier M, Young ME, Guthrie PH, et al. Activation of PPARgamma enhances myocardial glucose oxidation and improves contractile function in isolated working hearts of ZDF rats. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab. 2005;289(2):E328-36. Epub 2005/03/31.

251. Dong F, Ren J. Fidarestat improves cardiomyocyte contractile function in db/db diabetic obese mice through a histone deacetylase Sir2-dependent mechanism. J Hypertens. 2007;25(10):2138-47. Epub 2007/09/22.

252. Woodcock J, Sharfstein JM, Hamburg M. Regulatory action on rosiglitazone by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration. N Engl J Med.363(16):1489-91. Epub 2010/10/15.

253. Macdonald MR, Petrie MC, Home PD, Komajda M, Jones NP, Beck-Nielsen H, et al. Incidence and Prevalence of Unrecognized Myocardial Infarction in People With Diabetes Mellitus: A substudy of the Rosiglitazone Evaluated for Cardiac Outcomes and Regulation of Glycemia in Diabetes (RECORD) study. Diabetes Care. Epub 2011/05/13.

254. Nemoto S, Razeghi P, Ishiyama M, De Freitas G, Taegtmeyer H, Carabello BA. PPARgamma agonist rosiglitazone ameliorates ventricular dysfunction in experimental chronic mitral regurgitation. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2005;288(1):H77-82. Epub 2004/09/04.

255. Asakawa M, Takano H, Nagai T, Uozumi H, Hasegawa H, Kubota N, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma plays a critical role in inhibition of cardiac hypertrophy in vitro and in vivo. Circulation. 2002;105(10):1240-6. Epub 2002/03/13.

256. Horio T, Suzuki M, Suzuki K, Takamisawa I, Hiuge A, Kamide K, et al. Pioglitazone improves left ventricular diastolic function in patients with essential hypertension. Am J Hypertens. 2005;18(7):949-57. Epub 2005/08/02.

257. . !!! INVALID CITATION !!!

258. Amin RH, Mathews ST, Alli A, Leff T. Endogenously produced adiponectin protects cardiomyocytes from hypertrophy by a PPARgamma-dependent autocrine mechanism. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.299(3):H690-8. Epub 2010/07/14.

259. Amin RH, Mathews ST, Camp HS, Ding L, Leff T. Selective activation of PPARgamma in skeletal muscle induces endogenous production of adiponectin and protects mice from diet-induced insulin resistance. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.298(1):E28-37. Epub 2009/10/22.

260. Lago RM, Singh PP, Nesto RW. Congestive heart failure and cardiovascular death in patients with prediabetes and type 2 diabetes given thiazolidinediones: a meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials. Lancet. 2007;370(9593):1129-36.

261. Wang YX, Zhang CL, Yu RT, Cho HK, Nelson MC, Bayuga-Ocampo CR, et al. Regulation of muscle fiber type and running endurance by PPARdelta. PLoS Biol. 2004;2(10):e294. Epub 2004/08/26.

262. Morris GM, Huey R, Lindstrom W, Sanner MF, Belew RK, Goodsell DS, et al. AutoDock4 and AutoDockTools4: Automated docking with selective receptor flexibility. J Comput Chem. 2009;30(16):2785-91. Epub 2009/04/29.

263. Trott O, Olson AJ. AutoDock Vina: improving the speed and accuracy of docking with a new scoring function, efficient optimization, and multithreading. J Comput Chem.31(2):455-61. Epub 2009/06/06.

264. Huang Y, Hickey RP, Yeh JL, Liu D, Dadak A, Young LH, et al. Cardiac myocytespecific HIF-1alpha deletion alters vascularization, energy availability, calcium flux, and contractility in the normoxic heart. FASEB J. 2004;18(10):1138-40. Epub 2004/05/11.

265. Artisa DR, Lina JJ, Zhanga C, Wanga W, Mehraa U, Perreaultb M, et al. Scaffold-based discovery of indeglitazar, a PPAR pan-active anti-diabetic agent. Proc Nat Acad Sci USA. 2009;106:262-7.

266. Connorsa RV, Wangb Z, Harrisonc M, Zhanga A, Wanskaa M, Hiscockd S, et al. Identification of a PPAR δ agonist with partial agonistic activity on PPAR γ . BioorgMedChemLett. 2009;19:3550-4.

267. Morris GM, Huey R, Lindstrom W, Sanner MF, Belew RK, Goodsell DS, et al. AutoDock4 and AutoDockTools4: Automated docking with selective receptor flexibility. J Comput Chem. 2009;30(16):2785-91.

268. Xue W, Cai L, Tan Y, Thistlethwaite P, Kang YJ, Li X, et al. Cardiac-specific overexpression of HIF-1{alpha} prevents deterioration of glycolytic pathway and cardiac remodeling in streptozotocin-induced diabetic mice. Am J Pathol.177(1):97-105. Epub 2010/06/23.

269. Repasky MP, Chandrasekhar J, Jorgensen WL. PDDG/PM3 and PDDG/MNDO: Improved semiempirical methods. J Comput Chem. 2002;23:1601-22.

270. Tubert-Brohman I, Guimarães CRW, Repasky MP, Jorgensen WL. Extensition of the PDDG/PM3 and PDDG/MNDO semiempirical molecular orbitial methods to the halogens. J Comput Chem. 2003;25:138-50.

271. Tubert-Brohman I, Guimarães CRW, Jorgensen WL. Extension of the PDDG/PM3 Semiempirical Molecular Orbital Method to Sulfur, Silicon, and Phosphorus. J Chem Theory Comput. 2005;1:817-23.

272. Jorgensen WL, Tirado-Rives J. Molecular Modeling of Organic and Biomolecular Systems Using BOSS and MCPRO. J Comput Chem. 2005;26:1689-700.

273. Hess B, Kutzner C, Spoel Dvd, Lindahl E. GROMACS 4: Algorithms for Highly Efficient, Load-Balanced, and Scalable Molecular Simulation. J Chem Theory Comput. 2008;4:435–47.

274. Morris GM, Goodsell DS, Halliday RS, Huey R, Hart WE, Belew RK, et al. Automated Docking Using a Lamarckian Genetic Algorithm and Empirical Binding Free Energy Function. J Comput Chem. 1998;19:1639-62.

275. Perryman AL, McCammon JA. AutoDocking dinucleotides to the HIV-1 Integrase core domain: exploring possible binding sites for viral and genomic DNA. J Med Chem. 2002;45:5624-7.

276. Lindorff-Larsen K, Piana S, Palmo K, Maragakis P, Klepeis JL, Dror RO, et al. Improved side-chain torsion potentials for the Amber ff99SB protein force field. Proteins. 2010;78:1950-8.
277. Jain AN. Surflex: fully automatic flexible molecular docking using a molecular similarity-based search engine. J Med Chem. 2003;46:499–511.

278. Ruppert J, Welch W, Jain AN. Automatic identification and representation of protein binding sites for molecular docking. Protein Sci. 1997;6:524–33.

279. Acevedo O, Ambrose Z, Flaherty PT, Aamer H, Jain P, Sambasivarao SV. Identification of HIV Inhibitors Guided by Free Energy Perturbation Calculations. Curr Pharm Des. 2012;18:1199-216.

280. Lewis SN, Bassaganya-Riera J, Bevan DR. Virtual screening as a technique for PPAR modulator discovery. PPAR Res. 2009;2010:861238.

281. Klebe G. Virtual ligand screening: strategies, perspectives and limitations. Drug Discovery Today. 2006;11(13-14):580-94.

282. Nolte RT, Wisely GB, Westin S, Cobb JE, Lambert MH, Kurokawa R, et al. Ligand binding and co-activator assembly of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-. Nature. 1998;395:137-43.

283. Connors RV, Wang Z, Harrison M, Zhang A, Wanska M, Hiscock S, et al. Identification of a PPARdelta agonist with partial agonistic activity on PPARgamma. BioorgMedChemLett. 2009;19:3550-4.

284. Zoete V, Grosdidier A, Michielin O. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor structures: Ligand specificity, molecular switch and interactions with regulators. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2007;1771:915-25.

285. Lewis SN, Bassaganya-Riera J, Bevan DR. Virtual screening as a technique for PPAR modulator discovery. PPAR Res. 2010;2010:861238.

286. Gampe Jr. RT, Montana VG, Lambert MH, Miller AB, Bledsoe RK, Milburn MV, et al. Asymmetry in the PPAR $\gamma/RXR\alpha$ crystal structure reveals the molecular basis of heterodimerization among nuclear receptors. Mol Cell. 2000;5:545–55.

287. Li H, Liu Z, Wang J, Wong GT, Cheung CW, Zhang L, et al. Susceptibility to myocardial ischemia reperfusion injury at early stage of type 1 diabetes in rats. Cardiovascular diabetology. 2013;12:133. Epub 2013/09/18.